Revised: 11 July 2023

#### GUIDELINES



# European Society of Coloproctology: Guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of cryptoglandular anal fistula

Lillian Reza<sup>1</sup> Kevin Gottgens<sup>2</sup> Jos Kleijnen<sup>3</sup> | Stephanie Breukink<sup>4</sup> | Peter C. Ambe<sup>5</sup> | Felix Aigner<sup>6</sup> | Erman Aytac<sup>7</sup> G | Gabriele Bislenghi<sup>8</sup> G | Andreas Nordholm-Carstensen<sup>9</sup> | Hossam Elfeki<sup>10</sup> G | Gaetano Gallo<sup>11</sup> | Ugo Grossi<sup>12</sup> | Baris Gulcu<sup>13</sup> | Nusrat Iqbal<sup>14</sup> G | Rosa Jimenez-Rodriguez<sup>15</sup> G | Sezai Leventoglu<sup>16</sup> | Giorgio Lisi<sup>17</sup> | Francesco Litta<sup>18</sup> | Philip Lung<sup>19</sup> | Monica Millan<sup>20</sup> | Ersin Ozturk<sup>21</sup> | Charlene Sackitey<sup>22</sup> | Mostafa Shalaby<sup>23</sup> G | Jasper Stijns<sup>24</sup> G | Phil Tozer<sup>25</sup> | David Zimmerman<sup>26</sup>

#### Correspondence

Lillian Reza, St Mark's The National Bowel Hospital, Central Middlesex, Acton Lane, London NW10 7NS, UK. Email: I.reza@nhs.net

**Funding information** European Society of Coloproctology

#### Abstract

**Aim:** The primary aim of the European Society of Coloproctology (ESCP) Guideline Development Group (GDG) was to produce high-quality, evidence-based guidelines for the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula with input from a multidisciplinary group and using transparent, reproducible methodology.

**Methods:** Previously published methodology in guideline development by the ESCP has been replicated in this project. The guideline development process followed the requirements of the AGREE-S tool kit. Six phases can be identified in the methodology. Phase one sets the scope of the guideline, which addresses the diagnostic and therapeutic management of perianal abscess and cryptoglandular anal fistula in adult patients presenting to secondary care. The target population for this guideline are healthcare practitioners in secondary care and patients interested in understanding the clinical evidence available for various surgical interventions for anal fistula. Phase two involved formulation of the GDG. The GDG consisted of 21 coloproctologists, three research fellows, a radiologist and a methodologist. Stakeholders were chosen for their clinical and academic involvement in the management of anal fistula as well as being representative of the geographical variation among the ESCP membership. Five patients were recruited from patient groups to review the draft guideline. These patients attended two virtual meetings to discuss the evidence and suggest amendments. In phase three, patient/population, intervention, comparison and outcomes questions were formulated by the GDG. The GDG ratified 250 questions and chose 45 for inclusion in the guideline. In phase four, critical and important outcomes were confirmed for inclusion. Important outcomes were pain and wound healing. Critical outcomes were fistula healing, fistula recurrence

For Affiliation refer page on 186 Dr Zimmerman and Dr Tozer are joint last authors.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2023 The Authors. *Colorectal Disease* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland. and incontinence. These outcomes formed part of the inclusion criteria for the literature search. In phase five, a literature search was performed of MEDLINE (Ovid), PubMed, Embase (Ovid) and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews by eight teams of the GDG. Data were extracted and submitted for review by the GDG in a draft guideline. The most recent systematic reviews were prioritized for inclusion. Studies published since the most recent systematic review were included in our analysis by conducting a new meta-analysis using Review manager. In phase six, recommendations were formulated, using grading of recommendations, assessment, development, and evaluations, in three virtual meetings of the GDG.

**Results:** In seven sections covering the diagnostic and therapeutic management of perianal abscess and cryptoglandular anal fistula, there are 42 recommendations.

**Conclusion:** This is an up-to-date international guideline on the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula using methodology prescribed by the AGREE enterprise.

#### KEYWORDS

anal, cryptoglandular, fistula, guidelines

#### **Table of contents**

146

GSCF

1.	SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS	149
1.1.	Diagnosis, classification and preoperative investigations	149
1.2.	Perioperative care	150
1.3.	Partial sphincter-preserving procedures	150
1.4.	Sphincter-preserving procedures	150
1.5.	Special considerations	150
2.	INTRODUCTION	150
2.1.	What does this paper add to the literature?	151
3.	METHODOLOGY	151
3.1.	Wording of recommendations	151
4.	DIAGNOSIS, CLASSIFICATION AND PREOPERATIVE INVESTIGATIONS	152
4.1.	Definition and pathophysiology: Perianal abscess	152
4.2.	Review questions for perianal abscess	152
4.2.1.	Immediate fistulotomy versus no immediate fistulotomy at drainage of an acute perianal abscess	152
4.2.2.	Packing versus no packing following drainage of a perianal abscess	154
4.2.3.	Antibiotics versus no antibiotics following drainage of a perianal abscess	155
	Recommendations	155
4.3.	Definition and pathophysiology: Anal fistula	156
4.4.	Review questions for diagnosis and classification of anal fistula	156
4.4.1.	Clinical assessment of anal fistula	156
4.4.2.	Patient factors that may affect fistula healing	156
4.4.3.	Investigations to exclude Crohn's disease	157
4.4.4.	Anal manometry in the management of anal fistula	157
	Recommendations	157
5.	IMAGING OF ANAL FISTULA	158
5.1.	Review questions for imaging	158
5.2.	Effect of preoperative MRI or EAUS on outcomes in anal fistula	158

\*

5.2.1.	Fistula healing	158
	Recommendations	159
6.	PERIOPERATIVE CARE	159
6.1.	Review question for perioperative care of cryptoglandular fistula	159
6.1.1.	Preoperative antibiotics	160
6.1.2.	Preoperative bowel preparation	160
6.1.3.	Sitz baths	160
	Recommendations	160
7.	PARTIAL SPHINCTER-PRESERVING PROCEDURES	160
7.1.	Fistulotomy	160
7.1.1.	Review questions for fistulotomy in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	160
7.1.2.	Indications for fistulotomy	160
7.1.3.	Fistulotomy in simple anal fistula	160
7.1.4.	Fistulotomy in complex anal fistula	161
7.1.5.	Outcomes of fistulotomy compared with sphincter-preserving procedures in simple anal fistula	161
	Recommendations	162
7.2.	Fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction	162
7.2.1.	Review questions for fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	162
7.2.2.	Indications for FISR	162
7.2.3.	Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following FISR	162
7.2.4.	Outcomes of FISR compared with sphincter-preserving procedures	163
7.2.5.	Effects of marsupialization following fistulotomy or fistulectomy	163
	Recommendations	165
7.3.	Cutting seton	165
7.3.1.	Review questions for cutting seton in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	165
7.3.2.	Indications for a cutting seton	165
7.3.3.	Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence with the use of a cutting seton	165
7.3.4.	Outcomes of using a cutting seton compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures	165
	Recommendations	165
8.	SPHINCTER-PRESERVING PROCEDURES	165
8.1.	Bridging/draining seton	165
8.1.1.	Review questions for bridging seton use in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	165
8.1.2.	Indications for bridging/draining seton	167
8.1.3.	Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following draining seton	167
8.1.4.	Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence using a bridging seton	167
	Recommendations	168
8.2.	Advancement flap	168
8.2.1.	Review questions for advancement flap in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	168
8.2.2.	Indications for advancement flap	168
8.2.3.	Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following advancement flap in cryptoglandular anal fistula	168
8.2.4.	Outcomes of advancement flap compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures	169
	Recommendations	169
8.3.	Ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract	169
8.3.1.	Review questions for LIFT in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	169
8.3.2.	Indications for LIFT	170

REZA E	T AL
--------	------

148	L		
	<b>W</b>	Locamic Could	
	8.3.3.		Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of LIFT
	8.3.4.		Outcomes of LIFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
			Recommendations
	8.4.		Video-assisted anal fistula treatment
	8.4.1.		Review questions for video-assisted anal fistula treatment in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
	8.4.2.		Indications for VAAFT
	8.4.3.		Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of VAAFT
	8.4.4.		Outcomes of VAAFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
			Recommendations
	8.5.		Laser ablation of fistula tract
	8.5.1.		Review questions for LAFT in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
	8.5.2.		Indications for LAFT
	8.5.3.		Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following LAFT
	8.5.4.		Outcomes of LAFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
			Recommendations
	8.6.		Fistula plug
	8.6.1.		Review questions for fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula
	8.6.2.		Indications for fistula plug
	8.6.3.		Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula compared with rectal advancement flap
	8.6.4.		Outcomes of fistula plug compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
			Recommendations
	8.7.		Over-the-scope clip
	8.7.1.		Review questions for OTSC in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
	8.7.2.		Indications for OTSC
	8.7.3.		Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following OTSC
	8.7.4.		Outcomes of OTSC compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
			Recommendations
	8.8.		Anocutaneous flap
	8.8.1.		Review questions for anocutaneous flap in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

8.8.2.

8.8.3.

8.8.4.

8.9.

8.9.1.

8.9.2.

8.9.3.

8.10.

8.10.1.

8.10.2.

8.10.3.

8.11.

8.11.1.

8.11.2.

Recommendations
Laser ablation of fistula tract
Review questions for LAFT in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
Indications for LAFT
Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following LAFT
Outcomes of LAFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
Recommendations
Fistula plug
Review questions for fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula
Indications for fistula plug
Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula compared with rectal advancement flap
Outcomes of fistula plug compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
Recommendations
Over-the-scope clip
Review questions for OTSC in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
Indications for OTSC
Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following OTSC
Outcomes of OTSC compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
Recommendations
Anocutaneous flap
Review questions for anocutaneous flap in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
Indications for anocutaneous flap
Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following anocutaenous flap
Outcomes of anocutaneous flap compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures
Recommendations
Fibrin glue
Review questions for fibrin glue in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
Indications for fibrin glue
Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following fibrin glue
Recommendations
Platelet rich plasma
Review questions for platelet rich plasma in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
Indications for PRP
Effects of PRP on fistula healing, incontinence and pain
Recommendations
Collagen matrix
Review questions for collagen matrix in cryptoglandular fistula treatment
Indications for collagen matrix

1463138, 2024. 1, Downloaded from https://onlinelibary.wiley.condio/i/0.1111/codi.16741 by CAPES, Wiley Online Library on [30/04/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibary.wiley.con/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons Licenses

8.11.3.	Effects on fistula healing, incontinence and pain following the use of collagen matrix	180
8.11.4.	Effects of adding collagen matrix to rectal advancement flap	180
	Recommendations	181
9.	OTHER PROCEDURES	181
9.1.	Suture repair of internal opening	181
9.1.1.	Review questions for suture repair of internal opening in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	181
9.2.	Rerouting	181
9.2.1.	Review questions for rerouting in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	181
	Recommendations	182
10.	SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS	184
10.1.	Review questions in cryptoglandular fistula treatment	184
10.1.1.	Palliative seton	184
10.1.2.	Defunctioning colo- or enterostomy	184
	Recommendations	185
11.	MANAGEMENT ALGORITHMS	185
12.	PATIENT INFORMATION	185
13.	IMPLEMENTATION	185
14.	UPDATING	185
	FUNDING INFORMATION	185
	CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT	186
	DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT	186
	REFERENCES	186

#### 1 | SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS

### **1.1** | Diagnosis, classification and preoperative investigations

- Immediate fistulotomy at incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess is not recommended. *Low-level evidence*. [Upgraded by the Guideline Development Group (GDG), expert opinion]
- Following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess, routine packing should not be practiced. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess, an empiric course of antibiotics is *not* recommended to prevent fistula development. *Low-level evidence.* [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- A course of antibiotics *can be considered* following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess in patients with systemic sepsis and immunocompromised status. [GDG expert opinion]
- Clinical assessment in patients with an anal fistula *must* include history and clinical examination to assess for other causes of fistula formation. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Modifiable risk factors for poor wound healing, such as smoking, diabetes and obesity, *should* be assessed and discussed with

patients with an anal fistula prior to attempting reparative surgery. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]

- Investigations to exclude Crohn's disease should be performed in patients with an anal fistula if there is a clinical history in keeping with inflammatory bowel disease or examination that reveals features suspicious for Crohn's disease\*. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Use of anal manometry is not currently recommended in routine clinical practice in patients with an anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- Examination under anaesthesia (EUA) alone *should* not be used as a diagnostic tool in complex fistula as MRI and endoanal ultrasound (EAUS) are superior. *Moderate-level evidence*.
- Imaging by either MRI or EAUS *should* be utilized with a very low threshold in patients, to differentiate patients with simple from those with complex fistulas. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Preoperative MRI *should* be used for anal fistula suspected to be complex on clinical assessment, or when EAUS evaluation is not sufficient to assess complexity or is not available. *Moderate level evidence*.
- Preoperative EAUS can be considered as a primary tool to assess most patients affected by anal fistula, or where MRI is not readily available or there is a need to assess specific clinical features. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 1.2 | Perioperative care

- No recommendation can be made for the use of preoperative antibiotics in patients with anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of preoperative bowel preparation in patients with anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- Sitz bath *can be considered* according to surgeon or patient preference postoperatively in anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 1.3 | Partial sphincter-preserving procedures

- Fistulotomy *should* be used in patients with intersphincteric or low transsphincteric anal fistula and normal preoperative continence, following a thorough assessment of fistula anatomy, symptomatology, involvement of sphincters, risk of incontinence and exploration of patient expectations. *Moderate-level evidence*. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction (FISR) *could* be used in highly selected patients with high transsphincteric anal fistula. *Low-level evidence*.
- Marsupialization *could* be performed following fistulotomy and fistulectomy for simple anal fistula. *Low-level evidence*.
- Cutting seton should not be used in the management of simple anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Cutting seton is not recommended in high anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Loose setons *can be considered* as a long-term solution in patients who have complex, recurrent fistulas and are at risk of worsening incontinence from further invasive treatment. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]
- Loose setons *can be considered* as a long-term solution in patients who do not want to have further surgery. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]
- Bridging setons *can be considered* in patients prior to any sphincter-preserving procedure in the presence of excessive inflammation and suppuration, or for whom poor healing is a concern. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 1.4 | Sphincter-preserving procedures

- Advancement flap should be used for the management of high anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- There is insufficient data to recommend either core-out or curettage as superior when used with rectal advancement flap. Either method could be selected. [GDG expert opinion]
- Ligation of the interspincteric fistula tract (LIFT) should be used in the primary treatment of new, high, transsphincteric anal fistulas. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of BioLIFT because of the lack of high-level evidence for efficacy and long-term outcomes. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]

- Video-assisted anal fistula treatment (VAAFT) can be considered in the management of complex perianal fistula. *Very low-level evidence*.
- Laser ablation of fistula tract (LAFT) can be considered in patients with a high anal fistula. Very low-level evidence.
- Repeated LAFT can be considered in patients following failure from the first attempt. However, repeat procedures should be undertaken with caution, as the cumulative effect of LAFT on the sphincter complex is unknown. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]
- Fistula plug can be considered in the management of anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Downgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of over-the-scope clip (OTSC) in the management of anal fistula. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of anocutaneous flap in the management of anal fistula. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]
- Fibrin glue should not be used in the management of anal fistula. *Moderate-level evidence.*
- No recommendations can be made for the use of platelet rich plasma (PRP) alone in the management of anal fistula. *Very low-level evidence.* [GDG expert opinion]
- PRP can be considered in the management of anal fistula as an add-on treatment to LIFT. Very low-level evidence [Downgraded by GDG, expert opinion].
- No recommendation can be made for the use of collagen matrix in the management of anal fistula. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of suture repair of the internal opening alone in the management of anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of rerouting in high anal fistulas because of a lack of robust data. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 1.5 | Special considerations

- A palliative seton *can be considered* for the management of recurrent perianal sepsis. [GDG expert opinion]
- Palliative seton *can be* offered to patients with an anal fistula who are keen to avoid further surgical intervention and a risk of injury to the sphincter mechanism. [GDG expert opinion]
- A defunctioning stoma *can be considered* in patients with severe and locally uncontrollable perianal sepsis with an anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]

### 2 | INTRODUCTION

Cryptoglandular anal fistula has an incidence of 1.2–2.80 per 10,000 people per year in European countries [1]. Men are twice as likely as women to present with an anal fistula, and incidence peaks between the ages of 30 and 50 years [2].

was used when formulating the recommendations. Where available, the most recent systematic review and meta-analysis publications of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were reviewed and updated, if necessary, with a new meta-analysis performed using Review Manager 5.4.1. Statistical analysis was conducted using a fixed effects model, with results presented as risk ratio (RR) and 95% CI. Interstudy heterogeneity was reported using the I square statistic. Forest plots were used to visualize the meta-analysis. In the absence of RCTs, systematic reviews and meta-analysis of observational studies were used if they met the inclusion criteria. Systematic reviews of observational data were not updated with new meta-analyses as the GDG took the view that new meta-analyses would not increase the strength of the recommendation because observational data is lowlevel evidence and prone to considerable bias. The GRADEpro web application was used to perform GRADE assessment of the evidence for each outcome. The overall strength of the recommendation was determined by the lowest certainty level for an outcome in each PICO. Use of expert opinion by the GDG to 'upgrade' or 'downgrade' evidence is explicitly stated in each recommendation. In Table 1, the wording of the recommendation follows the certainty level in the

#### 3.1 | Wording of recommendations

In previous ESCP guidelines, the wording of the recommendations presented in Table 1 have been useful in creating a hierarchy for the management of conditions based on available evidence. However, it was very difficult to compare the evidence available for the management of anal fistula in a way in which it could be used to develop a stepwise algorithm that includes a hierarchy for treatment modalities. The main limitations were the lack of high-quality RCTs and the heterogenous nature of anal fistula. This reduces the generalizability of the data and does not lend to producing recommendations for every clinical scenario. Surgical modalities need to be offered after assessing individual patients' expectations, sphincter function and willingness to accept the risks of impairment to their continence. For any one clinical scenario, there may be more than one surgical technique that 'should' or 'could' be used and these should be discussed with the patient by a clinician who has performed a thorough assessment of patients' expectations and sphincter function.

evidence. The final recommendations were produced in four consecutive virtual meetings of the GDG and had complete consensus.

 TABLE 1
 Grade of evidence and strength of recommendation.

Grade of evidence	Strength of recommendation
High ++++	'Must' or 'must not'
Moderate +++	'Should' or 'should not'
Low ++	'Could'
Very low +	'Can be considered'

The aim of this guideline was to produce recommendations for clinical management of adult patients with perianal abscess and cryptoglandular anal fistula presenting to secondary care. This guideline does not address cryptoglandular anovaginal fistula, rectovaginal fistula, pouch-related fistula or fistula associated with Crohn's disease, radiotherapy, malignancy or anastomotic leak. The guideline has been developed by an international collaboration of coloproctologists, radiologists and patients, guided by methodologists using the AGREE-S checklist developed by the AGREE enterprise [3].

#### 2.1 | What does this paper add to the literature?

This is the first European Society of Coloproctology (ESCP) cryptoglandular anal fistula guideline developed with clinicians, patients and methodologists using the AGREE-S checklist developed by the AGREE enterprise for clinical guidelines.

#### 3 | METHODOLOGY

The complete methodology is available in Appendix A.

This guideline addresses the clinical management of perianal abscess and cryptoglandular anal fistula in adult patients presenting to secondary care and has been developed for use by secondary care practitioners, such as general surgeons, coloproctologists and radiologists, involved in the management of anal fistula. Patients interested in clinical evidence for the diagnosis and management of anal fistula in secondary care may find this guideline useful.

The Guideline Development Group (GDG), selected from the European Society of Coloproctology (ESCP) membership, represented geographical variation and demonstrated a breadth of clinical and academic experience of managing anal fistula. The GDG followed methodology established by the AGREE (Appendix B) enterprise and previous ESCP guidelines [4]. The oversight committee (D.Z., P.T., K.G., S.B., L.R. and J.K.) were responsible for managing the study design, the scope of the guideline and conducting GRADE (Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations) and ROBIS (Risk of Bias Assessment Tool) assessments of the evidence selected by the GDG members (G.L., H.E., E.A., J.S., A.N.C., F.A., M.S., M.M., G.B., F.L., S.L., R.J.R., U.G., G.G., P.C.A., E.O., B.G., P.L., C.S. and N.I.). Lillian Reza is a PhD candidate with no affiliations to industry and has no conflict of interest; she led the final literature search, data extraction and grading of the evidence. Jos Kleijnen performed the ROBIS assessment and reviewed the grading of the evidence. The GDG were supported by a patient advisory board consisting of five patients who were involved in drafting the recommendations.

The patient/population, intervention, comparison and outcomes (PICO) framework was used to perform a systematic search of MEDLINE (Ovid), Embase (Ovid), Kleijnen Systematic Reviews (KSR) evidence and the Cochrane database of systematic reviews (Search strategy available in Data S1). The final update of the search was made in October 2022. The highest level of evidence available

## 4 | DIAGNOSIS, CLASSIFICATION AND PREOPERATIVE INVESTIGATIONS

GSCP

### 4.1 | Definition and pathophysiology: Perianal abscess

An abscess usually presents as a painful, erythematous, perianal swelling which may or may not be discharging pus at presentation. Parks cryptoglandular hypothesis of anal fistula development following infection of an anal gland is widely accepted [5]. A perianal abscess is thought to develop in an obstructed intramuscular anal gland. These anal glands have extensions that pass through the internal anal sphincter (IAS) to join the crypts of Morgagni at the dentate line [6]. A chronic phase of inflammation and infection of a blocked anal gland proceeds to drain sepsis through pathways of least resistance, forming tracts that often involve the anal sphincters [7]. These tracts are lined with granulation tissue forming a bridge between the perianal skin and the anal canal.

For this section, the GDG agreed that the critical outcomes for consideration were fistula development following treatment of abscess, abscess recurrence and incontinence, and that the important outcomes were pain and wound healing.

#### 4.2 | Review questions for perianal abscess

We considered the following questions for our evidence reviews:

- What are the effects of immediate fistulotomy versus no immediate fistulotomy at incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess?
- 2. What are the effects of packing versus no packing of a cavity following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess?
- 3. What are the effects of antibiotics versus no antibiotics following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess?

### 4.2.1 | Immediate fistulotomy versus no immediate fistulotomy at drainage of an acute perianal abscess

A Cochrane systematic review by Malik et al. [8] included 479 patients from six RCTs in which the effect of immediate treatment of a fistula tract with fistulotomy following incision and drainage of an abscess versus drainage only was evaluated [9]. Most studies [Hebjørn 1987, Schouten 1991, Tang 1996, Ho 1997, Oliver 2003] excluded suprasphincteric, ischiorectal and extrasphincteric fistulas [8, 10–13]. Li et al. [14] included perirectal, ischiorectal and perianal fistulas. Oliver et al. included high transsphincteric and suprasphincteric fistulas but performed delayed progressive fistulotomy using setons. Tang et al. excluded high transsphincteric fistulas and randomized patients once the internal opening had been identified intra-operatively. Hebjørn et al. performed drainage of abscess in all patients and chose to randomize patients to the drainage-alone arm or to fistulotomy on the third postoperative day. Schouten et al. randomized patients to drainage alone or to drainage with fistulectomy and partial primary sphincterotomy. In the intervention arm, in patients for whom the internal opening was identified, the lower part of the internal sphincter was excised, and in patients for whom the internal opening was not identified, the internal sphincter overlying the tract was excised.

This Cochrane systematic review by Malik et al. included studies of patients with submucosal, intersphincteric, and low and high transsphincteric fistula. In four of the six studies, the internal openings of the fistula were identified in 83%–100% of patients, and the remaining two studies included only patients in whom an internal opening was visualized. Follow-up of the drainage-only arm found that 30% of patients subsequently developed a fistula while 5% of patients developed a fistula despite immediate treatment. The proposed benefit of immediate surgery was apparent in only 30% of the patients in the review while a larger proportion of patients were exposed to the risks of impaired continence posed by fistulotomy. The studies did not measure the impact on quality of life or postoperative pain following immediate treatment of a fistula at the time of abscess drainage compared with abscess drainage alone. These are important considerations for patients undergoing drainage and fistula treatment at the index operation.

#### Recurrence/persistence or need for further surgery

Pooled analysis found that immediate fistulotomy at the time of primary abscess drainage was associated with a reduction in recurrence, persistent fistula/abscess and need for further surgical intervention for a fistula (RR=0.13, 95% CI: 0.07-0.24; Figure 1). Sensitivity analyses were carried out by removing the studies by Hebjørn et al. [13] and Li et al. [14] from the meta-analysis performed by Malik et al. [9] because of bias associated with study design and randomization; however, no significant difference in outcome was found after exclusion of these studies.

#### Incontinence

Malik et al. [9] reported no significant increase in the risk of incontinence 1 year following fistulotomy (RR=3.06, 95% CI: 0.7–13.45), using random effects analyses, despite a clear effect on continence being seen in two of the six studies [11, 13]. However, analysis in the present study was conducted using a fixed effects model which found a significant difference in the risk of incontinence between groups (RR=3.14, 95% CI: 1.55–6.37; Figure 2). Postoperative incontinence was reported more frequently in patients with a high transsphincteric fistula.

Heterogeneity in fistula type, intervention and outcome measures for incontinence had reduced confidence in the pooled analysis for incontinence. Oliver et al. [12] included patients with high transsphincteric fistula and, unlike the other studies, treated patients in the intervention group with a cutting seton. Ho et al. [8] found no clinical incontinence, which is in keeping with having only included patients with low transsphincteric and submucosal fistulas. Schouten et al. [11] excised a portion of the internal sphincter from patients in both arms of their study, which could have affected incontinence rates. Six percent of patients were lost to follow-up. However, sensitivity analyses did not find any difference in outcomes following exclusion of the studies by Schouten et al. [12] led to

152

	I&D+Fistula treat	ment	I&D o	nly		Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio			
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year	M–H, Fixed, 95% Cl			
Hebjorn (1987)	2	20	3	18	4.1%	0.60 [0.11, 3.19]	1987				
Schouten (1991)	1	36	13	32	18.0%	0.07 [0.01, 0.49]	1991	← ■			
Tang (1996)	0	24	3	21	4.9%	0.13 [0.01, 2.30]	1996	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
Ho (1997)	0	24	7	28	9.1%	0.08 [0.00, 1.29]	1997	← → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → → →			
Li (1997)	1	39	18	32	25.9%	0.05 [0.01, 0.32]	1997	← ■			
Oliver (2003)	5	100	29	100	38.0%	0.17 [0.07, 0.43]	2003				
Total (95% CI)		243		231	100.0%	0.13 [0.07, 0.24]		◆			
Total events	9		73								
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 = 5.28$ , $df = 5 (p = 0.38)$ ; $I^2 = 5\%$											
Test for overall effect	$Z = 6.36 \ (p < 0.00)$	001)						I&D+Fistula treatment I&D only			





#### FIGURE 2 Outcome: Incontinence. I&D, incision and drainage.

a reduced value of the  $l^2$  statistic, to 25%, confidence intervals remained wide (pooled RR = 2.47, 95% CI: 0.74-8.18).

Assessment of the primary data sources in the Cochrane review [9] encourages a more cautious interpretation. First, although immediate fistula treatment leads to a reduction in 'recurrence', namely the persistence of a fistula at follow-up after abscess drainage, the rate of fistula 'recurrence' across the studies is only around one third, despite the presence of an internal opening in 83%-100% of patients. This means that at least 50% of fistulas present at the time of primary abscess drainage will resolve spontaneously.

Second, continence impairment is often poorly assessed in studies of fistula treatment, and analysis of this outcome in the Cochrane review reveals a serious risk of bias and low certainty in this critical outcome. Fixed effects analysis of available data at the 1-year follow-up demonstrated a threefold increase in incontinence rate following immediate fistula treatment compared with incision and drainage alone.

In addition, some patients were treated with a seton, and their subsequent fistula treatment (and its risks) were outwith the scope of the studies themselves, so the longer-term effect on continence and on failure of subsequent fistula repair is unknown. Some of the included studies examined only low fistulas, for which continence impairment may be less likely to occur. Finally, injudicious probing by surgeons is thought to contribute to a false passage in some patients.

On the basis that half of patients will not present with a persistent fistula and given that the risks of false passage and continence impairment only occur with probing and lay open of fistula, although the risk of 'recurrence' is lower after immediate fistulotomy, the overall benefit of this intervention is hard to define, and the increased risks associated with it are hard to justify, given the evidence presented in these RCTs. The GDG does not advocate immediate fistula treatment at primary abscess drainage.

#### Meta-analysis of RCTs

GRADE

Question: What are the effects of immediate fistulotomy versus no immediate fistulotomy at incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess?

Setting: Fistula found at drainage of a perianal abscess

Bibliography: Hebjørn 1987, Schouten 1991, Tang 1996, Ho 1997, Li 1997, Oliver 2003

	Certaint	y assessment					No. of patients		Effect				
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Drainage and immediate fistulotomy	Drainage only	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Recurrence/ persistence or repeat surgery	6	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	9/243 (3.7)	73/231 (31.6)	RR=0.15 (0.08- 0.30)	269 fewer per 1000 (from 291 fewer to 221 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	5	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Serious <sup>b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	None	27/202 (13.4)	7/199 (3.5)	RR=3.14 (1.55- 6.37)	75 more per 1000 (from 19 more to 189 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Allocation concealment unclear. <sup>b</sup>Heterogeneity in fistula treatment and fistula type. Inconsistent outcomes for incontinence. Variable follow-up. Schouten 1991 performed fistulectomy as an intervention. Losses to follow-up. Oliver 2003 included high fistulas which were treated with cutting seton.

153



### 4.2.2 | Packing versus no packing following drainage of a perianal abscess

Two systematic reviews (Mohamedahmed et al. [15] and Smith et al. [16]) have attempted to assess the outcomes of packing (internal dressings) a cavity following drainage of a perianal abscess [15, 16]. Smith et al. included two RCTs in which the effects of packing on time to wound healing, postoperative pain and fistula development were assessed [17,18]. Mohamedahmed et al. [15] assessed packing in all cutaneous abscesses but performed subgroup analysis in 114 patients, with perianal abscess, from three RCTs [17-19]. However, because of incomplete and variable data, it was not possible to perform a meta-analysis on the time taken to achieve wound healing or on postoperative pain scores. Neither systematic review found a significant difference in reintervention rate, abscess recurrence or fistula development between packing and non-packing following drainage of a perianal abscess. Packing was associated with increased pain and economic burden [15, 16]. Pain was assessed as an outcome in all three RCTs [17-19] included in Mohamedahmed et al. [15], but unfortunately the heterogeneity in outcome reporting of pain precluded meta-analysis.

Pearce et al. [20] conducted a multicentre observational study of 141 patients and found that packing was expensive and associated with a two- to threefold increase in pain scores, during and after dressing changes. Following on from this, a multicentre RCT was published by Newton et al. [21]. The primary outcome of this RCT was postoperative pain, measured using a 100 mm visual analogue scale in the first 10 days. Secondary outcomes included perianal fistula development and abscess recurrence. The GDG assessed the meta-analysis findings presented in Figures 3 and 4, which demonstrates that packing does not prevent fistula development or abscess recurrence but is associated with significant postoperative pain. Newton et al. [21] included 433 of participants and found that packing was associated with higher pain scores than non-packing (38.2 for packing vs. 28.2 for non-packing, mean difference=9.9, p < 0.0001). The GDG agreed that, when required, packing may be useful for haemostasis.

#### Meta-analysis of RCTs

#### GRADE

**Question:** What are the effects of packing versus no packing of an abscess cavity following drainage?

Setting: Abscess cavity following drainage of a perianal abscess Bibliography: Tonkin 2004, Perera 2015, Islam 2016, Newton 2022

	Certain	y assessment					No. of patients		Effect				
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Packing	No packing	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula development	4	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	43/265 (16.2)	31/275 (11.3)	RR=0.70 (0.45-1.06)	34 fewer per 1000 (from 62 fewer to 7 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Abscess recurrence	4	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	13/265 (4.9%)	20/284 (7.0%)	RR = 1.50 (0.77-2.94)	35 more per 1000 (from 16 fewer to 137 more)	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$ Moderate	CRITICAL
Pain	4	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b,d</sup>	None	(How) (Ho		⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	IMPORTANT		

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Unclear blinding of participants and personnel. <sup>b</sup>Incomplete outcome data. <sup>c</sup>Short follow-up. <sup>d</sup>Imprecise estimate.

	Non-pa	cking	Packi	ng	Risk Ratio				Risk Rat	io	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year		M–H, Fixed, S	95% CI	
Tonkin (2004)	2	23	4	20	9.6%	0.43 [0.09, 2.13]	2004			_	
Perera (2014)	0	6	1	8	3.0%	0.43 [0.02, 9.00]	2014				
Islam (2016)	5	26	6	24	14.1%	0.77 [0.27, 2.20]	2016			-	
Newton (2022)	24	220	32	213	73.3%	0.73 [0.44, 1.19]	2022				
Total (95% CI)		275		265	100.0%	0.70 [0.45, 1.06]			•		
Total events	31		43								
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect	0.50, df = : <i>Z</i> = 1.67	= 3 (p = (p = 0.	0.92); / <sup>2</sup> 09)	<sup>2</sup> = 0%				0.01	0.1 1 Non-packing Pa	10 Incking	100

#### FIGURE 3 Outcome: Fistula development.

	Non-packing Packing				Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio			
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year	M–H, Fix	ed, 95% CI	
Tonkin (2004)	3	23	1	20	8.3%	2.61 [0.29, 23.13]	2004		-	-
Perera (2014)	2	6	3	8	20.0%	0.89 [0.21, 3.76]	2014			
Islam (2016)	2	26	2	24	16.1%	0.92 [0.14, 6.05]	2016		•	
Newton (2022)	13	223	7	213	55.6%	1.77 [0.72, 4.36]	2022	-	┼━─	
Total (95% CI)		278		265	100.0%	1.53 [0.78, 2.99]				
Total events	20		13							
Heterogeneity: $Chi^2 =$	0.76); <i>I</i> <sup>2</sup>	<sup>2</sup> = 0%				0.01 0.1	1 10	100		
lest for overall effect	21)					Non-packing	Packing			

Ĺ

### 4.2.3 | Antibiotics versus no antibiotics following drainage of a perianal abscess

Mocanu et al. [22] conducted a systematic review and meta-analysis of patients with perianal abscess and found a reduced rate of anal fistula formation in patients who were given a course of antibiotics following abscess drainage. ROBIS assessment found that this review is at high risk of bias because of inappropriate pooling of data from observational studies and RCTs.

#### Fistula development

Mocanu et al. [22] reported that the rate of fistula development in subjects receiving postoperative antibiotics was 16% versus 24%

chemotherapy, malignancy or HIV [27]. The GDG agreed that there is no significant evidence demonstrating that antibiotic treatment following incision and drainage of perianal abscess prevents fistula development; moreover, as injudicious use of antibiotics may contribute to antibiotic resistance, antibiotics should not be used routinely in such patients.

#### Meta-analysis of RCTs

#### GRADE

**Question:** Antibiotics compared with no antibiotics following drainage of perianal abscess

Setting: Antibiotics following drainage of a perianal abscess Bibliography: Ghahramani 2017, Soezner 2011.

	Certaint	y assessment						No. of patie	nts	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Antibiotics	No antibiotics	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula development	2	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Serious <sup>c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	None	50/230 (21.7)	60/220 (27.3)	RR=0.89 (0.26-3.04)	30 fewer per 1000 (from 202 fewer to 556 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

#### Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Risk of performance bias (Ghahramani 2017). <sup>b</sup>Heterogeneity in intervention - antibiotic type, duration of treatment and follow-up. <sup>c</sup>Inconsistent results between studies. One study was a single-blind randomized controlled trial (RCT) (Ghahramani 2017) and the other a multicentre double-blind RCT (Soezner 2011). Soezner demonstrated no significant effect on fistula development. Ghahramani 2017 did not include baseline patient characteristics.

in those not receiving postoperative antibiotics. This meta-analysis revealed a statistically significant protective effect for antibiotic treatment (OR=0.6, 95% CI: 0.43–0.96, p=0.03), but it included an observational study [Lohsiriwat 2010] [24] and two RCTs [Soezner 2011, Ghahramani 2017] [23–25].

The RCTs have been included in the meta-analysis findings presented in Figure 5 which do not show any significant effect of postoperative antibiotics on subsequent fistula development, with a high degree of interstudy heterogeneity, of  $l^2 = 92\%$  (RR=0.80, 95% CI: 0.58–1.11). It is unclear from the available evidence whether treatment with antibiotics following abscess drainage reduces fistula development.

Observational studies and clinical practice guidelines [26] advise that postoperative antibiotic cover should be considered in patients with extensive cellulitis, systemic sepsis, atypical organisms on microbiology or who are immunosuppressed as a result of Recommendations

- Immediate fistulotomy at incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess is not recommended. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess, routine packing should not be practiced. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess, an empiric course of antibiotics is not recommended to prevent fistula development. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- A course of antibiotics can be considered following incision and drainage of an acute perianal abscess in patients with systemic sepsis and immunocompromised status. [GDG expert opinion]



FIGURE 5 Outcome: Fistula development.



#### 4.3 | Definition and pathophysiology: Anal fistula

Anal fistulas are abnormal communications consisting of granulation tissue between the perianal skin and anal canal. These may exist at the time of abscess drainage or present later with perianal discharge or swelling. Following a perianal abscess in cryptoglandular disease, 15% of patients will present with a persistent fistula tract [28]. The following statements address the diagnosis, classification and preoperative assessment of anal fistula. High-level evidence is not available to support this section of the guideline. The statements have been developed with the highest level of evidence available and with GDG consensus opinion.

### 4.4 | Review questions for diagnosis and classification of anal fistula

We considered the following questions for our evidence reviews:

- 1. Which causative factors should be assessed during history and clinical examination in patients with an anal fistula?
- 2. Which risk factors for poor fistula healing should be assessed in the clinical history in patients with an anal fistula?
- 3. When do we need to conduct colonoscopy/faecal calprotectin/ small bowel imaging to exclude Crohn's disease?
- 4. When should we use anal manometry in the management of anal fistula?

#### 4.4.1 | Clinical assessment of anal fistula

The clinical history should elicit symptoms suggestive of an anal fistula. These may include discharge of pus, mucus, blood or liquid stools through an external opening at the perineum. Anal fistulas may present spontaneously but most commonly develop following a perianal abscess. The history should also exclude other causes of fistula formation, such as Crohn's disease, tuberculosis, trauma, malignancy or iatrogenic injury following local surgical intervention for other perianal conditions, as these may affect management [29]. An assessment of the patient's bowel habit and continence (including their risk of occult sphincter injury, for example following childbirth) is crucial when determining their suitability for fistulotomy, in addition to considering fistula height and anatomy.

### 4.4.2 | Patient factors that may affect fistula healing

Patient factors that may affect fistula healing are not well understood. Observational studies have attempted to demonstrate associations between specific patient factors and fistula healing for sphincter-preserving procedures. Sugrue et al. [30] conducted a systematic review and presented a narrative summary of patient, microbiological, molecular and histological factors for non-healing or persistence of an anal fistula. This review included observational studies which demonstrated that smoking was associated with poor fistula healing in rectal advancement flap [31], dermal advancement flap [32], anal fistula plug [33] and ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract (LIFT) [34]. In one study, obesity has also been associated with poor fistula healing following LIFT [35]. ROBIS assessment found high risk of bias, and GRADE demonstrated low-quality evidence because of the observational, retrospective nature of the studies. High-level evidence is not available to demonstrate the effect of smoking, obesity and diabetes mellitus on fistula healing.

Included in Sugrue et al. [30], Zimmerman et al. [31] reported a fistula healing rate of 69%, at a median follow-up of 14 months, for transsphincteric fistulas following rectal advancement flap repair. Smoking was associated with a poor rate of fistula healing, reducing the rate of healing from 79% in non-smokers to 60% in smokers (p < 0.037) [31]. Ellis et al. [36] reported outcomes in 95 patients following mucosal flap repair [37] and anodermal flap repair [25] for transsphincteric and rectovaginal fistulas. The overall fistula healing rate was 67%. There was a significant association of fistula recurrence with smoking status (p < 0.05). The study has a heterogenous population and variable interventions [36]. Ellis et al. [33] reported a fistula healing rate of 81% in 63 patients following fistula plug treatment, with a mean follow-up of 12months. Smoking and previous plug failure were significantly associated with poor fistula healing. The study had considerable heterogeneity as it included complex, anovaginal and Crohn's fistulas [33]. Abcarian et al. [34] reported a fistula healing rate of 74% after 41 LIFT procedures in 40 patients. The fistulas in three of eight smokers had failed to heal at a mean follow-up of 18 weeks. Van Koperen et al. (2008) and Abbas et al. (2011) are large cohort studies (of 310 and 179 patients, respectively) in which outcomes are reported following fistulotomy, rectal advancement flap and fistula plug treatment [38, 39]. There were no statistically significant associations between age, sex and smoking and poor fistula healing in these studies.

Mei et al. [40] conducted a systematic review [38] to assess factors that may affect fistula recurrence. Mei et al. included 20 studies and graded the quality of the evidence based on Egger's p value, total sample size and between-study heterogeneity. High-quality observational studies showed no significant difference in fistula recurrence based on gender and smoking habit. Moderate-quality observational studies found that fistula recurrence was not associated with patient factors, such as age, alcohol use, diabetes mellitus and obesity. Several fistula-related factors were found to be associated with recurrence. High transsphincteric fistulas (RR=4.77, 95% CI: 3.83-5.95), an unidentified internal opening (RR=8.54, 95% CI: 5.29-13.80) and horseshoe extensions (RR=1.92, 95% CI: 1.43-2.59) were significantly associated with recurrence. Prior anal surgery (RR=1.52, 95% CI: 1.04-2.23), seton placement surgery (RR=2.97, 95% CI: 1.10-8.06) and multiple fistula tracts (RR=4.77, 95% CI: 1.46-15.51) had moderate-quality evidence to support an association with fistula recurrence. A substantial selection bias is likely to be at play in some of these analyses.

In the absence of high-level evidence, evidence for the effect of smoking on fistula healing following sphincter-preserving repair

#### GRADE

**Question:** Which risk factors for poor fistula healing should be assessed in the clinical history?

**Setting:** Fistula healing in smokers following sphincter-preserving repair

**Bibliography:** Zimmerman 2002, Ellis 2007, Ellis 2010, Abcarian 2012, van Koperen 2008, Abbas 2011

#### Recommendations

- Clinical assessment in patients with an anal fistula *must* include history and clinical examination to assess for other causes of fistula formation. [Upgraded by the GDG, expert opinion]
- Modifiable risk factors for poor wound healing, such as smoking, diabetes and obesity, *should* be assessed and discussed with patients with an anal fistula prior to attempting reparative surgery. [Upgraded by the GDG, expert opinion]
- Investigations to exclude Crohn's disease should be performed in patients with an anal fistula, if there is a clinical history in keeping with inflammatory bowel disease, or examination that reveals features suspicious for Crohn's disease\*. [Upgraded by the GDG, expert opinion]

		Certainty asse	ssment							
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	6	Observational	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>c</sup>		Heterogenous studies with inconsistent results	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Lack of blinding, non-RCTs. <sup>b</sup>Incomplete account of patients, loss to follow-up and short follow-up. <sup>c</sup>Small sample size, heterogenous study populations and variable interventions.

#### 4.4.3 | Investigations to exclude Crohn's disease

There are no systematic reviews or RCTs regarding this subject. Hospital Episodes Statistics data from the UK indicate that 3% of patients presenting with a primary perianal abscess will be diagnosed with Crohn's disease a median of 14 months later [28]. This represents an opportunity for detection of this disease, which is often diagnosed late. The GDG agreed that an assessment of the patient's risk for Crohn's disease, based on bowel habit, family history and clinical features\* (such as the presence of proctitis, other features of perianal Crohn's disease, multiple internal openings or recurrent fistulas) should trigger luminal assessment.

### 4.4.4 | Anal manometry in the management of anal fistula

The are no systematic reviews or RCTs regarding the use of anal manomtry in the assessment of anal fistula. The clinical relevance of any changes between the pre and post-treatment manometry results in observational studies are unclear as there is no agreed definition of the level of resting tone or squeeze pressure that should prompt a change in clinical course. The GDG agreed that there is a need for further research in this area, which will help determine the clinical relevance of manometry in the management of anal fistula. • Use of anal manometry is not currently recommended in routine clinical practice in patients with an anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]

#### Classification and definitions in anal fistula

Classification of anal fistula is mostly based on clinical assessment, which is prone to observer bias and variability. To assess the risk of injury from operative intervention, a clinical judgement must be made regarding the percentage of sphincter involvement. Although the use of preoperative imaging may reduce heterogeneity in classification and aid clinicians in performing an objective assessment of sphincter involvement, imaging may not be clinically indicated, routinely available or economically feasible for all centres. In retrospective case series, preoperative imaging may not be available for all patients which means fistula classification is based on subjective clinical evaluation.

Anal fistulas are classified according to their relationship with the anal sphincters. However, the definition of a high anal fistula varies enormously from one study to another and no generally agreed definition exists [37]. Examples include a tract passing above the anorectal ring [7] or through the upper third of the anal canal [41]. Fistulas have also been classified as 'simple' or 'complex' [42, 43].

'Simple' anal fistulas include subcutaneous, intersphincteric or low transsphincteric fistulas with minimal involvement of the sphincter complex. 'Complex' anal fistulas are extrasphincteric,



suprasphincteric or high transsphincteric fistulas involving greater than 30% of the external anal sphincter (EAS) and intersphincteric fistulas involving greater than 50% of the IAS [43]. Rectovaginal fistula, anterior fistula in women, recurrent fistula and fistulas with horseshoe or multiple extensions are also classified as complex fistulas [30, 44, 45]. These definitions provide clinicians and patients with insight into the disease process and possibility of cure. Simple anal fistulas involve less of the sphincter complex and may be amenable to fistulotomy, which provides the highest chance of cure, whereas complex anal fistulas may fail to heal despite multiple attempts at fistula repair with increased risk of sphincter injury. A lack of standardized definitions in the literature limits the certainty of effects in the reported outcomes. The GDG opted not to impose strict definitions for fistula complexity in the inclusion criteria for evidence as this would have excluded studies and further limited the pool of available evidence.

#### 5 | IMAGING OF ANAL FISTULA

Imaging procedures used to assess perianal fistula include fistulography, MRI, endoanal ultrasound (EAUS) and CT. Imaging has been used to improve preoperative knowledge of secondary tracts, horseshoe extensions and inconspicuous collections, which may contribute to recurrence if left untreated [43, 46]. Imaging is thought to aid surgical planning by producing a precise assessment of the fistula tract and its relationship to the anal canal, pelvic floor and the sphincter complex.

The European Society of Gastrointestinal and Abdominal Radiology (ESGAR) has developed guidance on the use of imaging in anal sepsis and fistula through a modified Delphi process based on RAND/UCLA appropriateness methodology, which included an expert panel of radiologists and a systematic review of the current literature [47]. MRI and EAUS are the most common modalities used in clinical practice [43]. CT and fistulography are rarely used to assess anal fistula, and studies in which these imaging modalities are used are limited to small case series. The literature contains numerous cohort studies in which diagnostic accuracy of MRI and EAUS are described by using the level of concordance of findings on imaging with those on examination under anaesthetic (EUA) or clinical assessment. Examination under anaesthetic is usually set as the reference standard for these studies [47].

The ESGAR recommends MRI as the preferred primary modality for imaging anal fistula, based on several studies assessing clinical outcomes [48–51]. In addition, the ESGAR recommends that EAUS should be used in specific scenarios, such as for assessment of internal openings (as EAUS has better spatial resolution than MRI) or when assessing the sphincter complex, as this will help to guide surgery. CT and contrast fistulography were only recommended for use when MRI and EAUS were unavailable [47]. The ESGAR includes further recommendations on technique, interpretation, reporting and clinical use of various imaging modalities in anal fistula, which are beyond the scope of this guideline.

#### 5.1 | Review questions for imaging

We considered the following question for our evidence reviews:

1. What is the effect of preoperative MRI or EAUS on outcomes in anal fistula?

### 5.2 | Effect of preoperative MRI or EAUS on outcomes in anal fistula

#### 5.2.1 | Fistula healing

Sahni et al. [51] conducted a systematic review of the literature to assess how MRI, EAUS and EUA compared in discriminating simple and complex anal fistulas. Blinded prospective studies comparing outcomes following preoperative MRI, EUA and EAUS were included. MRI was found to be more sensitive than EUA (sensitivity=0.97, 95% Cl: 0.92–1.01 for MRI vs. sensitivity=0.75, 95% Cl: 0.65–0.86 for EUA), for discriminating complex perianal fistula. Sensitivity of EAUS, of 0.92 (95% Cl: 0.85–0.99), was comparable to that for MRI [51].

Li et al. [52] published a meta-analysis of 12 studies in which the diagnostic accuracy of three-dimensional (3D) EAUS was assessed. The overall diagnostic accuracy rate for all fistula classifications was 91%, with that for suprasphincteric fistula being the poorest. Endoanal ultrasound had high sensitivity (97%) and low specificity (61%) for diagnosis of the internal opening. The 12 studies included in the meta-analysis demonstrated significant heterogeneity ( $l^2 = 72.1\%$ ). The authors concluded that EAUS alone is not sufficient to assess complex fistulas [52]. The studies in the meta-analysis did not report outcomes in patients assessed using EAUS alone.

The literature pertaining to imaging of perianal fistula mostly report diagnostic accuracy, including sensitivity and specificity, for specific features of the fistula. Rarely in the literature has the impact of imaging on clinical outcome been assessed.

This guideline has been developed with clinical outcomes as the focus of recommendations. Only two studies, Chapple et al. and Buchanan et al., could be included in the analysis below, as these have assessed the effect of imaging based on outcomes. Chapple et al. [50] compared the effect of grading fistula complexity using preoperative MRI or EUA on the ability to predict clinical outcomes at the 1-year follow-up in 52 patients. The outcome-based reference standard assessed the persistence and severity of fistula symptoms, such as pain and discharge, and the need for further surgical intervention. Outcomes were subcategorized into satisfactory and unsatisfactory outcomes. Chapple et al. reported significant correlation between MRI-assessed disease severity and clinical outcome (p < 0.001). The MRI and EUA results disagreed on fistula complexity in 18 of 52 patients. MRI classified 11 of the 18 discordant pairs as complex anal fistula and these patients had an unsatisfactory outcome. Chapple et al. lacked adequate power to demonstrate statistical significance of discordance between EUA- and MRI-based assessment of fistula severity [51].

Buchanan et al. [53] evaluated the accuracy of preoperative MRI, clinical examination and EAUS by comparing findings from independent, blinded fistula classifications from each modality with an outcome-based reference standard derived from postoperative follow-up (mean  $\pm$  SD: 23 $\pm$ 11 months). Agreement between the three modalities and outcomes were also assessed. The study found that MRI was superior to EAUS and digital examination for the identification of fistula tracts. MRI was accurate in 90% of patients compared with EAUS in 81% and digital examination in 61% (p < 0.001). MRI was also significantly better at demonstrating horseshoe extension (p < 0.003) and the location of an internal opening (p < 0.001). Endoanal ultrasound was almost as accurate as MRI in identifying the location of an internal opening, correctly identifying the internal opening in 91% of patients compared with 97% of patients for MRI. The Kappa statistic was used to assess agreement between the outcome-derived reference standard and fistula classification using the different modalities. Classification of the primary tract was fair (k=0.38) using digital examination, good (k = 0.68) using EAUS and very good (k = 0.84) using MRI. This linear trend favouring MRI was similar for classification of abscess and horseshoe extension [51, 53]. The GRADE assessment for Buchanan et al. shows moderate certainty of effect.

#### GRADE

**Question:** What is the effect of preoperative MRI or EAUS on outcomes in anal fistula?

Setting: Choosing imaging modality for primary fistula assessment Bibliography: Buchanan 2004 clinical expertise within the regions. In many regions, EAUS is readily available to clinicians, with appropriate expertise, at the first clinical encounter and may provide sufficient information in simple anal fistula. If a fistula is suspected to be complex following clinical history, examination, EUA or EAUS, then preoperative MRI will be beneficial. MRI is more likely to identify features, described above, that are associated with treatment failure and fistula recurrence.

Recommendations

- EUA alone *should* not be used as a diagnostic tool in complex fistula as MRI and EAUS are superior. *Moderate-level evidence*.
- Imaging using either MRI or EAUS *should* be used with a very low threshold in patients, to differentiate patients with simple fistulas from those with complex fistulas. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Preoperative MRI should be used for anal fistula suspected, on clinical assessment, to be complex or when EAUS evaluation is either not sufficient to assess complexity or is not available. Moderate-level evidence.
- Preoperative EAUS can be considered as a primary tool to assess most patients affected by anal fistula, or when MRI is not readily available or there is a need to assess specific clinical features. [GDG expert opinion]

	Certaint	y assessment						No. o patie	f nts <sup>a</sup>	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	MRI	EAUS	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Observational	Not serious <sup>b</sup>	Not serious <sup>c</sup>	Not serious <sup>d</sup>	Not serious		The K agro der fist diff of t (k= goo goo	appa stat eement b ived refer ula classif erent mo (0.38) usir od ( $k=0.6$ od ( $k$ 0.84	tistic was use etween the rence standa fication usin idalities. Clas ry tract was ng digital exa 8) using EAU ) using MRI	ed to assess outcome- ard and g the ssification fair amination, JS and very	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: EAUS, endoanal ultrasound.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>All 104 patients had MRI, EAUS and EUA. <sup>b</sup>Independent clinicians were used to classify the fistula on a standardized form. Clinicians were blinded to findings obtained using other modalities. <sup>c</sup>Reference standard was applied to all patients regardless of test result. <sup>d</sup>The patient population includes those with Crohn's disease. Despite the inclusion of patients with Crohn's disease, the comparisons and outcome measure are relevant.

Compared with EAUS or EUA alone, preoperative MRI provides additional information that may affect intra-operative decisions. Preoperative MRI findings may be able to predict the need for further intervention by demonstrating occult sepsis, inconspicuous internal openings and extensions. These features could be dealt with at the primary operation if the clinician was alerted to their presence on preoperative MRI. In complex anal fistula, preoperative MRI has an important role to play.

The GDG deliberated the following recommendations, taking into consideration the availability of resources and varying

#### 6 | PERIOPERATIVE CARE

### 6.1 | Review question for perioperative care of cryptoglandular fistula

We considered the following questions for our evidence reviews:

1. What is the effect on fistula healing with the use of preoperative antibiotics?



- 2. What is the effect on fistula healing with the use of bowel preparation preoperatively in patients with anal fistula?
- 3. What is the effect on fistula healing with use of postoperative sitz baths in anal fistula?

#### 6.1.1 | Preoperative antibiotics

There are no systematic reviews or RCTs on the benefit of preoperative antibiotics in the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula. Owing to the lack of data, a recommendation for preoperative antibiotics in anal fistula surgery cannot be made. Scarce data exist demonstrating any advantage of antibiotic prophylaxis before anal fistula surgery [54].

#### 6.1.2 | Preoperative bowel preparation

There are no systematic reviews or RCTs on the benefit of preoperative bowel preparation in the management of cryptogadular anal fistula. Owing to the lack of data, a recommendation cannot be made for the use of preoperative bowel preparation in anal fistula surgery. Sparse data exist on perioperative dietary modification with the aim of avoiding straining to protect reconstructing sutures [54, 55].

#### 6.1.3 | Sitz baths

There are no studies specifically assessing sitz bath in the management of anal fistula. There is one systematic review on the use of sitz bath for the management of patients with anorectal disorders. This study includes four RCTs of patients managed with sitz bath following surgical treatment of anal fissure or haemorrhoids [56]. There were conflicting findings for post defecation pain but overall sitz bath did not seem to have an effect on intensity of pain or the presence of postoperative pain. There was no difference in wound or fissure healing with the use of sitz bath. No complications were reported with sitz bath use, and patients were satisfied using sitz bath.

Recommendations

In the absence of high-quality evidence, the following statements are based on GDG expert opinion:

- No recommendation can be made for the use of preoperative antibiotics in patients with anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of preoperative bowel preparation in patients with anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- Sitz bath can be considered according to surgeon or patient preference, postoperatively in anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 7 | PARTIAL SPHINCTER-PRESERVING PROCEDURES

#### 7.1 | Fistulotomy

7.1.1 | Review questions for fistulotomy in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for fistulotomy?
- 2. What are the outcomes of fistulotomy compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures in simple anal fistula?

#### 7.1.2 | Indications for fistulotomy

Fistulotomy is a sphincter-cutting technique as it involves laying open the fistula from the internal opening to the external opening and dividing any sphincter muscle along the length of the tract. Continence impairment is the primary concern, making fistulotomy a viable option in a highly selected group of patients with minimal involvement of their fistula in the sphincter complex and with intact sphincter function, also described as 'simple' anal fistulas. Commonly used definitions of simple anal fistulas are intersphincteric or low transsphincteric fistulas that involve less than 30% of the EAS and do not have any features of complexity. There is considerable heterogeneity regarding which fistulas are classified as simple or complex and as high or low, and this has been demonstrated by Igbal et al. [37] in a systematic review. Lack of standardized definition, and variable use of preoperative imaging that may aid clinicians in classifying and selecting patients for intervention, introduces heterogeneity and bias in studies pertaining to anal fistula [57].

#### 7.1.3 | Fistulotomy in simple anal fistula

Symptomatic simple anal fistulas are often managed with fistulotomy in patients with normal continence [26, 58, 59]. Fistulotomy is thought to be the gold-standard treatment for simple anal fistula as it is associated with a high rate of fistula healing without diminishing continence [60].

Retrospective observational studies of fistulotomy in low transsphincteric and intersphincteric anal fistulas have found a high rate of fistula healing (96%–98%) and acceptable postoperative continence [61]. There was no significant change in continence (defined as incontinence of flatus, mucus or soft and hard stool) following fistulotomy for intersphincteric fistula (IAS divided) and low transsphincteric fistula (IAS and EAS divided). Secondary extensions have been associated with failure [62]. Long-term follow-up data (exceeding 12 months) on continence are sparse.

Some authors recommend that in addition to an appropriate fistula, the presence of a regular bowel habit with a normal stool,

#### 7.1.4 | Fistulotomy in complex anal fistula

Numerous sphincter-preserving fistula repair procedures have been described for patients with complex anal fistula in whom long-term follow-up has demonstrated that fistulotomy poses a higher risk of incontinence [63]. Visscher et al. [63] compared the long-term outcomes of fistulotomy between complex anal fistula and simple anal fistula using the Wexner incontinence score. Fistulotomy in patients with high transsphincteric and suprasphincteric fistulas was associated with a significantly higher Wexner score (mean  $\pm$  SD = 4.7  $\pm$ 6.2) than in those treated for a simple anal fistula (Wexner score, mean  $\pm$  $SD = 1.2 \pm 2.1$ ) (p < 0.001) [63]. It is difficult to ascertain the implication of this finding for patients, as the level of incontinence may be minor (such as incontinence to flatus and mucus) and may not have a significant impact on their quality of life, while symptoms from a persistent fistula may have far greater impact on quality of life. Each patient needs tailored management. Clinicians must assess fistula symptomatology, preoperative incontinence, degree of involvement of anal sphincter and height of the anal fistula, and describe the individual risk of incontinence after fistulotomy and the possible rate of achieving fistula closure when offering options to patients with complex anal fistula.

### 7.1.5 | Outcomes of fistulotomy compared with sphincter-preserving procedures in simple anal fistula

There are limited high-quality RCTs on the management of simple anal fistula in which outcomes between sphincter-cutting and sphincter-preserving procedures have been compared.

Litta et al. [60] published a systematic review in which the outcomes of sphincter-cutting procedures (such as fistulotomy and fistulectomy) were compared with the outcomes of sphincter-preserving procedures (LIFT, fibrin flue, Permacol paste, over-the-scope clip [OTSC] and laser treatment) in simple anal fistulas. This review included 47 observational studies and 19 RCTs in which the management of simple anal fistula was investigated. The RCTs mostly compared outcomes of fistulectomy with primary sphincteroplasty, and fistulotomy with or without marsupialization. The observational studies were retrospective small case series in single institutions. Data on fistula healing, complications, continence, quality of life and patient satisfaction were extracted. The included studies had a weighted average follow-up of 14.7 (1–77) months.

#### Fistula healing

In simple anal fistula, the weighted average fistula healing rate for sphincter-cutting procedures was 93.7% (range: 61%–100%) and for sphincter-preserving procedures (LIFT, glue, Permacol paste, OTSC, laser treatment) was 77.7% (range: 25%–100%). The pooled outcome of sphincter-cutting procedures included data from 19 RCTs and 28 observational studies. This included data from Gottgens et al. [64], the largest retrospective series, in which outcomes of fistulotomy were reported in 537 patients, 6.7% of whom had Crohn's disease. Gottgens et al. [64] reported a primary fistula healing rate of 83.6% with a median follow-up of 38.9 months. The pooled outcome of sphincter-preserving procedures included three RCTs and 20 observational studies.

#### Incontinence

Various methods were used to record incontinence in the included studies. Minor and major incontinence was recorded in 12.7% of patients (and major incontinence alone in 6% of patients) following treatment with sphincter-cutting procedures.

Problems in the measurement of incontinence, including the grouping of patients and comparison of the mean continence scores pre- and postoperatively (rather than comparison of continence data from individual patients pre and postoperatively) may well obscure continence impairment caused by fistula operations. Careful, patient-level assessment of continence impairment has indicated a much higher risk of (usually minor) impairment to continence than was previously believed to occur, in up to one-third of patients. This criticism also holds for sphincter-preserving procedures [65].

In the studies of sphincter-preserving procedures, a weighted average incontinence rate of 0.2% was reported, and the studies only found gas incontinence [60]. Incontinence has not been adequately evaluated to permit pooled analysis and comparison with sphincter-cutting procedures. The main limitations are pooling of outcomes of various sphincter-preserving procedures and the lack of validated tools to measure incontinence.

A limited number of studies have evaluated quality of life and patient satisfaction [63, 66–71]. The postoperative onset of faecal incontinence reduced the quality of life of patients. The recurrence of fistula had a negative impact on quality of life [60]. The value of these findings is unclear as outcomes could not be pooled.

ROBIS assessment found high risk of bias in Litta et al. The studies included in Litta et al. demonstrated significant heterogeneity in fistula aetiology and in outcomes measured, such as fistula healing and incontinence. Heterogeneity has not been statistically reported. The studies are also limited by their short follow-up. Previous guidance on fistulotomy has been based on observational studies owing to the lack of RCTs [43]. The GRADE assessment of the RCTs included in this systematic review suggest a low level of certainty for the incontinence outcome. Continence impairment can have a significant impact on quality of life and therefore clinicians should perform a detailed assessment of fistula anatomy, individual risk of incontinence and patients' expectations prior to offering fistulotomy for simple anal fistula.



#### GRADE

**Question:** What are the outcomes of fistulotomy in simple anal fistula compared with sphincter-preserving procedures?

**Bibliography:** Ho 1998, Ho 2001, Shahbaz 2002, Lindsey 2002, Sahakitrungruang 2011, Nazeer 2012, Jain 2012, Kamal 2012, Wang 2012, Chalya 2013, Sheikh 2015, Sabre 2016, Ganesan 2017, Shahid 2017, Mittal 2018, Gupta 2018, Anan 2019, Sahai 2019, Sanad 2019 division of a significant portion of the sphincter complex following laying open of the fistula [37]. The FISR procedure is also thought to avoid formation of a 'keyhole' deformity that may affect sphincter function [72].

	Certain	ty assessment								
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	19	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious <sup>b</sup>	None	Litta et al. included 47 observational studies and 19 RCTs to compare outcomes of sphincter-cutting and sphincter-sparing techniques in simple anal fistula. The observational studies were of low quality and demonstrated significant heterogeneity, which reduces the strength of the conclusions. Fistula healing rate was higher (93.7% vs. 77.7%) following sphincter-cutting procedures <sup>a,b</sup>	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	19	Randomized trial	Not serious	Serious <sup>c</sup>	Not serious	Serious <sup>c,d</sup>	None	Continence impairment (major and minor) weighted average rate was 12.7% for sphincter-cutting procedures. For sphincter- sparing procedures, continence impairment weighted average rate was 0.2%	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Randomization unclear. Varying definitions of fistula healing and recurrence. <sup>b</sup>Follow-up data are limited. Most studies do not include 12-month follow-up data. <sup>c</sup>Continence impairment following sphincter-cutting procedures showed a wide variation in reported incontinence rates, from 0% to 45%. <sup>d</sup>Studies that included follow-up data of longer than 12 months reported increasing rates of incontinence. Unfortunately, most studies included had a follow-up of shorter than 12 months.

Recommendations

• Fistulotomy should be used in patients with intersphincteric or low transsphincteric anal fistula and normal preoperative continence, following a thorough assessment of fistula anatomy, symptomatology, involvement of sphincters, risk of incontinence and exploration of patient expectations. *Moderate-level evidence*. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]

#### 7.2 | Fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction

## 7.2.1 | Review questions for fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction (FISR)?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following FISR in cryptoglandular anal fistula?
- 3. What are the outcomes of FISR compared with the outcomes of sphincter-preserving procedures?
- 4. What are the effects of marsupialization following fistulotomy or fistulectomy?

#### 7.2.2 | Indications for FISR

Fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction is performed in patients with high anal fistula who would require

### 7.2.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following FISR

Literature review found two meta-analyses on FISR. Ratto et al. [72] included 14 studies and Iqbal et al. [40] included 21 studies in which the efficacy and safety of FISR in cryptoglandular anal fistula were assessed [37, 72]. Both reviews included RCTs and observational studies. Iqbal et al. is an updated review including recent studies on FISR. Iqbal et al. excluded studies based primarily on patients with Crohn's disease to avoid the confounding effects of biologics on fistula healing and reported outcomes of fistulotomy or fistulectomy with primary sphincter repair in 1700 patients, of whom 56% were male and 1.6% had Crohn's disease. Of the included studies, only two were RCTs and had a total of 43 patients [Perez 2006, Mascagni 2019] [73, 74].

#### Fistula healing

Iqbal et al. [37] conducted pooled analysis of fistula healing in 21 studies and reported a primary fistula healing rate of 93% (95% CI: 91%-95%,  $l^2 = 51\%$ , p < 0.004) after FISR. Ratto et al. reported a similar success rate for primary fistula healing, with a weighted average healing rate of 93.2% (range: 85.7-100), at a follow-up of 28.9 (range: 12-81) months. Ratto et al. [72] reported a weighted average time to recurrence of 8.9 (range: 1.5-20) months.

Iqbal et al. specifically assessed outcomes for 'high' anal fistula following FISR as the studies included many patients with low transsphincteric anal fistula. Of the 1700 patients included, 777 were identified as having high transsphincteric, suprasphincteric or extrasphincteric fistulas. Definitions of high anal fistula were not always reported in every study, and in some studies results were not reported according to fistula height; therefore, not all studies were eligible for inclusion in this subanalysis. Studies in which fistula height was described, defined 'high anal fistula' variably, according to percentage involvement of the EAS, ranging between 30% and 70%. Data could only be extracted from 12 studies, including one RCT and 11 observational studies of FISR in high anal fistula. Following pooled analysis, the rate of fistula healing after FISR was reported as 89% (95% CI: 84%–94%,  $l^2 = 76\%$ , p < 0.001) in high anal fistula [37].

fistula morphology is unclear. Furthermore, there are only two RCTs included within Iqbal et al., and the quality of the other studies analysed was generally low.

GRADE

**Question:** FISR compared with sphincter-preserving procedures for adult patients with anal fistula

Bibliography: Mascagni 2019, Perez 2006

	Certain	ty assessment								
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	2	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	lqbal et al. conducted a pooled analysis of 21 studies including 19 observational studies. Primary fistula healing rate was 93% (95% CI: 91%–95%) with FISR. Healing rate in high anal fistula was 89% (95% CI: 84%–94%)	⊕⊕OO Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	2	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	Iqbal et al. conducted a pooled analysis of 16 studies, including 14 observational studies, in which an overall rate of continence disturbance of 11% (95% CI: 6%-18%) with FISR was found. The rate of continence disturbance in high anal fistula was 16%	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: FISR, fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Unclear method of randomization, no allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>Blinding not possible. <sup>c</sup>Small cohort of patients.

#### Incontinence

lqbal et al. reported an overall rate of continence disturbance, after FISR, of 11% (95% CI: 6%–18%,  $l^2 = 87\%$ , p < 0.001) from 16 studies. The studies excluded had failed to report outcomes or to provide data that could be pooled. Pooled analysis of worsening continence was performed using the results from 10 studies in which data for preoperative and postoperative continence were included. Worsening continence was reported in 8% (95% CI: 4%–12%,  $l^2 = 74\%$ , p < 0.001) of patients. Major and minor incontinence were poorly described in the included studies. Of the 83 patients with a deterioration in continence after FISR, only 36 had outcomes for which a distinction could be made between major and minor incontinence. One (2.8%) patient was found to have major incontinence (liquid or solid stools).

lqbal et al. also reported the rate of continence disturbance following treatment of high anal fistulas, from nine studies, to be 16% (95% Cl: 7%–27%,  $l^2$ =89%, p<0.001). Seven studies included data on worsening continence from baseline in high anal fistulas. Pooled analysis found that this occurred in 8% (95% Cl: 2%–16%,  $l^2$ =80%, p<0.001) of patients. The findings are limited by the lack of standardized definitions of incontinence, inability to distinguish major incontinence from minor incontinence, and the use of unvalidated scores to measure continence.

Ratto et al. did not find any significant differences in outcomes, after FISR, between the type of excision (fistulotomy or fistulectomy) or method of sphincter repair. End-to-end sphincteroplasty demonstrated higher rates of dehiscence, but overlapping repair was found to be associated with worsening continence in two studies [73, 75]. Further research is needed to clarify the optimal technique. Although most patients included in the two meta-analyses were reported to have complex fistulas, there is no standardized description of how this was defined or homogenous measurement of the height of the fistula. The ideal candidate for FISR in terms of

### 7.2.4 | Outcomes of FISR compared with sphincter-preserving procedures

Perez et al. [73] compared advancement flap and fistulotomy with sphincter reconstruction in the management of complex cryptoglandular anal fistula. Outcomes were reported in 55 patients with similar fistula complexity (high transsphincteric and suprasphincteric) from a median follow-up period of 38 (range: 24–52) months. Over-the-scope clip (OTSC) has also been compared with FISR in a RCT. This is further discussed in the section dedicated to OTSC.

#### Recurrence

The fistula recurrence rate was 7.1% in the FISR group. There was no significant difference in the fistula recurrence rate between groups. However, following sphincter reconstruction, 71% of patients experienced dehiscence and healing by secondary intention.

#### Incontinence

There was no significant difference in mean incontinence scores between groups (advancement flap and FISR). Anal manometry was recorded pre and post procedure, with no significant differences found between groups.

Perez et al. was reviewed by Jacob et al. in their Cochrane review of the management of anal fistula, published in 2010. This study was excluded because of the lack of clear randomization in their methodology [57].

GRADE

**Question:** FISR compared with advancement flap for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Perez 2006

	·												
	Certainty assessment								nts	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	FISR	Advancement flap	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	26/28 (92.9)	25/27 (92.6)	RR: 1.00 (0.86- 1.16)	0 fewer per 1000 (from 130 fewer to 148 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	9/28 (32.1)	8/27 (29.6)	RR=1.08 (0.49-2.40)	24 more per 1000 (from 151 fewer to 415 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: FISR, fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Unclear method of randomization, no allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>Blinding not possible. <sup>c</sup>Small cohort of patients.

There is no evidence of superiority of FISR over advancement flap in the treatment of high anal fistula. Studies in delayed and immediate sphincteroplasty following obstetric injury demonstrate worsening faecal incontinence over time [76]. It is unclear whether there are similar outcomes following FISR because relevant longterm follow-up data are not available.

The FISR procedure can result in high levels of healing in patients who have been appropriately counselled regarding the risks of continence disturbance. The ideal patient candidate and operative technique have not been clearly identified. Quality of life and patient satisfaction have not been consistently assessed in the available literature. Although existing data support the safety of the FISR procedure, there are concerns regarding the quality of the evidence for the risk of continence impairment, which limits our confidence in this technique for high anal fistula.

### 7.2.5 | Effects of marsupialization following fistulotomy or fistulectomy

Marsupialization involves suturing the edges of the wound, following fistulotomy or fistulectomy, to the perianal skin. This reduces the surface area of unepithelialized tissue and is thought to reduce the time to complete wound healing [77]. Sahebally et al. [77] conducted a meta-analysis of six RCTs, comparing outcomes in time to wound healing, pain scores at 24 h, fistula recurrence and incontinence following fistulotomy or fistulectomy, with or without marsupialization, in simple anal fistula. Simple anal fistula was defined as intersphincteric or low transsphincteric fistula of cryptoglandular origin, comprising less than 30% of the EAS.

#### Time to complete wound healing

Pooled analysis of four studies [Anan 2019, Chalya 2013, Ho 1998, Jain 2012] including 365 patients found that marsupialization was associated with a significantly shorter time to achieve complete wound healing compared with no marsupialization in simple anal fistula: standard mean difference was -0.87 (95% CI: -1.09 to -0.66) weeks ( $l^2 = 64\%$ , p < 0.00001; Figure 6). There was a high level of interstudy heterogeneity [78]. Sensitivity analysis was conducted using studies of fistulotomy only, as fistulectomy wounds are considerably larger than fistulotomy wounds and may impact the rates of wound healing. Sensitivity analysis found that wound healing was complete in a considerably shorter time following fistulotomy and marsupialization.

Meta-analysis of RCTs

#### Pain scores

Only two observational studies included an assessment of postoperative pain [Pescatori 2006, Jain 2012] [79, 80]. There was no difference in postoperative mean pain scores between groups.

#### Recurrence

Five studies were included in the assessment of fistula recurrence [Sahakitrungruang 2011, Anan 2019, Chalya 2013, Ho 1998, Jain 2012]. No significant difference was found in the rate of fistula recurrence between groups with or without marsupialization [79–82].

#### Incontinence

Six studies were included in the meta-analysis to assess disturbance of continence between groups. No significant difference was found.





#### GRADE

**Question:** Marsupialization compared with none for anal fistula in adult patients

fibrosis as the seton is gradually moved caudad through serial tightening. There is a lack of evidence to support this theory [26, 42, 43].

**Bibliography:** Anan 2019, Chalya 2013, Ho 1998, Jain 2012, Sahakitrungruang 2011, Pescatori 2006

	Certain	ty assessment						No. of patients		Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Marsupialization	None	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Time to wound healing (weeks)	4	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	181	184	-	SMD=0.87 SD lower (0.66 lower to 1.09 lower)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	IMPORTANT
Incontinence	6	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>c</sup>	None	3/228 (1.3)	9/233 (3.9)	RR=0.38 (0.12-1.26)	24 fewer per 1000 (from 34 fewer to 10 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Fistula healing	5	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	205/206 (99.5)	208/209 (99.5)	RR 1.00 (0.98-1.03)	0 fewer per 1000 (from 20 fewer to 30 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: RR, risk ratio; SMD, standardized mean difference.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Selection bias because of lack of allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>Computer-generated randomization carried out in two studies. <sup>c</sup>Imprecision; 95% CI crosses the line of no effect.

The studies included are heterogenous in their definitions of wound healing, use of antibiotics and analgesia. Risk of bias in methodology of the included RCTs reduces the strength of the meta-analysis.

Recommendations

- FISR could be used in highly selected patients with high transsphincteric anal fistula. Low-level evidence.
- Marsupialization *could* be performed following fistulotomy and fistulectomy for simple anal fistula. *Low-level evidence*.

#### 7.3 | Cutting seton

### 7.3.1 | Review questions for cutting seton in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for a cutting seton?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of a cutting seton in cryptoglandular anal fistula?
- 3. What are the outcomes of using a cutting seton compared with the outcomes following use of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

#### 7.3.2 | Indications for a cutting seton

Cutting setons have been used in patients for whom fistulotomy poses a considerable risk of incontinence because the fistula encompasses a moderate proportion of the sphincter complex. Cutting setons are thought to cause minimal sphincter disruption and allow the sphincter to heal above the seton through

### 7.3.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence with the use of a cutting seton

Literature search found several small case series [Hamalainen 1997, Ibister 2001, Chuang-wei 2008, Ege 2013, Rosen 2015, Patton 2015] with considerable heterogeneity in the use of seton material, period of follow-up, measurement of incontinence and whether partial sphincterotomy was performed prior to insertion of the cutting seton. Data from case series are difficult to pool because of differences in fistula anatomy arising from the level of the internal opening and the proportion of internal or external sphincter involvement [83–88].

There is one RCT [Ho 2001] in which the use of ayurvedic cutting seton is compared with conventional fistulotomy for low anal fistula [89].

#### Fistula healing

In Ho et al., the only RCT in which a cutting seton (46 patients) was compared with fistulotomy (54 patients) in low transsphincteric and intersphincteric fistula, there was one recurrence following fistulotomy over a 2-month follow-up (OR=0.38, 95% CI: 0.02-9.64). The overall healing rate for a cutting seton was 100% compared with 96% for fistulotomy.

Chuang-wei et al. [87] conducted a retrospective analysis of cutting seton in 112 patients with complex anal fistula. The rate of recurrence was 0.9% with a median follow-up of 38.6 months. Several observational studies of complex cryptoglandular anal fistula with a median follow-up of at least 12 months found that recurrence rates ranged from 0.9% to 6.8% [84–88].

#### Incontinence

In Ho et al., post procedure incontinence was measured following treatment with either fistulotomy or cutting seton. Following treatment with cutting seton, five patients reported gas (n=2) or liquid

stool (n=3) incontinence. There were three patients with gas (n=1) or liquid stool (n=2) incontinence in the fistulotomy group. There was no difference in disturbance to continence between ayurvedic cutting seton and fistulotomy (OR=2.07, 95% CI: 0.47–9.19).

Incontinence is a critical concern associated with cutting seton. Previously, observational studies reported short-term follow-up data in which incontinence was measured with unvalidated scoring systems. In recent studies with longer follow-up periods, it is suggested that major incontinence may be a concern with time. Chuang-wei et al. included 28 patients with extrasphincteric fistula and 84 patients with either transsphincteric or suprasphincteric fistula. Disturbance to continence was reported in 24% of patients, of whom 21% had gas incontinence and 5.4% had liquid incontinence at a median follow-up of 38.6 months [87]. Several recent studies with at least a 12-month follow-up report variable rates of continence disturbance. Patton et al. [85] reported moderate incontinence in 13.5% of patients and severe incontinence in 8.5%, following placement of a cutting seton. Women had significantly higher incontinence scores than men. Hamalainen et al. [88] reported that 51% of patients had gas incontinence, 34% complained of soiling undergarments weekly and 6% reported occasional incontinence to liquid stool. Ege et al. [86] reported worsening incontinence in 5.5% of patients. Interpretation of continence outcomes from these studies is challenging as they include patients with heterogenous fistula anatomy, varying in extent of sphincter involvement and previous surgical exposure, which is likely to affect function. Outcome reporting is also heterogenous, which precludes pooled analysis of results.

#### Pain

Ho et al. reported significant differences in post procedure pain between patients treated with fistulotomy and those treated with cutting seton. Cutting seton was more painful than fistulotomy in the first 24h (p < 0.001) [89]. There was a trend for cutting seton continuing to be associated with higher pain scores in the first 7 days, but this did not reach statistical significance.

#### GRADE

**Question:** Ayurvedic cutting seton compared with fistulotomy for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Ho 2001

Other considerations in developing recommendations for cutting seton include the need for frequent clinical review to tighten the seton, which may affect patient satisfaction and is burdensome on resources. The impact on quality of life from pain, frequent clinical reviews and long-term continence is unclear.

An RCT of fistulotomy compared with cutting seton in patients with a fistula too high to lay open, with a major risk of continence impairment, would be unethical and hence such data will never exist. We are therefore limited to case series of cutting seton in high anal fistula. These too are lacking in number and quality. Consequently, it is difficult to advocate for the use of cutting seton in high anal fistulas.

### 7.3.4 | Outcomes of using a cutting seton compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

There are no RCTs that compare cutting seton with other reparative treatments.

Recommendations

- Cutting seton should not be used in the management of simple anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- Cutting seton is not recommended in high anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]

#### 8 | SPHINCTER-PRESERVING PROCEDURES

#### 8.1 | Bridging/draining seton

8.1.1 | Review questions for bridging seton use in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for a bridging/draining seton?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence of using a draining seton alone in cryptoglandular fistula?
- 3. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence of using a bridging seton prior to sphincter-preserving procedures?

	Certaint	y assessment						No. of patients		Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Ayurvedic cutting seton	Fistulotomy	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	46/46 (100.0)	52/54 (96.3)	RR=1.04 (0.97-1.11)	39 more per 1000 (from 29 fewer to 106 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	5/46 (10.9)	4/54 (7.4)	RR=1.47 (0.42-5.15)	35 more per 1000 (from 43 fewer to 307 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Pain	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	Higher pain sco (p < 0.001).	res reported fo	llowing cutting se	eton in the first 24 h	⊕⊕⊕⊕ High	IMPORTANT

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Small sample size, the number of events is low with short follow-up, suggesting the possibility of recurrence with either intervention. <sup>b</sup>Sequence generation not adequately described. <sup>c</sup>One randomized controlled trial (RCT) with short follow-up of incontinence.

#### 8.1.2 | Indications for bridging/draining seton

A bridging or draining seton is usually used to drain sepsis and to prepare, and mature, a fistula tract prior to attempting sphincterpreserving procedures. Bridging or draining setons tend to be loose and do not impinge on the sphincter complex. There are a number of different types of seton material in use and there is insertion and only 7% reported a healed fistula with a seton alone [92].There is no high-level evidence to support the use of a loose seton on its own with the intention of achieving fistula closure. GRADE

**Question:** Outcomes of loose seton for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Daodu 2018, Kelly 2013

	Certain	ty assessment								
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	2	Observational	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Serious <sup>d</sup>	Serious <sup>e</sup>	Serious <sup>d,e</sup>	d	Variable rates of overall fistula healing, of 7%-73%, were reported in two studies	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL
	20.4		· •		<i>c</i> , , , ,			du un un un		

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Retrospective case series. <sup>b</sup>Heterogenous fistula anatomy. <sup>c</sup>Unclear follow-up. <sup>d</sup>Inconsistent outcomes.

no high-level evidence to recommend a certain seton material. A seton should be comfortable for the patient, durable and drain sepsis adequately.

### 8.1.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following draining seton

There are no RCTs in which the outcomes of using a draining seton in cryptoglandular fistula are compared only with the outcomes of fistula treatment using other sphincter-preserving procedures. There are RCTs of rerouting with a draining seton and mucosal advancement. These are discussed separately below (Section 9.2.1). Limited retrospective observational studies exist regarding the use of draining seton for fistulas of various complexity, including intersphincteric and high transsphincteric [90, 91]. Two studies with the largest cohort of patients and the longest follow-up periods are discussed. Daodu et al. [90] conducted a retrospective review of 76 patients with a draining seton inserted for a fistula comprising greater than 10% of the sphincter complex. The setons were removed 6 months after they had been placed. Mean follow-up was 72(range: 14–126) months. Symptom resolution was the primary outcome. Daodu et al. [90] reported complete resolution of symptoms in 73.7% of patients and significant amelioration of symptoms in 18.4%. Persistent symptoms or recurrence were reported in 15% of patients. Kelly et al. [92] reported the outcomes of loose seton insertion in 200 patients, of whom only 38% had a fistula secondary to cryptoglandular disease. The fistulas included were of varying complexity (35% were transsphincteric, 42.5% were intersphincteric, 6% were suprasphincteric and 8% were extrasphincteric). Of this cohort, 93% of patients had a fistulotomy following seton

### 8.1.4 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence using a bridging seton

Placer-Galán et al. [93] conducted a systematic review on the outcomes of using a bridging seton prior to performing the LIFT procedure. The meta-analysis included 10 observational studies with a median follow-up of 12 months. Galán et al. did not find a significant difference in the fistula recurrence rate between groups (bridging seton and no bridging seton prior to LIFT). The overall healing rate was 60% in patients with a bridging seton compared with 48.7% in patients without a bridging seton [93]. The main limitations were the retrospective nature of the data and the inclusion of patients with Crohn's perianal fistula. In the included studies, the choice of a preoperative seton was not random, suggesting that these were probably placed in patients for whom the surgeon anticipated a lower likelihood of fistula healing. The finding of either no difference or an increase in healing in these – presumably more difficult – fistulas suggests that setons are of benefit.

Giamundo et al. [94] have published their 10-year experience of laser ablation of fistula tract (LAFT) in 175 patients with cryptoglandular fistula. They found that patients who had a seton inserted for drainage as a first-stage procedure prior to LAFT had a significantly higher rate of fistula healing, of 70.4%, than the fistula-healing rate of 51.5% achieved without a bridging seton (p < 0.03) [94].

#### GRADE

**Question:** Bridging seton prior to LIFT compared with no bridging seton for anal fistula

Bibliography: Espin 2011, Wallin 2012, Liu 2013, Wang 2013, Sileri 2014, Hall 2014, Ye 2015, Vander Mijns 2019, Placer-Galan 2017

	Certainty	assessment								
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	10	Observational	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious		Overall healing rate of 60% with bridging seton and 48.7% without.	⊕○○○ Very low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Small case series, heterogenous fistula, heterogenous fistula aetiology. <sup>b</sup>Selection bias.

CIGSO

Setons are commonly used for draining a fistula tract or bridging in preparation for a fistulotomy or a sphincter-preserving procedure.

There are no additional outcomes reported that are important to patients, such as patient quality of life and satisfaction with a bridging seton.

Recommendations

168

- Loose setons *can be considered* as a long-term solution in patients who have complex, recurrent fistula and are at risk of worsening incontinence from further invasive treatment. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]
- Loose setons *can be considered* as a long-term solution in patients who are not keen to have further surgery. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]
- Bridging setons can be considered in patients prior to any sphincter-preserving procedure in the presence of excessive inflammation and suppuration, or for whom poor healing is a concern. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]-

#### 8.2 | Advancement flap

### 8.2.1 | Review questions for advancement flap in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for advancement flap?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following advancement flap in cryptoglandular fistula?
- 3. What are the outcomes of advancement flap compared with outcomes of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

#### 8.2.2 | Indications for advancement flap

Rectal advancement flaps, subsequently referred to as advancement flaps, were initially described in rectovaginal fistulas and later adapted as a sphincter-preserving strategy for complex anal fistulas [95]. Different types of advancement flaps have been described based on the thickness of the flap, or level of involvement of the IAS muscle. The three main types of advancement flap are mucosal, partial or full thickness. Full-thickness flaps involve the entire IAS. The fistula tract is managed either with curettage or with core-out fistulectomy.

#### 8.2.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following advancement flap in cryptoglandular anal fistula

Literature search found a systematic review by Stellingwerf et al. [96] in which the overall rate of fistula healing following use of

advancement flap in cryptoglandular anal fistula was assessed. A meta-analysis has also been conducted by Balciscueta et al. [97], of studies reporting outcomes in recurrence and incontinence following treatment with mucosal, partial and full-thickness advancement flaps. Although they did not report overall fistula healing rate as an outcome, they assessed recurrence rate based on flap thickness.

#### Fistula healing

Stellingwerf et al. [96] reported an overall rate of fistula healing, following the use of advancement flap in high cryptoglandular anal fistula, of 74.6% (95% CI: 65.6–83.7). The weighted overall success rate was based on observational studies.

Balciscueta et al. conducted a pooled analysis of 25 observational studies and one RCT (1655 patients) on the use of advancement flap in complex cryptoglandular anal fistula. They found an overall fistula recurrence rate of 21% (95% CI: 15.3%-26.8%) at a mean follow-up of 30.3 months. The fistula recurrence rate in individual studies ranged from 0% to 47.2%. There was significant heterogeneity between studies ( $l^2 = 90.3\%$ , p < 0.0001), especially in studies of mucosal-thickness advancement flaps (MTAF;  $l^2 = 93.1\%$ , p < 0.001) and partial-thickness advancement flaps (PTAF;  $l^2 = 81.6\%$ , p < 0.001). Low heterogeneity was noted between studies of full-thickness advancement flaps (FTAF;  $l^2 = 28.9\%$ , p = 0.3). Heterogeneity was reduced by conducting a sensitivity analysis according to quality of data. This led to the exclusion of outlier studies, which improved the pooled recurrence rate to 19% (95% CI: 15.5%-22.6%). Subgroup analysis found that the lowest recurrence rate occurred for FTAF (7.4%, 95% CI: 4%-10%), followed by PTAF (22.9%, 95% CI: 15.6%-30.2%) and then MTAF (26.7%, 95% CI: 13.7%-39.7%). Balciscueta et al. also found no marked difference in the recurrence rate between curettage (18.9%, 95% CI: 14.9%-23%) and core-out fistulectomy (21%, 95% CI: 14.9%-25.5%) [97].

Balciscueta et al. included one RCT in which partial-thickness and mucosal advancement flaps were compared; it was found that PTAFs resulted in a significantly higher overall healing rate than MTAFs (90% vs. 60%, p < 0.05) [97].

#### Incontinence

Pooled rates of incontinence were reported by Stellingwerf et al. [96]; however separate analyses of the outcomes following use of advancement flap in patients with cryptoglandular and Crohn's perianal fistula were not carried out due to the small number of studies. The weighted incontinence rate reported by Stellingwerf et al., of nine studies, was 7.8% (95% Cl: 3.3%-12.4%,  $l^2 = 56.7\%$ ).

Balciscueta et al. [97] included 12 studies in their analysis of the effect of advancement flap on incontinence. Most of the incontinence symptoms were defined as minor. Pooled analysis of the incontinence rate following MTAF was 9.3% (95% CI: 5.4%–13.1%,  $l^2=39.4\%$ ; p=0.17), for PTAF it was 10.2% (95% CI: 0.5%–14.6%,  $l^2=0\%$ ; p=1.0) and for FTAF it was 20.4% (95% CI: 14.2%–26.6%,  $l^2=44.5\%$ ; p=0.17). Subgroup analysis found that the incontinence rate following core-out fistulectomy was 14.3% (95% CI:

7.2%-21.3%,  $l^2 = 78.83\%$ ; p < 0.001) and following curettage it was 12% (95% CI: 4%-19.2%,  $l^2 = 49.5\%$ ; p = 0.1) [97]. There were no significant differences in recurrence rates and incontinence between core-out and curettage of the fistula tract. Mean follow up was 30.3 months (95% CI: 29-31.6) months.

Increasing flap thickness decreases the fistula recurrence rate. Full-thickness flaps are associated with a lower rate of fistula recurrence compared with partial-thickness or mucosal flaps, which could be attributed to maintenance of vascularity. However, increasing the flap thickness increases the risk of faecal incontinence. Mucosal flaps are associated with a lower risk of incontinence compared with partial-thickness and full-thickness flaps. It is important to note that most of the incontinence reported was minor incontinence only.

The limitations of the studies reporting incontinence include the use of various measurement tools for incontinence, heterogenous fistula complexity and the probable variation in surgical technique that is likely to affect the outcomes of flaps of different thickness.

The GRADE assessment has been performed on the only available RCT of partial-thickness and mucosal advancement flaps in cryptoglandular anal fistula. GRADE assessment of observational studies on advancement flaps would yield low to very-low certainty of evidence. The GDG developed recommendations based on the outcomes of the two systematic reviews of observational studies of advancement flaps in cryptoglandular anal fistula [Stellingwerf 2019, Balciscueta 2017] and consensus of expert opinion. The ROBIS assessment of the study by Stellingwerf et al. demonstrates low risk of bias, while the study by Balciscueta et al. was found to have high risk of bias.

Advancement flap has a high rate of fistula healing and is associated with minor incontinence which increased in severity with increases in flap thickness.

Grade

Question: Partial-thickness rectal advancement flap compared with mucosal advancement flap for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Khafagy 2010

cryptoglandular anal fistula. This is discussed in the section pertaining to LIFT.

There is one RCT in which mucosal advancement flap is compared with fibrin glue in the treatment of cryptoglandular fistula [85]. This is discussed further under the section pertaining to fibrin glue.

Recommendations

- Advancement flap should be used for the management of high anal fistula. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- There are insufficient data to recommend either core-out or curettage as superior when used with rectal advancement flap. Either method *could be selected*. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 8.3 | Ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract

Ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract can be used in simple and complex perianal fistulas. The procedure involves identifying the tract in the intersphincteric space, dividing it there and ligating it at the level of the EAS and IAS.

### 8.3.1 | Review questions for LIFT in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for LIFT?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of LIFT in cryptoglandular fistula?
- 3. What are the outcomes of LIFT compared with those of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

	Certaint	y assessment						No, of patients		Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Partial-thickness rectal advancement flap	Mucosal advancement flap	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected	18/20 (90.0)	12/20 (60.0)	RR=1.50 (1.02-2.21)	300 more per 1000 (from 12 more to 726 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>c</sup>	Publication bias strongly	2/20 (10.0)	0/20 (0.0)	RR=5.00 (0.26-98.00)	0 fewer per 1000 (from 0 fewer to 0 fewer)	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Single study, small number of cases. <sup>b</sup>Selection bias. <sup>c</sup>Wide confidence intervals.

### 8.2.4 | Outcomes of advancement flap compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

There are two RCTs in which outcomes following treatment with LIFT are compared with outcomes following advancement flap in

#### 4. What are the indications for BioLIFT?

#### 8.3.2 | Indications for LIFT

The LIFT procedure is a sphincter-preserving technique for transsphincteric anal fistula. The fistula tract should cross the intersphincteric space relatively directly and not travel within it. There should be no intersphincteric complexity (such as branching or

169

horseshoeing), the intersphincteric space must be appreciable and the IAS should be intact, meaning a small internal opening without IAS loss. There should also be adequate space cephalad to the fistula to dissect around the fistula completely without risk to rectal wall or vagina, making some very high tracts unsuitable for LIFT.

### 8.3.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of LIFT

#### Fistula healing

Literature search identified the most recent meta-analysis, conducted by Stellingwerf et al. [96], in which fistula healing following advancement flap and LIFT in cryptoglandular and Crohn's perianal fistula was assessed. Subgroup analysis included eight studies of LIFT in patients with cryptoglandular anal fistula with a median follow-up of 12 months. There were only two RCTs of LIFT. Pooled weighted analysis found a success rate, for LIFT, of 69.1% (95% CI: 53.9%–84.3%) [96]. There was high heterogeneity between studies, of  $l^2=91.3\%$ .

In the meta-analysis by Emile et al. [99], some recurrences of fistula following LIFT were treated with a fistulotomy or simple curettage. Although the LIFT procedure may not have healed the fistula, it succeeded in downstaging the fistula tract from transsphincteric to intersphincteric, which would qualify for a fistulotomy. This represents true secondary success. Some tracts recurred in the same morphology as the original fistula. A proportion of patients then underwent a repeat LIFT procedure with a successful outcome, implying that LIFT may still be a valid option after initial failure. Some patients in whom LIFT fails, seem to develop both recurrence of the original transsphincteric fistula and a new tract in the intersphincteric wound created during the LIFT procedure. These patients have 'upstaging' of their fistula, which is now more complex and difficult to treat.

Factors associated with persistence or recurrence following LIFT surgery include horseshoe fistulas, fistulas associated with Crohn's disease and a history of previous fistula surgery [99]. Horseshoe fistulas are challenging to treat and are a determinant factor for failure following LIFT. Recurrence following previous surgery is challenging to treat because of postoperative scarring and fibrosis obscuring the anatomical planes. This can sometimes cause associated extensions and collections that are difficult to identify. Meta-analysis demonstrated that previous surgery was a predictor for failure following LIFT repair [99].

#### Incontinence

Stellingwerf et al. [96] reported an incontinence rate of 1.6% (95% CI: 0.4%–2.8%) in patients following LIFT. This is similar to the rate reported in the meta-analysis published by Emile et al. [99], namely that incontinence of a minor grade was 1.4%. The weighted mean rate of faecal incontinence was 0.6% [99].

The authors state that it is not fully understood why a LIFT procedure would result in incontinence, given that the anal sphincters are completely spared. They have postulated that there may be a degree of compromise to the IAS during dissection in the intersphincteric space [99].

### 8.3.4 | Outcomes of LIFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

A meta-analysis of surgical management of cryptoglandular anal fistula included two RCTs in which LIFT was compared with advancement flap (the control group); no statistically significant difference in fistula healing rate was found between LIFT and advancement flap [100, 101]. In the LIFT group, the fistula healing rate was 85% compared with 79.5% in the advancement flap group. There was no significant difference in postoperative incontinence. Pooled analysis of incontinence yielded an RR of 0.20 (95% CI: 0.02–1.74, p=0.14,  $l^2=0$ %). Postoperative pain scores were significantly lower in the LIFT group than in the advancement flap group [102]. Our metaanalysis is presented in Figures 7 and 8.

There were no statistically significant differences in fistula healing. The main outcome of interest was that LIFT seemed to be associated with less postoperative pain than advancement flap.

#### Meta-analysis of RCTs GRADE

Question: LIFT compared with advancement flap for anal fistula Bibliography: Mushaya 2012, Madbouly 2014

	Certaint	ty assessment						No. of pati	ents	Effect			
Outome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	LIFT	Advancement flap	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	2	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None <sup>a</sup>	51/60 (85.0)	39/49 (79.6)	RR=1.04 (0.88-1.24)	32 more per 1000 (from 96 fewer to 191 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	2	Randomized trials	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b</sup>	None <sup>a</sup>	0/60 (0.0)	3/49 (6.1)	RR=0.20 (0.02-1.74)	49 fewer per 1000 (from 60 fewer to 45 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Pain	2	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>a</sup>	Pain scores the AF g	s in the LIFT grou roup in the first 1	p were significant -2 weeks followii	ly lower than those in ng the procedure.	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	IMPORTANT

Abbreviations: AF, advancement flap; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Small sample size in both studies. <sup>b</sup>Wide confidence intervals.



FIGURE 7 Outcome: Fistula healing. AF, advancement flap; LIFT, ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract.

	LIFT AF Events Total Events Total				Risk Ratio				Risk F	Ratio			
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% Cl	Year		M-	H, Fixed	d, 95% CI		
Mushaya (2012)	0	25	1	14	43.2%	0.19 [0.01, 4.43]	2012	←					
Madbouly (2014)	0	35	2	35	56.8%	0.20 [0.01, 4.02]	2014	•					
Total (95% CI)		60		49	100.0%	0.20 [0.02, 1.74]					-		
Total events	0		3										
Heterogeneity: Chi <sup>2</sup> = Test for overall effect:	0.00, df $Z = 1.46$	= 1 (p 5 (p = 0	= 0.99); 0.14)	$I^2 = 0\%$				0.01	0.1	LIFT	+ 10 Advancemer	) nt flap	100

FIGURE 8 Outcome: Incontinence. AF, advancement flap; LIFT, ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract.

#### BioLIFT

In this modification to LIFT, a bioprosthetic mesh is placed between the ligated ends of the intersphincteric portion of the fistula tract. The use of BioLIFT has been described in two studies with a total of 44 patients; an overall success rate of 60%–68.8% was reported at a mean follow-up of around 2 years. There are no randomized data comparing LIFT with BioLIFT, so a comparison between the two procedures cannot be made.

Recommendations

- LIFT should be used in the primary treatment of new, high transsphincteric fistulas. Low-level evidence. [Upgraded by GDG, expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of BioLIFT because of the lack of high-level evidence for efficacy and long-term outcomes. Low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 8.4 Video-assisted anal fistula treatment

### 8.4.1 | Review questions for video-assisted anal fistula treatment in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- What are the indications for video-assisted anal fistula treatment (VAAFT)?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of VAAFT in cryptoglandular fistula?
- 3. What are the outcomes of VAAFT compared with those of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

#### 8.4.2 | Indications for VAAFT

Video-assisted anal fistula treatment is a relatively new procedure that has been used in patients with complex fistulas for diagnostic and therapeutic purposes [103]. There are observational studies of VAAFT in cryptoglandular and Crohn's anal fistula. There are no RCTs. The main advantage of VAAFT is described as the ability to identify the internal opening of the fistula using fistuloscopy and fulgurate the fistula tract under direct vision. However, the straight fistuloscope is a drawback of VAAFT in horseshoe fistula [103]. In observational studies, VAAFT has been combined with closure of the internal opening using suture, staple or a flap procedure [104]. More recently, VAAFT has been considered as more of a diagnostic and preparatory tool than a therapeutic tool, as a specific method of closure always has to be added to the procedure. It is not always clear if the proposed reported benefits of VAAFT are a result of application of the fistuloscope or the novel closure methods used in conjunction.

### 8.4.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of VAAFT

#### Fistula healing

Garg et al. [104] published a systematic review and meta-analysis of eight observational studies and found that, following VAAFT, fistula healing ranged from 52.5% to 92.5% and the net pooled rate after proportional meta-analysis using a random effects model was 76.01% (95% CI: 68.1%-83.9%,  $l^2$ =82.4%).

Emile et al. [105] published a systematic review and meta-analysis of 11 studies, in which a fistula recurrence rate of 14.2%, at a median follow-up of 9 (range: 3.2–34) months, was reported following VAAFT. Using the random effects model, the weighted mean recurrence rate across the studies was 17.7% (95% CI: 11.8%–23.7%,  $l^2 = 69.5\%$ , p < 0.001). Redo VAAFT was applied in 58% of instances of fistula recurrence [105]. This systematic review includes one study in which 13 patients with perianal fistulas caused by Crohn's disease were treated using VAAFT.

171



#### Incontinence

In the systematic review by Garg et al., incontinence was reported in six studies [Selvarajan 2015, Liu 2015, Chowbey 2015, Walega 2014, Meinero 2014, Kochhar 2014]. Anal manometry was used in one study [Kochhar 2014] and an objective scoring scale, the Faecal Incontinence Severity Index (FISI), was used in one study [Walega 2014]. In the other studies, incontinence was not measured using a validated scoring system [Selvarajan 2015, Liu 2015, Chowbey 2015, Meinero 2014]. No study reported a significant deterioration in continence.

### 8.4.4 | Outcomes of VAAFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

No studies have been found in which VAAFT has been compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures.

#### GRADE

Question: What are the outcomes of VAAFT in anal fistula? Bibliography: Selvarajan 2015, Liu 2015, Zarin 2015, Chowbey 2015, Walega 2014, Meinero 2014, Kochhar 2014, Mendes 2014 3. What are the outcomes of LAFT compared with those of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

#### 8.5.2 | Indications for LAFT

Laser ablation of fistula tract was first described by Wilhelm et al., in 2011 [106], in 11 patients with cryptoglandular anal fistula. In all patients, the perianal abscess was initially drained, the internal opening was identified and a seton was inserted for drainage. Fistula repair was attempted at a later date, whereby the internal opening was closed using an advancement, anodermal or mucosal flap, and the remaining tract was obliterated using a radially emitting laser probe. Laser therapy is thought to destroy the fistula epithelium, promote healing and reduce the chance of persistence without significantly affecting the sphincter complex. The LAFT procedure has been used to treat fistula tracts with or without closure of the internal opening [107]. Wilhelm et al. [106] describes the use of LAFT in straight fistulas (without branching or horseshoeing) with a narrow calibre (diameter not specified).

	Certaint	y assessment								
Outcome assessed	No.of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	8	Observational	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	a	Pooled rate of fistula healing was 76% using proportional meta- analysis (Garg et al.). Chowbey (2015) reported a 73.8% healing rate in 416 patients, Meinero (2014) reported a 70% healing rate in 203 patients and Kochhar (2014) reported an 84% healing rate in 82 patients. Selvarajan 2015 reported a healing rate of only 52% for eight patients	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	5	Observational	Serious <sup>c,d</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	a	No significant change in continence was reported	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Small sample size. <sup>b</sup>Selection bias. <sup>c</sup>Heterogeneity in fistula complexity, closure of internal opening and duration of follow-up. Only two studies (Chowbey 2015, Meinero 2014) had a follow-up of at least 12 months. In four studies (Liu 2015, Chowbey 2015, Walega 2014, Zarin 2015) there were no defined inclusion and exclusion criteria. Chowbey 2015 could not identify the internal opening in 24% (100) patients. <sup>d</sup>Rates of incontinence were not reported in two studies. Various tools were used to measure incontinence in the other studies. Only in one study was a validated scoring system used to assess postoperative incontinence.

Efficacy of VAAFT is unclear and further studies are required to assess the long-term outcomes of VAAFT on incontinence, fistula recurrence and quality of life.

Recommendations

• VAAFT can be considered in the management of complex perianal fistula. Very low-level evidence.

#### 8.5 | Laser ablation of fistula tract

### 8.5.1 | Review questions for LAFT in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for LAFT?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of LAFT in cryptoglandular fistula?

### 8.5.3 | Effect of LAFT on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence

Literature search found two meta-analyses published in 2019 [108] and 2020 [109]. Both included observational studies of fistula closure following laser therapy in patients with cryptoglandular and Crohn's perianal fistula.

#### Fistula healing

Elfeki et al. conducted a systematic review of seven studies including 454 patients. Three studies reported outcomes of LAFT in cryptoglandular anal fistula [Terzi 2018, Ozturk 2014, Quaresimini 2016], two studies included patients with Crohn's and cryptoglandular anal fistula [Giamundo 2015, Wilhelm 2017] and two studies did not specify fistula aetiology [Donmez 2017 and Lauretta 2018] [108]. Fistulas of variable complexity were included, comprising transsphincteric (69.1%),



FIGURE 9 Outcome: Fistula healing, AFP, anal fistula plug; RAF, rectal advancement flap,

intersphincteric (20.93%), suprasphincteric or extrasphincteric (8.37%) and superficial (1.54%). Recurrent fistulas (35%) were also included in the studies. The primary outcome was the primary healing rate of the fistula following the first LAFT procedure. Secondary outcomes were secondary healing rates if LAFT was reattempted. Failure was defined as non-healing or recurrence of the fistula. Pooled analysis was reported as weighted mean rates. The primary healing rate was 67.3% (95% CI: 51.3%-83.4%, l<sup>2</sup>=4.2%, p<0.001). Repeat of the LAFT procedure in 19 patients achieved a 42% success rate. The overall healing rate was reported as 69.7% (95% CI: 54.4%-85.0%, I<sup>2</sup>=93.9%, p < 0.001). The median follow-up was 23.7 months.

Frountzas et al. conducted a similar meta-analysis but included an additional case series [Marref 2019] of 69 patients with Crohn's anal fistula (9%) and cryptoglandular anal fistula (91%). Pooled analysis found a fistula healing rate of 63% (95% CI: 50%-75%,  $I^2 = 87.63\%$ ).

There is significant heterogeneity between studies in terms of fistula aetiology, tract complexity, thickness of laser diode, wattage of energy applied, speed of diode retraction and treatment of the internal opening. All studies used a radial laser fibre with a wavelength of 1470 nm but with various wattage of energy applied, ranging between 10 and 12 W. The speed of fibre withdrawal also varied, but most studies withdrew the fibre at a speed of 1mm/s. Median follow-up was longer than 12months in all studies except for that by Marref et al., which had the shortest follow-up, of 6.3 months [110].

All studies apart from Wilhelm et al. reported the effect of LAFT without any additional treatment to the internal opening. Wilhelm et al. [106] closed the internal opening in all patients in addition to performing laser therapy of the fistula tract. Wilhelm et al. included the largest number of patients (n = 117) and found a primary fistula healing rate of 64% for cryptoglandular anal fistula. The overall fistula healing rate (following a second treatment with LAFT) was 85.5% in cryptoglandular anal fistula, which is similar to the healing rate reported by others [Giamundo 2015, Ozturk 2014, and Donmez 2017], in which no additional steps were taken to close the internal opening [111-113].

Since publication of the systematic review by Elfeki et al., on the outcomes following LAFT, three further observational series have been published on the use of LAFT. Giamundo et al. published their 10-year experience of LAFT with closure of the internal opening in cryptoglandular anal fistula in 175 patients, and a median follow-up

of 60 months. A primary healing rate of 66.8% was reported in their study, which is similar to the rates presented in the meta-analysis by Elfeki et al., of previous observational studies. Giamundo et al. found a significant difference in fistula healing rate between patients treated with a drainage seton preceding LAFT and those who were not treated with seton drainage (70.4% with draining seton vs. 51.5% with no draining seton, p < 0.03 [94]. Wolicki et al. [114] published their series of LAFT in 83 patients with a median follow-up of 42 months; the majority of fistulas treated were of cryptoglandular aetiology and two were related to Crohn's disease. The primary healing rate was 74.7%. The overall healing rate following a second LAFT procedure did not improve substantially, at 78.3%. Isik et al. published outcomes of 100 patients following LAFT with a median follow-up of 48 months. They reported an overall success rate of 62% [115].

Elfeki et al. [108] suggested that failure may be attributed to several factors, including undetected secondary tracts and inadequate fistula tract drainage using a draining seton prior to LAFT. Ozturk et al. [112] suggested curetting the tract to enhance the sealing effect of the laser. In most studies, the fistula tracts were prepared using a draining seton to ensure adequate drainage of sepsis prior to LAFT treatment [94, 108].

#### Incontinence

Elfeki et al. found a 1% weighted mean rate of incontinence in the form of minor soiling. This outcome was not measured objectively using validated scores in any study. The radial thermal damage to the sphincter could affect incontinence. It is assumed that repeated LAFT may have a cumulative effect and cause sphincter damage [116].

#### 8.5.4 | Outcomes of LAFT compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

Laser ablation of fistula tract has not been compared in an RCT with other sphincter-preserving procedures. Recommendations will be based on observational series only.

GRADE

Question: What are the outcomes of LAFT in anal fistula?

Bibliography: Ozturk 2014, Giamundo 2015, Quaresimini 2016, Wilhelm 2017, Domes 2017, Terzi 2018, Lauretta 2018, Giamundo 2021, Isik 2020, Wolicki 2021

174	SCP	Gerenander-								REZA ET AL.
	Certainty asse	ssment								
Outcomes assessed	No.of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance

				,					,	
Fistula healing	10	Observational	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Serious <sup>d</sup>	Not serious	Serious <sup>a</sup>	e	Elfeki et al. reported a 67.3% weighted mean rate of primary healing <sup>d</sup>	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	6	Observational	Serious <sup>a,f</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>a,f</sup>	a	Wilhelm et al. reported four patients with minor soiling <sup>f</sup>	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Small sample size. <sup>b</sup>Possible selection bias. <sup>c</sup>Heterogeneity in fistula aetiology, complexity, tract length, secondary tracts, thickness of diode, wattage of laser energy and treatment of internal opening. Wilhelm et al. and Giamundo et al. had the largest cohort of patients with cryptoglandular anal fistula and closed the internal opening using an advancement flap whereas the other studies did not. <sup>d</sup>Ozturk 2014, Giamundo 2015, Quaresimini 2016, Wilhelm 2017, Donmez 2017, Isik 2020 and Wolicki 2021, reported an overall fistula healing rate of 62%–93%, whereas Terzi 2018 and Lauretta 2018 reported a healing rate of 40%. <sup>e</sup>High statistical heterogeneity and small sample size. <sup>f</sup>Validated tools were not used in all studies to measure incontinence.

Recommendations

- LAFT can be considered in patients with a high anal fistula. Very low-level evidence.
- Repeated LAFT *can be considered* in patients following primary failure from the first attempt. However, repeat procedures should be undertaken with caution as the cumulative effect of LAFT on the sphincter complex is unknown. *Very low-level evidence.* [GDG expert opinion]

#### 8.6 | Fistula plug

### 8.6.1 | Review questions for fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula

- 1. What are the indications for fistula plug?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following the use of fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula compared with the use of rectal advancement flap?
- 3. What are the outcomes of fistula plug compared with those of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

#### 8.6.2 | Indications for fistula plug

Anal fistula plug was first described in 2006 as a simple, minimally invasive sphincter-preserving procedure to achieve closure of a primary fistula tract. The efficacy of fistula plug is not well established because of the variable rates of fistula healing and recurrence reported in published studies. Fistula plug has been compared with rectal advancement flap, an established procedure used in the management of complex anal fistula. Anal fistula plugs have been mostly trialled in patients with complex anal fistula. The current literature is mainly limited by small patient cohorts and short-term follow-up (less than 12 months).

#### 8.6.3 | Effects on fistula healing,

recurrence and incontinence following the use of fistula plug in cryptoglandular fistula compared with rectal advancement flap

#### Fistula healing

Literature search found a meta-analysis conducted by Lin et al. which included subgroup analysis of fistula healing, recurrence, and complication rates from five RCTs (in which rectal advancement flap was compared with anal fistula plug in cryptoglandular anal fistula) and from six non-RCT studies of fistula plug [117]. Analysis of the RCTs found an overall fistula healing rate of 52% in the anal fistula plug group and 65% in the rectal advancement flap group. Pooled analysis using a random effects model found no difference in fistula healing in the RCTs (OR=0.46, 95% CI: 0.16–1.34, p=0.16).

However, subgroup analysis of four RCTs [Ortiz 2009, Van Koperen 2011, Schwandner 2013, Bondi 2017] with a median follow-up of at least 12months, excluding Ba-bai-ke-re et al., in which a shorter follow-up interval was reported, yielded different results. Patients in the rectal advancement flap group were found to have a significantly higher healing rate than patients in the anal fistula plug group (healing rate: 48% for rectal advancement flap vs. 29% for anal fistula plug; OR=0.32, 95% CI: 0.13–0.78, p=0.01). Heterogeneity was high because of inclusion of the study by Ortiz et al. [118], which stopped recruitment at 3 months because of a high recurrence rate in the anal fistula plug group. Further analysis with exclusion of this study did not change outcomes. Our meta-analysis is presented in Figure 9.

A scatter plot was produced to demonstrate healing rate at 12 months for anal fistula plug compared with rectal advancement flap. The scatter plot showed that, at a follow-up of 12 months, the healing rate following treatment with rectal advancement flap was higher than that following treatment with anal fistula plug. The healing rate was greater than 60% in the rectal advancement flap group, whereas none of the studies achieved a healing rate of 60% at 12 months in the anal fistula plug group.

#### Incontinence

Lin et al. assessed the overall rate of complications, including incontinence, bleeding and infection, following treatment with an anal fistula plug. In only one study was incontinence assessed using a validated scoring system. There was no significant difference in incontinence between groups [119]. Data on complications were available from three RCTs; a complication rate of 7.7% was reported for the anal fistula plug group and a complication rate of 6.7% was reported for the rectal advancement flap group [118–120]. There was no significant difference in complications between groups from RCTs (OR = 1.16; 95% CI: 0.34–3.94, p=0.81).

#### Pain

Lin et al. found three RCTs [Bondi 2017, van Koperen 2011, Ba-baike-re 2010] in which postoperative pain measured; however, different pain-measurement methods were used among these studies which prevented meta-analysis of results. Ba-bai-ke-re et al. found that patients treated with anal fistula plug had a shorter duration of postoperative pain [120]. No significant differences in postoperative pain between groups were reported in the other two RCTs [119, 121].

#### Meta-analysis of RCTs

#### GRADE

**Question:** Fistula plug compared with rectal advancement flap for anal fistula

**Bibliography:** Ortiz 2009, Ba-bai-ke-re 2010, Van Koperen 2011, Schwandner 2013, Bondi 2017

304 patients randomized to fistula plug, cutting seton, fistulotomy, advancement flap and the LIFT procedure for treatment of transsphincteric anal fistula. Preoperative MRI confirmed fistula anatomy. The primary outcome was faecal incontinence quality of life (FiQoL). There were no differences in quality of life between groups. Twelve months post-treatment, fistula healing occured in 54% of patients treated with a fistula plug compared fistula healing in 55% of patients treated according to surgeon's preference. There were no differences in overall rate of fistula healing between patients treated with a fistula plug and those treated according to their surgeon's preference. Plug extrusion rate was 16%. A higher rate of unexpected pain (65%) was reported

	Certain	ty assessment						No. of patient	s	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study decide	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Fistula plug	Rectal advancement flap	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	4	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	53/128 (41.4)	83/126 (65.9)	RR=0.63 (0.50-0.80)	244 fewer per 1000 (from 329 fewer to 132 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>d</sup>	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>b</sup>	9/31 (29.0)	14/29 (48.3)	RR=0.60 (0.31-1.17)	193 fewer per 1000 (from 333 fewer to 82 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Pain	3	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>b,c</sup>	Serious <sup>b,c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	None	There were no significant differences in pain scores between gr in most studies, except for Ba-bai-ke-re et al. who found that patients treated with anal fistula plug had a shorter period of postoperative pain			ores between groups . who found that shorter period of	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	IMPORTANT

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Attrition bias. <sup>b</sup>Small sample size. <sup>c</sup>Different methods used to assess postoperative pain.

### 8.6.4 | Outcomes of fistula plug compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

Jayne et al. published results from FIAT (Fistula-In-Ano-trial) in 2021. This was a multicentre RCT in which safety, efficacy and cost-effectiveness were compared between patients treated with anal fistula plug and patients treated according to their surgeon's preference (cutting seton, fistulotomy, advancement flap, and LIFT). This trial included by patients treated with fistula plug than by patients treated with surgeon's preference (36%). The pooled rate of complications, including unexpected pain, septic events and bleeding, were also significantly higher in the group of patients treated with a fistula plug (35%) than in the control group (18%) (RR=1.89; 95% CI: 1.24–2.88, p=0.002). There was no difference in FiQoL scores between groups.

GRADE

Question: Fistula plug compared with fistulotomy/cutting seton/ advancement flap/LIFT for anal fistula

Bibliography: Jayne 2021

	Certaint	y assessment						No. of pa	tients	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Fistula plug	Fistulotomy/ cutting seton/ advancement flap/LIFT	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Complications	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	None	49/142 (34.5)	25/137 (18.2)	RR=1.89 (1.24-2.97)	162 more per 1000 (from 44 more to 359 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	IMPORTAN <sup>®</sup>
Pain	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	None	32/49 (65.3)	9/25 (36.0)	RR=1.81 (1.03-3.18)	292 more per 1000 (from 11 more to 785 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	IMPORTAN
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	66/122 (54.1)	66/119 (55.5)	RR=0.98 (0.78-1.23)	11 fewer per 1000 (from 122 fewer to 128 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	3.22	3.65	-	MD 0.44 lower (1.66 lower to 0.79 higher)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: MD, mean difference; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Wide confidence intervals. <sup>b</sup>Small sample size. <sup>c</sup>Selection bias.

The meta-analysis of RCTs of fistula plug and rectal advancement flap demonstrate that healing rates at 12 months are higher following treatment with advancement flap than with fistula plug and that there are no differences in the outcome for pain. The FIAT trial found that pain and complications were increased with the use of fistula plug compared with the surgeons' own preference of treatment without demonstrating any increase in the rate of fistula healing with the use of fistula plug. This was considered by the GDG in the development of the recommendation. Whilst advancement flap is superior in terms of healing in those patients suitable for treatment with either technique, the fistula plug remains an option for appropriate fistulas.

Recommendations

• Fistula plug can be considered in the management of anal fistula. *Low-level evidence*. [Downgraded by GDG, expert opinion]

#### 8.7 | Over-the-scope clip

Over-the-scope clip involves the placement of a self-contracting nitinol clip to close the internal opening of a fistula tract. This was first described in 2012 by Prosst et al. [122], in a case series of 10 patients; since then, several retrospective and prospective studies have been reported [123–128]. The primary limitations of the existing studies are the heterogenous nature of the groups of patients included in the study and limited follow-up data. Outcomes are reported in mixed series, including for fistulas of cryptoglandular and Crohn's aetiology, fistulas of simple and complex classifications, recurrent fistulas and rectovaginal fistulas. This heterogenous nature of reporting precludes meta-analysis and identification of subpopulations in whom OTSC may be of benefit.

Proponents claim that the malleable nature of the clip means that it will flex with tissue expansion and contraction, thus maintaining a consistent pressure on the tissues, which leads to a more effective closure of the internal opening.

### 8.7.1 | Review questions for OTSC in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for OTSC?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following treatment with OTSC in cryptoglandular fistula?

3. What are the outcomes of OTSC compared with the outcomes of other sphincter-preserving procedures?

#### 8.7.2 | Indications for OTSC

Over-the-scope clip has been used in simple and complex fistulas. It is a sphincter-preserving strategy, developed to close the internal opening and promote fistula closure without the potential risk of incontinence. The existing literature reports better outcomes in fistula healing following OTSC as a primary procedure compared with OTSC as a secondary or salvage procedure for recurrent anal fistula [129].

### 8.7.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following treatment with OTSC

There are only three studies in which outcomes after treatment with OTSC are reported exclusively for cryptoglandular anal fistula [123, 126, 130]. The rate of fistula healing ranged from 47% to 90% and included patients with various levels of fistula complexity. Pooled analysis showed a fistula healing rate of 67% in 61 patients. Follow-up data were limited to less than 6 months in two studies [126, 130]. Dango et al. [123] had the longest median follow-up, of 36.9 months and reported a fistula recurrence rate of 41%. In Dango et al., no significant postoperative pain was reported, as measured using a visual analogue scale. Prosst et al. [130] reported that two patients required elective removal of the OTSC because of pain and clip migration. Incontinence either was not reported [129] or was not measured [126, 129] in the studies.

GRADE

**Question:** Outcomes of treatment with an OTSC in adults with an anal fistula

Bibliography: Prosst 2014, Dango 2017, Grossberg 2020

	Certainty	assessment								
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	3	Observational	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Serious	Serious <sup>b</sup>		Prosst et al. (2014) reported 90% fistula healing in 20 patients at 6 months of follow-up	⊕○○○ Very low	CRITICAL
Pain	2	Observational	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Serious <sup>c</sup>	Serious <sup>d</sup>	Serious		Dango et al. measured pain using VAS and noted complications such as necrosis, ulceration and foreign-body reaction. There were no significant pain or other complications reported in their series. Prosst et al. did not measure pain using an objective scoring system	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: VAS, visual analogue scale.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Heterogeneous fistula anatomy. <sup>b</sup>No objective measurement tool/assessment protocol of fistula healing. <sup>c</sup>Short-term follow-up. <sup>d</sup>Pain assessment score not used to measure pain.

### 8.7.4 | Outcomes of OTSC compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

Over-the-scope clip has been compared with FISR in an RCT for patients with low transsphincteric cryptoglandular anal fistula [74]. Patients were randomized in a 1:1 consecutive process to either OTSC (n=15) or FISR (n=15). All patients completed a 3-year follow-up. Primary outcomes were fistula healing at 12 months and recurrence at 3 years. Incontinence was measured using the Wexner score at 60 days. The fistula healing rate was 93% in the OTSC group and 100% in the FISR group. There were no significant differences in the Wexner scores at the 2-month follow-up. One patient required early clip removal because of pain, and one patient presented with recurrence of symptoms at 30 days post-surgery.

GRADE

Question: OTSC compared with FISR for anal fistula Bibliography: Mascagni 2018 3. What are the outcomes of anocutaneous flap compared with the outcomes of other sphincter-preserving proced-ures?

#### 8.8.2 | Indications for anocutaneous flap

Anocutaneous flaps have been used in simple and complex fistulas. There is one RCT in which outcomes in transsphincteric anal fistula following treatment with anocuatenous flap (also known as dermal island flap) have been compared with outcomes following conventional therapy, such as fistulotomy or seton insertion. This study recruited only 10 patients to each arm, and all patients had preoperative EAUS to delineate the anatomy of their fistula [95].

	Certain	y assessment						No. of patient	ts	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	отѕс	FISR	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	14/15 (93.3)	15/15 (100.0)	RR=0.94 (0.78-1.12)	6 fewer per 100 (from 22 fewer to 12 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>c</sup>	After 1 month, the Wexner score was 0 for the OTSC group and for the FIPS group. At the 2-month follow-up there were sco suggesting no postoperative incontinence in either group				⊕⊕⊖⊖Low	

Abbreviations: FISR, fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Unclear randomization yields concern for allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>Small sample size. <sup>c</sup>One study with a small sample size.

Variable rates of fistula healing following treatment with OTSC have been reported in observational studies. A high rate of fistula recurrence has been suggested in studies with a follow-up of longer than 12 months. The only RCT of OTSC included a small study sample with unclear methodology and a risk of bias but reported a high success rate in both OTSC and FISR arms.

Recommendations

• No recommendation can be made for the use of OTSC in the management of anal fistula. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 8.8 | Anocutaneous flap

8.8.1 | Review questions for anocutaneous flap in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for anocutaneous flap?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following treatment with anocutaenous flap?

### 8.8.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following anocutaenous flap

Ho et al. [95] reported no recurrence of fistula in patients in either arm (anocutaneous flap or fistulotomy/seton) of their RCT at a mean follow-up of 16 months. Faecal incontinence was measured at 16 weeks and no difference was found between the groups.

### 8.8.4 | Outcomes of anocutaneous flap compared with other sphincter-preserving procedures

There are no RCTs in which outcomes for anal fistula following treatment with anocutaneous flap are compared with outcomes following treatment with other sphincter-preserving procedures.

GRADE

Bibliography: Ho 2005

**Question:** Anocutaneous flap (Dermal island flap) compared with fistulotomy/seton insertion for anal fistula in adult patients

	-	-			-			- · ·					
	Certaint	y assessment						No. of patients		Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Dermal island flap	Fistulotomy/ seton insertion	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula recurrence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b</sup>		0/10 (0.0)	0/10 (0.0)	Not estimable		⊕○○○ Very low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b,d</sup>		0/10 (0.0)	0/10 (0.0)	Not estimable		⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>No mention of sequence generation or allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>Small sample size. <sup>c</sup>Control group consisted of patients who had fistulotomy or loose draining seton. <sup>d</sup>Short follow-up of 16 weeks.

### 



 178
 Image: I

tus are mostly missing in case series. One RCT is limited by small numbers, a very short follow-up of outcomes in continence and lacks other outcomes, such as pain and quality of life. The RCT was not adequately powered to produce any useful results for recommendations.

Recommendations

• No recommendation can be made for the use of anocutaneous flap in the management of anal fistula. *Very low-level evidence*. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 8.9 | Fibrin glue

### 8.9.1 | Review questions for fibrin glue in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for fibrin glue?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following treatment with fibrin glue?

#### Fibrin glue versus advancement flap

Van der Hagen et al. randomized patients with complex cryptoglandular anal fistula to treatment with either mucosal advancement flap or fibrin glue. The overall fistula healing rate was 40% for treatment with fibrin glue compared with 80% for mucosal advancement flap. Fistula recurrence was higher for patients in the fibrin glue group (60%) than for patients in the mucosal advancement flap group (20%) (p < 0.03) at a median 12-month follow-up. There was no difference between groups in median Vaizey incontinence scores after treatment and at 12 months.

GRADE

**Question:** Fibrin glue compared with mucosal advancement flap for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Van der Hagen 2011

	Certaint	y assessment						No. of patier	nts	Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Fibrin glue	MAF	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>a,c</sup>	None	6/15 (40.0)	12/15 (80.0)	RR=0.50 (0.26-0.98)	400 fewer per 1000 (from 592 fewer to 16 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Publication bias strongly suspected <sup>a</sup>	n The Vaizey incontinence score was used to measure postoperative ongly incontinence. There were no differences between groups in ed <sup>a</sup> incontinence scores postoperatively. Continence disturbance w not reported in either arm			ure postoperative veen groups in nce disturbance was	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: MAF, mucosal advancement flap; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Small number of patients. <sup>b</sup>Lack of allocation concealment. <sup>c</sup>Wide confidence interval.

#### 8.9.2 | Indications for fibrin glue

Fibrin glue has been used in simple, complex and recurrent anal fistulas. Many observational studies exist regarding the treatment of fistula using fibrin glue and these report variable rates of success. The observational studies are limited by heterogenous fistula aetiology, fistula anatomy and follow-up data of less than 12 months. It is unclear from these non-RCTs whether fibrin glue is at least equivalent to procedures that currently exist in the treatment of anal fistula [57, 131].

### 8.9.3 | Effects on fistula healing, recurrence and incontinence following treatment with fibrin glue

There are two RCTs in which treatment of anal fistula with fibrin glue is described [131]. Generally poor outcomes resulting from early fistula recurrence following the use of fibrin glue are reported. Van der Hagen et al. [132] compared the use of fibrin glue with advancement flap, and Altomare et al. [131] compared fibrin glue with seton.

#### Fibrin glue versus Seton

Altomare et al. (2009) compared outcomes of fibrin glue treatment with seton treatment in transsphincteric fistulas using a prospective randomized crossover trial. They used cutting or loose setons. Patients randomized to seton treatment following failure of previous treatment were given a loose seton. The overall rate of fistula healing was lower following treatment with fibrin glue (38%) than following treatment with seton (73.8%) (RR=0.51, 95% CI: 0.35-0.77) at a median follow-up of 12 months.

Altomare et al. also measured the change in continence using the Wexner score. There was significant worsening of continence function for patients in the seton group (mean Wexner score: 1.79–5.1, p=0.0017) than for patients in the fibrin glue group (mean Wexner score: 0.67–0.49, p=0.070).

GRADE

Question: Fibrin glue compared with cutting/loose seton for anal fistula

Bibliography: Altomare 2009

											<b>W</b>		Colopros	ctology
	Certaint	ty assessment						No. of pat	ients	Effect				
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Fibrin glue	Cutting/loose seton	Relative (95% CI)	Abso	olute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	19/50 (38.0)	31/42 (73.8)	RR=0.51 (0.35-0.77)	362 f (fr 17	fewer per 1000 om 480 fewer to '0 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trials	Serious <sup>c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	None	Change in Wexne functio	continence function r score. Seton grou n compared with fi	on after intervention p had a significant w brin glue group	ı was m orsenii	easured using ng of continence	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Unclear process of randomization. <sup>b</sup>Recurrences in the seton group were treated surgically and not randomized. <sup>c</sup>Recurrences in the seton group may have an increased chance of worsening continence function as they were all treated surgically and not randomized.

Randomized trials do not demonstrate fibrin glue to be equivalent or superior to existing management strategies for anal fistula.

Recommendations

• Fibrin glue *should not* be used in the management of anal fistula. *Moderate-level evidence*.

#### 8.10 | Platelet rich plasma

8.10.1 | Review questions for platelet rich plasma in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for platelet rich plasma (PRP)?
- 2. What are the effects of PRP on fistula healing, incontinence and pain in cryptoglandular anal fistula?

#### 8.10.2 | Indications for PRP

Platelet rich plasma is obtained using centrifugation to concentrate a patient's own plasma, thus increasing the numbers of platelets and growth factors. It has been used in complex anal fistula, often as an adjunct to other sphincter-preserving procedures, such as LIFT and mucosal advancement flap.

### 8.10.3 | Effects of PRP on fistula healing, incontinence and pain

Luo et al. [133] conducted a meta-analysis of PRP, which included outcomes from six observational case series and three RCTs [Madbouly 2021, Mortagy 2021, Portilla 2019]. The observational case series were limited by heterogenous fistula aetiology (two studies included fistula associated with Crohn's disease), small numbers of study participants, and lack of data on incontinence, fistula healing time and complications [133].

The meta-analysis [133] of the RCTs in PRP [Madbouly 2021, Mortagy 2021, Portilla 2019] did not find a significant improvement in fistula healing with the addition of PRP [100, 134, 135]. The pooled data were limited by the inclusion of heterogenous fistula aetiology, low patient numbers and short follow-up. Portilla et al. compared the outcomes between PRP and fibrin glue in patients with high anal fistula but because patients with Crohn's disease were included, the results cannot be used as evidence in this guideline. Mortagy et al. randomized patients with high transsphincteric cryptoglandular anal fistula either to curettage of fistula tract and injection of PRP (n=9)or to LIFT (n=9). There was no difference in overall fistula healing between the groups at 5 weeks of follow-up. Following curettage and PRP, fistula healing was reported for six patients, and fistula healing was reported for seven patients treated with LIFT alone. Mortagy et al. could not be included in this guideline as it is limited by small numbers of participants in each arm of the study and a very short follow-up.

Madbouly et al. compared outcomes following LIFT, with or without the addition of autologous PRP, in high transsphincteric fistula of cryptoglandular origin. They found that primary healing improved with the addition of PRP to LIFT (85.7%, p < 0.03) compared to LIFT without PRP (65%) at a follow-up of 12 months. Patients had significantly lower levels of pain following LIFT plus PRP on day 1 (3.6±1.01 for LIFT vs. 2.0±1.1 for LIFT+PRP; p < 0.01) and day 7 (2.7±1.3 for LIFT vs. 1.2±0.71 for LIFT+PRP; p < 0.01) post-treatment. Quality-of-life scores at 4 weeks were higher in patients treated with LIFT plus PRP than in patients treated with LIFT without PRP. The study by Madbouly et al. had the longest follow-up (median 12 months) among the reported RCTs on PRP.

#### GRADE

Question: LIFT, with or without PRP, for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Madbouly 2021

	Certainty assessment N									Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	LIFTwith PRP	LIFT without PRP	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Not serious	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>a</sup>	None	42/49 (85.7)	32/49 (65.3)	RR=1.31 (1.04-1.66)	202 more per 1000 (from 26 more to 431 more)	⊕⊕⊕⊖ Moderate	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: LIFT, ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract; PRP, platelet rich plasma; RR, risk ratio. Explanations. a. Wide confidence interval. 179

🎄 🥥 🙈 🏤



There is a lack of robust evidence for benefit of PRP in treatment of anal fistula. Further research and long-term follow-up are required to assess whether there is a significant difference in overall fistula healing with the use of PRP on its own for the management of fistula healing. One RCT has investigated the use of PRP as an additional treatment to LIFT. This study reported greater fistula healing in LIFT with the addition of PRP.

Recommendations

- No recommendations can be made for the use of PRP alone in the management of anal fistula. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]
- PRP can be considered in the management of anal fistula as an add-on treatment to LIFT. Very low-level evidence [Downgraded by GDG, expert opinion].

#### 8.11 | Collagen matrix

### 8.11.1 | Review questions for collagen matrix in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

- 1. What are the indications for collagen matrix?
- 2. What are the effects on fistula healing, incontinence and pain following the use of collagen matrix in cryptoglandular anal fistula?
- 3. What is the effect of adding collagen matrix to rectal advancement flap?

#### 8.11.2 | Indications for collagen matrix

Collagen matrix is a porcine dermal matrix that can be prepared as a collagen paste and has been used in small experimental studies to fill a fistula tract, with the aim of promoting cell invasion and tissue regeneration within the tract [136, 137]. Collagen dermal matrix has been advocated for use in simple intersphincteric and transsphincteric fistulas with short, straight tracts [66]. or recurrent intersphincteric and transsphincteric fistulas of cryptoglandular origin. Fistulas with secondary tracts and horseshoe extensions were excluded. The primary fistula healing rate was 53.5% at 12 months of follow-up [66]. Observational studies of collagen paste in cryptoglandular anal fistula have demonstrated variable rates of healing, ranging between 20% and 77% [Hammond 2011, Giordano 2017, Bayrak 2018, Schiano di Visconte 2019] [66, 138-140]. Most studies consisted of a small number of participants with varying fistula complexity and had a short follow-up.

Vollebregt et al. [141] have published the largest observational study to date on the use of collagen matrix in complex cryptoglandular anal fistulas. A retrospective analysis was conducted in 90 patients, of whom 80% had complex fistula (comprising more than 30% of the EAS), as determined using preoperative imaging. At a median follow-up of 30 months, the primary fistula healing rate was only 20%. A significant association was found between complex fistulas and failure of the fistula to heal (OR=3.53; 95% CI: 1.12–11.09, p < 0.03). Out of 20 patients with an unhealed fistula following primary infiltration, six healed with one (n=3) or two (n=3) further infiltrations of collagen paste.

### 8.11.4 | Effects of adding collagen matrix to rectal advancement flap

There are no RCTs in which the effect of adding collagen matrix to rectal advancement flap is assessed.

GRADE

**Question:** Collagen matrix compared with none for anal fistula treatment in adult patients

**Bibliography:** Hammond 2011, Giordano 2017, Bayrak 2018, Schiano di Visconte 2019, Vollebregt 2020

	Certaint	y assessment								
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Impact	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	5	Observational	Serious <sup>a-c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b,c</sup>		Fistula healing rate varied greatly between studies. Most studies included very small numbers of patients with complex anal fistula. Studies reported outcomes from short time periods of follow-up. Fistula healing rate ranged between 20% and 77%	⊕⊖⊖⊖ Very low	CRITICAL

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Heterogenous fistula anatomy. <sup>b</sup>Retrospective, small case series. <sup>c</sup>Primary fistula healing rates vary.

8.11.3 | Effects on fistula healing, incontinence and pain following the use of collagen matrix

#### Fistula healing

Giordano et al. [66] conducted a prospective observational study of collagen dermal matrix in 100 patients with solitary, primary There is a lack of robust evidence demonstrating a benefit of collagen matrix in the treatment of anal fistula. Fistula healing rate is variable. Further research and long-term follow-up are required to establish whether treatment of the fistula tract with collagen matrix results in a significant difference in overall fistula healing. Recommendations

• No recommendation can be made for the use of collagen matrix in the management of anal fistula. Very low-level evidence. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 9 | OTHER PROCEDURES

#### 9.1 | Suture repair of internal opening

9.1.1 | Review questions for suture repair of internal opening in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

1. What is the effect of suture repair in the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula?

There are no RCTs or large case series in which the outcomes of oversewing the internal opening in anal fistula, as the only treatment, are reported. This was previously highlighted by Jacob et al., in 2010, in a Cochrane review of the management of anal fistula [57].

Suture repair of the internal opening is carried out as an adjunct to other sphincter-preserving procedures, but success rates of suture repair alone are unclear.

Further research with long-term follow-up is required to assess the effect of suture repair in fistula healing.

#### 9.2 | Rerouting

### 9.2.1 | Review questions for rerouting in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

1. What is the effect of rerouting in the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula?

Literature search was conducted using 'rerouting' as a key word in studies of cryptoglandular anal fistula. There is no standard definition of rerouting, but this has been reported sporadically in the literature and usually describes attempts to minimize division of the IAS or EAS whilst attempting fistula repair. A few observational studies were found in which "partial fistulotomy" and placement of a cutting seton or a loose draining seton are mentioned but this was not described as "rerouting". In these studies, a staged fistulotomy is performed after leaving the seton in place for varying periods of time. This makes analysis of the evidence more difficult.

The search found three RCTs in which different approaches to rerouting, and comparison of rerouting with conventional management, were described. The outcomes of these are detailed below with a description of the procedures and a narrative review.

#### Rerouting by preserving the IAS

Zbar et al. [142] described the outcomes of an RCT in which a conventional cutting seton (16 patients) was compared with a modified technique that involves rerouting the fistula tract to only encompass the EAS with a cutting seton (18 patients) in high transsphincteric (involving greater 30% of the EAS) cryptoglandular fistula. This procedure first involves excising the internal opening and creating a U-shaped mucosal flap to close the internal opening without involving the IAS muscle. Intersphincteric dissection is used to pass a cutting seton around the EAS. The IAS is closed at the internal opening using a 2/0 polyglactin suture, and the internal opening is then covered with mucosal advancement flap. The cutting seton is tightened at 2-weekly intervals in the clinic [142].

There were no significant differences between groups in the rates of fistula healing. The fistula healing rate was 89% in the group in which the IAS-preserving seton was used compared with 94% in the control group (conventional cutting seton), at a median follow-up of 12 months [142]. The average fistula healing time for the group in which the IAS-preserving seton was used was 14 weeks and for the group in which the cutting seton was used was 12 weeks. In the group in which the IAS-preserving seton was used, one patient reported minor incontinence to flatus and in the control group one patient reported minor incontinence to flatus and one patient reported occasional faecal leakage [142].

It is important to note that 4/18 patients in the group in which the IAS-preserving seton was used and 4/16 patients in the control group (conventional cutting seton) had a secondary fistulectomy for slow progress once the seton had descended below the puborectalis sling. The study lacked allocation concealment and adequate description of randomization. Small sample size and short follow-up data limit its use.

#### GRADE

**Question:** IAS-preserving seton compared with cutting seton for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Zbar 2003

	Certainty assessment							No. of patients		Effect			
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	IAS- preserving seton	Cutting seton	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b,c</sup>	None	16/18 (88.9)	15/16 (93.8)	RR=0.95 (0.77-1.17)	47 fewer per 1000 (from 216 fewer to 159 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b</sup>	None	1/18 (5.6)	2/16 (12.5)	RR=0.44 (0.04 to 4.45)	70 fewer per 1000 (from 120 fewer to 431 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviation: RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Lack of allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>One study with small sample size. <sup>c</sup>Wide confidence intervals.



#### REZA ET AL.

#### Rerouting by preserving the EAS

Omar et al. conducted an RCT in which outcomes following an EASpreserving rerouting technique with seton insertion (30 patients) were compared with those following placement of a conventional draining seton (30 patients). High transsphincteric, suprasphincteric and horseshoe fistulas of cryptoglandular origin were included. The fistulas were classified using preoperative MRI. All patients had their fistula tract excised up to the EAS. In the control group, a loose drainThe study was single-blinded and included allocation concealment and random sequence generation. A power calculation was performed. The study was limited by heterogeneity in fistula anatomy and complexity and would have benefitted from long-term follow-up.

#### GRADE

**Question:** EAS-preserving seton compared with draining seton for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Omar 2019

	Certainty assessment						No. of patients		Effect				
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	EAS-preserving seton	Cutting seton	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b,c</sup>	None	16/18 (88.9)	15/16 (93.8)	RR=0.95 (0.77-1.17)	47 fewer per 1000 (from 216 fewer to 159 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>b</sup>	None	1/18 (5.6)	2/16 (12.5)	RR=0.44 (0.04-4.45)	70 fewer per 1000 (from 120 fewer to 431 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: EAS, External anal sphincter; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Heterogenous fistula anatomy. <sup>b</sup>One study with small sample size. <sup>c</sup>Wide confidence intervals.

ing silk suture was placed as a seton through the remaining tract. In the rerouting group, the intersphincteric space was dissected and a silk suture was guided through the space and the internal opening, encircling the IAS. The point where the fistula tract passed through the EAS was closed using a Vicryl suture [143].

All patients in the draining seton group required a second-stage fistulotomy, whereas only two patients in the rerouting group required fistulotomy (p < 0.0001) for fistula persistence at 3 months. The primary outcome was time to fistula healing, which was significantly shorter in the rerouting group (46±18 days) than in the draining seton group (103±47 days), p < 0.0001. At a mean follow-up of 12 months (range: 10–19 months), four (13%) patients in the draining seton group and one (3%) patient in the rerouting group head fistula persistence or recurrence of fistula (p=0.35). The overall healing rate following treatment with an EAS-preserving seton was 96.7%. Patients in the control

Abdelnaby et al. [144] conducted a RCT in which outcomes in patients with high transsphincteric anal fistula treated with mucosal advancement flap and a drainage seton rerouted around the EAS were compared with outcomes in patients treated with rerouting seton around the IAS. The procedure used was similar to that described in the studies above. There was no difference in fistula healing and recurrence between groups at 20 months of follow-up. The overall rate of fistula healing was 95.9% following mucosal advancement with EAS rerouting compared with 91.7% following IAS rerouting alone. The faecal incontinence rate was higher in the group treated with rerouting seton around the IAS than in the group treated with rerouting seton around the EAS (14.5% vs. 2%, p < 0.03).

GRADE

**Question:** Mucosal advancement/EAS rerouting compared with IAS rerouting for anal fistula in adult patients

Bibliography: Abdelnaby 2019

	Certaint	ty assessment					No. of patients		Effect				
Outcome assessed	No. of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	Mucosal advancement/EAS rerouting	IAS rerouting	Relative (95% Cl)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Fistula healing	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b,c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>c</sup>	None	47/49 (95.9)	44/48 (91.7)	RR=1.05 (0.88-1.08)	46 more per 1000 (from 110 fewer to 73 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL
Incontinence	1	Randomized trial	Serious <sup>a,b,c</sup>	Not serious	Not serious	Serious <sup>c</sup>	None	1/49 (2.0)	7/48 (14.6)	RR=0.14 (0.01-1.03)	125 fewer per 1000 (from 144 fewer to 4 more)	⊕⊕⊖⊖ Low	CRITICAL

Abbreviations: EAS, external anal sphincter; IAS, internal anal sphincter; RR, risk ratio.

Explanations. <sup>a</sup>Lack of allocation concealment. <sup>b</sup>Inadequate sequence generation. <sup>c</sup>One study with small sample size.

group initially had a draining seton inserted but all were then subjected to a second-stage fistulotomy; an overall healing rate of 86.7% was reported. Postoperative pain was significantly higher in the first 24h and at 1 week in the draining seton (control) group than in the rerouting (EAS-preserving seton) group ( $5.5 \pm 1.6$  (draining seton) vs.  $3.3 \pm 1.3$  (EAS-preserving seton); p < 0.0001) [143].

Further research with long-term follow-up is required to assess whether either of the various methods of rerouting may be of benefit in selected patients.

Recommendations



FIGURE 10 Proposed algorithm for managing a patient with a new fistula. FISR, fistulotomy or fistulectomy and immediate sphincter reconstruction; IS, intersphincteric; SPP, sphincter-preserving procedure; TS, transsphincteric.



**FIGURE 11** Proposed algorithm for treating a fistula using sphincter-preserving procedures. IS, intersphincteric; LAFT, laser ablation of fistula tract; LIFT, ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract; SPP, sphincter-preserving procedure; VAAFT, video-assisted anal fistula treatment.

- No recommendation can be made for the use of suture repair of the internal opening alone in the management of anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]
- No recommendation can be made for the use of rerouting in high anal fistulas because of a lack of robust data. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 10 | SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS

### 10.1 | Review questions in cryptoglandular fistula treatment

1. What is the effect of palliative seton in the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula?

2. What is the effect of defunctioning colostomy or enterostomy in the management of cryptoglandular anal fistula?

#### 10.1.1 | Palliative seton

No systematic reviews or RCTs have been found in which the impact on quality of life of different seton techniques, materials, knots or other features in palliative loose seton treatment is considered.

#### 10.1.2 | Defunctioning colostomy or enterostomy

No systematic reviews or RCTs have been found on the significance of faecal diversion on fistula healing or patient satisfaction in cryptoglandular fistula-in-ano. While some surgeons use a covering stoma in procedures such as advancement flaps and fistulectomy with sphincter repair, there is no evidence to support this strategy. It is well established that a significant proportion of patients with perianal fistula associated with Crohn's disease undergo faecal diversion.

Faecal diversion has been associated with clinical remission of perianal Crohn's fistulas; however, few patients have their stoma reversed. Corresponding data for cryptoglandular fistulas have not been identified.

Recommendations

- A palliative seton can be considered for the management of recurrent perianal sepsis. [GDG expert opinion]
- Palliative seton *can* be offered to patients with an anal fistula who are keen to avoid further surgical intervention and the risk of injury to the sphincter mechanism. [*GDG expert opinion*]
- A defunctioning stoma *can be considered* in patients with severe and locally uncontrollable perianal sepsis with an anal fistula. [GDG expert opinion]

#### 11 | MANAGEMENT ALGORITHMS

The GDG have proposed two algorithms incorporating the various elements discussed in this guideline. These have been developed as an aid for clinical decision making when managing a new fistula (Figure 10) or a complex fistula with sphincter-preserving procedures (Figure 11).

#### 12 | PATIENT INFORMATION

A patient information chapter will be produced with patient representation to describe each procedure with illustrations and lay language.

#### 13 | IMPLEMENTATION

Implementation of this guideline is likely to be limited by resource constraints and the availability of expertise. Competing service demands may prevent many surgeons from developing the skills and experience required to master the wide range of interventional procedures discussed here. It is possible that within a region, specific units will specialize in certain procedures to ensure efficiency and high-volume case experience. Variable access to MRI and possible ease of access to EAUS in some regions may continue to limit the use of MRI in the assessment of anal fistula. This was extensively discussed by the GDG, and recommendations were developed to accommodate variations in practice. Patient expectations of cure and willingness to accept risk to continence will vary with regional cultural norms, values and the financial burden of disease. Some recommendations may be more acceptable and easily implemented than others. 185

Readers are requested to provide feedback to the corresponding authors using escpfistula@gmail.com on possible barriers of implementation in their clinical setting of any of the recommendations in this guideline. These will be reviewed and considered in future updates of this guideline.

#### 14 | UPDATING

We plan to update this guideline in 2 years by conducting a search of the literature and incorporating any new, relevant research into our recommendations. The GDG members will reassess the need for an annual update at the annual ESCP conference if new, compelling research requires an adaptation of or earlier changes to our current recommendations.

#### FUNDING INFORMATION

This guideline has been supported by the European Society of Coloproctology and the source of funding has not influenced the outcome of the guideline.

#### AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Lillian Reza: Investigation; writing - original draft; writing - review and editing; formal analysis; data curation; methodology; software. Kevin Gottgens: Writing - review and editing; validation; formal analysis; data curation; writing - original draft. Jos Kleijnen: Methodology; validation; formal analysis; data curation; resources. Stephanie Breukink: Writing - review and editing; data curation; validation; supervision. Peter C. Ambe: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Felix Aigner: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Erman Aytac: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Gabriele Bislenghi: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Andreas Nordholm-Carstensen: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Hossam Elfeki: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Gaetano Gallo: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Ugo Grossi: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Baris Gulcu: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Nusrat Iqbal: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Rosa Jimenez-Rodriguez: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Sezai Leventoglu: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Giorgio Lisi: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Francesco Litta: Data curation; writing - review and editing; investigation. Philip Lung: Writing - review and editing; validation. Monica Millan: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Ersin Ozturk: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Charlene Sackitey: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Mostafa Shalaby: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Jasper Stijns: Writing - review and editing; data curation; investigation. Phil Tozer: Writing - review and editing; conceptualization; project administration; supervision; visualization; writing - original draft; validation. David Zimmerman:



Supervision; conceptualization; visualization; writing - review and editing; writing - original draft; project administration; validation.

#### AFFILIATIONS

<sup>1</sup>St Mark's Hospital, London, UK <sup>2</sup>Máxima MC Eindhoven, Eindhoven, Netherlands <sup>3</sup>KSR Ltd & Maastricht University Medical Center (MUMC+) -CAPHRI, Maastricht, Netherlands <sup>4</sup>Maastricht University Medical Center (MUMC+), Maastricht, Netherlands <sup>5</sup>Witten/Herdecke University, Witten, Germany <sup>6</sup>St. John of God Hospital, Graz, Austria <sup>7</sup>Acibadem University, Istanbul, Turkey <sup>8</sup>University Hospital Leuven, Leuven, Belgium <sup>9</sup>Bispebjerg University Hospital, Copenhagen, Denmark <sup>10</sup>Mansoura University Hospital, Mansoura, Egypt <sup>11</sup>Sapienza University of Rome, Rome, Italy <sup>12</sup>Treviso Regional Hospital, Treviso, Italy <sup>13</sup>Medicana Bursa Hospital, Bursa, Turkey <sup>14</sup>St Mark's Hospital, London, UK <sup>15</sup>Virgen del Rocío University Hospital, Seville, Spain <sup>16</sup>Gazi University Medical School, Ankara, Turkey <sup>17</sup>Sant'Eugenio Hospital, Rome, Italy <sup>18</sup>Gemelli Hospital Foundation, Rome, Italy <sup>19</sup>St Mark's Hospital, London, UK <sup>20</sup>La Fe University and Polytechnic Hospital, Valencia, Spain <sup>21</sup>Medicana Bursa Hospital, Bursa, Turkey <sup>22</sup>St Mark's Hospital, London, UK <sup>23</sup>Mansoura University Hospitals, Mansoura, Egypt <sup>24</sup>Universitair Ziekenhuis Brussel, Jette, Belgium <sup>25</sup>St Mark's Hospital, London, UK <sup>26</sup>Elisabeth-TweeSteden Hospital, Tilburg, Netherlands

#### CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

Jos Kleijnen (Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd) has been part of the development process of this guideline and is co-author of the ROBIS, PRISMA, QUADAS, STARD and PROBAST tools.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

Since the study does not use health data of individuals, ethics apporval was not required.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Data sharing not applicable to this article as no datasets were generated or analysed during the current study.

#### ORCID

Lillian Reza 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1993-2989 Kevin Gottgens () https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8774-5317 Erman Aytac 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8803-0874 Gabriele Bislenghi 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9212-9287 Hossam Elfeki D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0704-4068 Nusrat Iqbal 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3264-7362 Rosa Jimenez-Rodriguez D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8587-8768 Mostafa Shalaby 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0358-2398 Jasper Stijns 匝 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5256-6167

#### REFERENCES

1. Zanotti C, Martinez-Puente C, Pascual I, Pascual M, Herreros D. An assessment of the incidence of fistula-in-ano in four countries of the European Union Damián García-Olmo.

- 2. Sainio P. Fistula-in-ano in a defined population. Incidence and epidemiological aspects. Ann Chir Gynaecol. 1984;73(4):219-24.
- 3. Brouwers MC, Kerkvliet K, Spithoff K. The AGREE reporting checklist: a tool to improve reporting of clinical practice guidelines. BMJ. 2016:352:i1152.
- 4. van Tol RR, Kleijnen J, Watson AJMM, Jongen J, Altomare DF, Qvist N, et al. European Society of ColoProctology: guideline for haemorrhoidal disease. Colorectal Dis. 2020;22(6):650-62. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.14975
- 5. Parks AG. Pathogenesis and treatment of fistula-in-Ano. Br Med J. 1961;1(5224):463.
- 6. Gosselink MP, van Onkelen RS, Schouten WR. The cryptoglandular theory revisited. Colorectal Dis. 2015;17(12):1041-3.
- 7. Parks AG, Gordon PH, Hardcastle JD. A classification of fistula-in-ano. Br J Surg. 1976;63(1):1-12.
- Ho YH, Tan M, Chui CH, Leong A, Eu KW, Seow-Choen F. 8 Randomized controlled trial of primary fistulotomy with drainage alone for perianal abscesses.
- Malik AI, Nelson RL, Tou S. Incision and drainage of perianal abscess with or without treatment of anal fistula. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2010;(7):CD006827.
- 10. Tang CL, Chew SP, Seow-Choen F. Prospective randomized trial of drainage alone vs. drainage and fistulotomy for acute perianal abscesses with proven internal opening.
- 11. Schouten WR, van Vroonhoven TJM. Treatment of anorectal abscess with or without primary fistulectomy results of a prospective randomized trial. Dis Colon Rectum. 1991;34(1):60-3.
- 12. Oliver I, Lacueva FJ, Pérez F, Arroyo VA, Ferrer R, Cansado P, et al. Randomized clinical trial comparing simple drainage of anorectal abscess with and without fistula track treatment. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2003:18:107-10.
- 13. Hebjørn M, Olsen O, Haakansson T, Andersen B. A randomized trial of fistulotomy in perianal abscess. Scand J Gastroenterol. 1987;22(2):174-6. https://doi.org/10.3109/00365528708991876
- 14. Li D, Yu B. Primary curative incision in the treatment of perianorectal abscess. Zhonghua Wai Ke Za Zhi. 1997;35(9):539-40. [cited 2022 Jun 29]. Available from: https://europepmc.org/artic le/med/10678027
- 15. Mohamedahmed AYY, Zaman S, Stonelake S, Ahmad AN, Datta U, Hajibandeh SS, et al. Incision and drainage of cutaneous abscess with or without cavity packing: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and trial sequential analysis of randomised controlled trials. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2021;406(4):981-91. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s00423-020-01941-9
- 16. Smith SR, Newton K, Smith JA, Dumville JC, Iheozor-Ejiofor Z, Pearce LE, et al. Internal dressings for healing perianal abscess cavities. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016;2016(8):1-6.
- 17. Tonkin DM, Murphy E, Brooke-Smith M, Hollington P, Rieger N, Hockley S, et al. Perianal abscess: a pilot study comparing packing with nonpacking of the abscess cavity. Dis Colon Rectum. 2004;47(9):1510-4.
- 18. Perera AP, Howell AM, Sodergren MH, Farne H, Darzi A, Purkayastha S, et al. A pilot randomised controlled trial evaluating postoperative packing of the perianal abscess. Langenbecks Arch Surg. 2015;400(2):267-71.
- 19. Islam MT, Rahman MM, Begum N. A randomized controlled trial comparing packing with nonpacking of perianal abscess Cav. J Armed Forces Med Coll. 2016;12(2):111-6.
- 20. Pearce L, Newton K, Smith SR, Barrow P, Smith J, Hancock L, et al. Multicentre observational study of outcomes after drainage of acute perianal abscess. Br J Surg. 2016;103(8):1063-8.
- 21. Newton K, Dumville J, Briggs M, Law J, Martin J, Pearce L, et al. Postoperative packing of perianal abscess cavities (PPAC2): randomized clinical trial. Br J Surg. 2022;109(10):951-7. [cited 2022 Oct 19]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/bjs/article/ 109/10/951/6656077

- Mocanu V, Dang JT, Ladak F, Tian C, Wang H, Birch DW, et al. Antibiotic use in prevention of anal fistulas following incision and drainage of anorectal abscesses: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Surg. 2019;217(5):910–7.
- Ghahramani L, Minaie MR, Arasteh P, Hosseini SV, Izadpanah A, Bananzadeh AM, et al. Antibiotic therapy for prevention of fistula in-ano after incision and drainage of simple perianal abscess: a randomized single blind clinical trial. Surgery. 2017;162(5):1017-25.
- Sözener U, Gedik E, Aslar AK, Ergun H, Elhan H, Memikoğlu O, et al. Does adjuvant antibiotic treatment after drainage of anorectal abscess prevent development of anal fistulas? A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, multicenter study. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(8):923–9.
- Lohsiriwat V, Yodying H, Lohsiriwat D. Incidence and factors influencing the development of fistula-in-ano after incision and drainage of perianal abscesses. J Med Assoc Thai. 2010;93(1): 61–5.
- Amato A, Bottini C, De Nardi P, Giamundo P, Lauretta A, Realis Luc A, et al. Evaluation and management of perianal abscess and anal fistula: SICCR position statement. Tech Coloproctol. 2020;24(2):127-43. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10151-019-02144-1
- Büyükaşik Y, Ozcebe OI, Sayinalp N, Haznedaroğlu IC, Altundağ OO, Ozdemir O, et al. Perianal infections in patients with leukemia: importance of the course of neutrophil count. Dis Colon Rectum. 1998;41(1):81–5.
- Sahnan K, Askari A, Adegbola SO, Tozer PJ, Phillips RKS, Hart A, et al. Natural history of anorectal sepsis. Roy Soc Med. 2016;10(1):75 Available from: www.bjs.co.uk
- Sahnan K, Adegbola SO, Tozer PJ, Watfah J, Phillips RK. Perianal abscess. BMJ. 2017;21(356):j475. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj. j475
- Sugrue J, Nordenstam J, Abcarian H, Bartholomew A, Schwartz JL, Mellgren A, et al. Pathogenesis and persistence of cryptoglandular anal fistula: a systematic review. Tech Coloproctol. 2017;21(6):425–32.
- Zimmerman DDEE, Delemarre JBVMVM, Gosselink MP, Hop WCJJ, Briel JW, Schouten WR. Smoking affects the outcome of transanal mucosal advancement flap repair of trans-sphincteric fistulas. Br J Surg. 2003;90(3):351–4. [cited 2022 Feb 4]. Available from: www.bjs.co.uk
- Zimmerman DD, Briel JW, Gosselink MP, Schouten WR. Anocutaneous advancement flap repair of transsphincteric fistulas. Dis Colon Rectum. 2001;44(10):1474–80.
- Ellis CN, Rostas JW, Greiner FG. Long-term outcomes with the use of bioprosthetic plugs for the management of complex anal fistulas. Dis Colon Rectum. 2010;53(5):798–802.
- Abcarian AM, Estrada JJ, Park J, Corning C, Chaudhry V, Cintron J, et al. Ligation of intersphincteric fistula tract: early results of a pilot study. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012;55(7):778-82. [cited 2022 Apr 20]. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/dcrjournal/Fullt ext/2012/07000/Ligation\_of\_Intersphincteric\_Fistula\_Tract\_\_ Early.7.aspx
- Sirikurnpiboon S, Awapittaya B, Jivapaisarnpong P. Ligation of intersphincteric fistula tract and its modification: results from treatment of complex fistula. World J Gastrointest Surg. 2013;5(4):123–8.
- Ellis CN, Clark S, Ellis NC, Clark S, Ellis CN, Clark S. Effect of tobacco smoking on advancement flap repair of complex anal fistulas. Dis Colon Rectum. 2007;50(4):459–63. [cited 2022 Apr 20]. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/dcrjournal/Fulltext/ 2007/50040/Effect\_of\_Tobacco\_Smoking\_on\_Advancement\_ Flap.5.aspx
- 37. Iqbal N, Dilke SM, Geldof J, Sahnan K, Adegbola S, Bassett P, et al. Is fistulotomy with immediate sphincter reconstruction (FISR) a sphincter preserving procedure for high anal fistula? A systematic

review and meta-analysis. Colorectal Dis. 2021;23(12):3073–89. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.15945

- van Koperen PJ, Wind J, Bemelman WA, Bakx R, Reitsma JB, Slors JFM. Long-term functional outcome and risk factors for recurrence after surgical treatment for low and high perianal fistulas of cryptoglandular origin. Dis Colon Rectum. 2008;51(10):1475–81.
   [cited 2022 Apr 24]. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/ dcrjournal/Fulltext/2008/51100/Long\_Term\_Functional\_Outco me\_and\_Risk\_Factors\_for.4.aspx
- Abbas MA. Predictors of outcome for anal fistula surgery. Arch Surg. 2011;146(9):1011. [cited 2022 Apr 20]. Available from: http://archsurg.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/ archsurg.2011.197
- Mei Z, Wang Q, Zhang Y, Liu P, Ge M, Du P, et al. Risk factors for recurrence after anal fistula surgery: a meta-analysis. Int J Surg. 2019;69:153–64.
- Marks CG, Ritchie JK. Anal fistulas at St Mark's hospital. Br J Surg. 2005;64(2):84–91.
- 42. Ommer A, Herold A, Berg E, Fürst A, Post S, Ruppert R, et al. German S3 guidelines: anal abscess and fistula (second revised version). Available from: http://www.awmf.org/leitlinien/detail/ll/ 088-005.html
- Williams G, Williams A, Tozer P, Phillips R, Ahmad A, Jayne D, et al. The treatment of anal fistula: second ACPGBI position statement - 2018. Colorectal Dis. 2018;1(20):5-31.
- Pinto RA, Sanchez COR, Madsen MA. Fistula-in-ano. In: Sands LR, Sands DR, editors. Ambulatory colorectal surgery. Boca Raton: StatPearls Publishing; 2008. p. 203–16.
- 45. Kronborg O. To lay open or excise a fistula-in-ano: a randomized trial. Br J Surg. 1985;72(12):970.
- Phillips J, Lees N, Arnall F. Current management of fistula-in-ano. Br J Hosp Med (Lond). 2015;142:142-7.
- 47. Halligan S, Tolan D, Amitai MM, Hoeffel C, Kim SH, Maccioni F, et al. ESGAR consensus statement on the imaging of fistula-in-ano and other causes of anal sepsis. Eur Radiol. 2020;30(9):4734.
- Lunniss PJ, Armstrong P, Barker PG, Reznek RH, Phillips RKS. Magnetic resonance imaging of anal fistulae. Lancet. 1992;340(8816):394–6.
- Buchanan G, Halligan S, Williams A, Cohen CRG, Tarroni D, Phillips RKSS, et al. Effect of MRI on clinical outcome of recurrent fistula-in-ano. Lancet. 2002;360(9346):1661–2.
- Chapple KS, Spencer JA, Windsor AC, Wilson D, Ward J, Ambrose NS. Prognostic value of magnetic resonance imaging in the management of fistula-in-ano. Dis Colon Rectum. 2000;43(4):511–6.
- Sahni VA, Ahmad R, Burling D. Which method is best for imaging of perianal fistula? Abdom Imaging. 2008;33(1):26–30.
- Li J, Chen SN, Lin YY, Zhu ZM, Ye DL, Chen F, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of three-dimensional endoanal ultrasound for anal fistula: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Turk J Gastroenterol. 2021;32(11):913–22.
- Buchanan GN, Halligan S, Bartram CI, Williams AB, Tarroni D, Cohen CRG. Clinical examination, endosonography, and MR imaging in preoperative assessment of fistula in ano: comparison with outcome-based reference standard. Radiology. 2004;233(3):674–81.
- Gustafsson UM, Graf W. Randomized clinical trial of local gentamicin-collagen treatment in advancement flap repair for anal fistula. Br J Surg. 2006;93(10):1202–7. [cited 2022 Nov 6]. Available from: www.bjs.co.uk
- 55. Nessim A, Wexner SD, Agachan F, Alabaz O, Weiss EG, Nogueras JJ, et al. Is bowel confinement necessary after anorectal reconstructive surgery? A prospective, randomized, surgeon-blinded trial. Dis Colon Rectum. 1999;42(1):16–23. [cited 2022 Nov 6]. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/dcrjournal/Fulltext/ 1999/42010/Is\_bowel\_confinement\_necessary\_after\_anore ctal.3.aspx



- Lang DSP, Tho PC, Ang ENK. Effectiveness of the Sitz bath in managing adult patients with anorectal disorders. Jpn J Nurs Sci. 2011;8(2):115–28.
- Jacob TJ, Perakath B, Keighley MRB. Surgical intervention for anorectal fistula. Cochrane Database of Syst Rev. 2010;(5):CD006319. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD006 319.pub2
- Brown SR, Fearnhead NS, Faiz OD, Abercrombie JF, Acheson AG, Arnott RG, et al. The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland consensus guidelines in surgery for inflammatory bowel disease. Colorectal Dis. 2018;20(Supplement 8):3-117.
- Vogel JD, Johnson EK, Morris AM, Paquette IM, Saclarides TJ, Feingold DL, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of anorectal abscess, fistula-in-ano, and rectovaginal fistula. Dis Colon Rectum. 2016;59:1117–33.
- Litta F, Parello A, Ferri L, Torrecilla NO, Marra AA, Orefice R, et al. Simple fistula-in-ano: is it all simple? A systematic review. Tech Coloproctol. 2021;25(4):385–99. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1015 1-020-02385-5
- 61. Atkin GK, Martins J, Tozer P, Ranchod P, Phillips RKS. For many high anal fistulas, lay open is still a good option.
- 62. Tozer P, Sala S, Cianci V, Kalmar K, Atkin GK, Rahbour G, et al. Fistulotomy in the tertiary setting can achieve high rates of fistula cure with an acceptable risk of deterioration in continence.
- Visscher AP, Schuur D, Roos R, van der Mijnsbrugge GJH, Meijerink WJHJ, Felt-Bersma RJF. Long-term follow-up after surgery for simple and complex cryptoglandular fistulas: fecal incontinence and impact on quality of life. Dis Colon Rectum. 2015;58(5):533–9.
- Göttgens KWA, Janssen PTJ, Heemskerk J, van Dielen FMH, Konsten JLM, Lettinga T, et al. Long-term outcome of low perianal fistulas treated by fistulotomy: a multicenter study. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2015;30(2):213–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-014-2072-y
- Atkin GK, Martins J, Tozer P, Ranchod P, Phillips RKS, Martins J, et al. For many high anal fistulas, lay open is still a good option. Tech Coloproctol. 2011;15(2):143–50.
- 66. Giordano P, Sileri P, Buntzen S, Nunoo-Mensah J, Lenisa L, Singh B, et al. Final results of a European, multicentre, prospective, observational study of Permacol<sup>™</sup> collagen paste injection for the treatment of anal fistula. Colorectal Dis. 2018;20(3):243–51.
- Abramowitz L, Soudan D, Souffran M, et al. The out- come of fistulotomy for anal fistula at 1 year: a prospective multicentre French study. Colorectal Dis. 2016;18:279–85. https://doi.org/10.1111/ codi.13121
- Saber A. Patients satisfaction and outcome of fistulotomy versus fistulectomy for low anal fistula. J Surg Spec Issue Gas- trointest Surg Recent Trends. 2016;4:15–9. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.js.s. 2016040201.14
- Jayarajah U, Wickramasinghe DP, Samarasekera DN. Anal incontinence and quality of life following operative treatment of simple cryptoglandular fistula-in-ano: a prospective study. BMC Res Notes. 2017;10:572.
- Mallik NR, Nandi S, Saha AK, et al. Study of fistulotomy and fistulectomy in the management of low anal fistula and evalu- ation of short term outcomes. IOSR-J Dent Med Sci. 2018;7:42–5. https://doi.org/10.9790/0853-17041-24245
- Vander Mijnsbrugge GJH, Felt-Bersma RJF, Ho DKF, et al. Perianal fistulas and the lift procedure: results, predictive factors for success, and long-term results with subsequent treatment. Tech Coloproctol. 2019;23:639–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s1015-1-019-02023-9
- Ratto C, Litta F, Donisi L, Parello A. Fistulotomy or fistulectomy and primary sphincteroplasty for anal fistula (FIPS): a systematic review. Tech Coloproctol. 2015;19(7):391-400. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s10151-015-1323-4

- 73. Perez F, Arroyo A, Serrano P, Sánchez A, Candela F, Perez MT, et al. Randomized clinical and manometric study of advancement flap versus fistulotomy with sphincter reconstruction in the management of complex fistula-in-ano. Am J Surg. 2006;192(1):34–40. [cited 2022 Mar 28]. Available from: http://www.americanjournal ofsurgery.com/article/S0002961006000699/fulltext
- 74. Mascagni D, Pironi D, Grimaldi G, Romani AM, la Torre G, Eberspacher C, et al. OTSC® proctology vs. fistulectomy and primary sphincter reconstruction as a treatment for low trans-sphincteric anal fistula in a randomized controlled pilot trial. Minerva Chir. 2019;74(1):2-12. Available from: https://www.minervamed ica.it/index2.php?show=R06Y2019N01A0001
- Christiansen J, R~nholt C. Treatment of recurrent high anal fistula by total excision and primary sphincter reconstruction. Int J Colorect Dis. 1995;10:207–9.
- Glasgow SC, Lowry AC. Long-term outcomes of anal sphincter repair for fecal incontinence: a systematic review. Dis Colon Rectum. 2012;55(4):482–90. [cited 2022 Jun 26]. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/dcrjournal/Fulltext/2012/04000/Long\_Term\_Outcomes\_of\_Anal\_Sphincter\_Repair\_for.17.aspx
- Sahebally SM, O'Byrne L, Troy A, Byrnes KG, Burke J, McNamara D. A meta-analysis of marsupialisation versus none in the treatment of simple fistula-in-ano. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2021;36(3):429– 36. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00384-020-03759-9
- Ho YH, Tan M, Leong AFPK, Seow-Choen F. Marsupialization of fistulotomy wounds improves healing: a randomized controlled trial. Br J Surg. 2003;85(1):105–7. [cited 2022 Jun 27]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/bjs/article/85/1/105/6269921
- 79. Jain BK, Vaibhaw K, Garg PK, Gupta S, Mohanty D. Comparison of a fistulectomy and a fistulotomy with marsupialization in the management of a simple anal fistula: a randomized, controlled pilot trial. J Korean Soc Coloproctol. 2012;28(2):78–82.
- Pescatori M, Ayabaca SM, Cafaro D, Iannello A, Magrini S. Marsupialization of fistulotomy and fistulectomy wounds improves healing and decreases bleeding: a randomized controlled trial. Colorectal Dis. 2006;8(1):11-4. https://doi.org/10.1111/j. 1463-1318.2005.00835.x
- Chalya PL, Mabula JB. Fistulectomy versus fistulotomy with marsupialisation in the treatment of low fistula-in-ano: a prospective randomized controlled trial. Tanzan J Health Res. 2013;15(3):1–8.
- Anan M, Emile SH, Elgendy H, Shalaby M, Elshobaky A, Abdel-Razik MA, et al. Fistulotomy with or without marsupialisation of wound edges in treatment of simple anal fistula: a randomised controlled trial. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 2019;101(7):472-8. [cited 2022 Jun 26]. Available from: https://publishing.rcseng.ac.uk/doi/ 10.1308/rcsann.2019.0057
- Rosen DR, Kaiser AM. Definitive seton management for transsphincteric fistula-in-ano: harm or charm? Colorectal Dis. 2016;18(5):488–95.
- Isbister WH, al Sanea N. The cutting seton: an experience at King Faisal Specialist Hospital. Dis Colon Rectum. 2001;44(5):722-7.
- Patton V, Chen CM, Lubowski D. Long-term results of the cutting seton for high anal fistula. ANZ J Surg. 2015;85(10):720–7.
- Ege B, Leventoğlu S, Menteş BB, Yılmaz U, Öner AY. Hybrid seton for the treatment of high anal fistulas: results of 128 consecutive patients. Tech Coloproctol. 2014;18(2):187–93.
- Chuang-Wei C, Chang-Chieh W, Cheng-Wen H, Tsai-Yu L, Chun-Che F, Shu-Wen J. Cutting seton for complex anal fistulas. Surgeon. 2008;6(3):185–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1479-666X(08)80117-5
- Hämäläinen KPJ, Sainio PA. Cutting seton for anal fistulas. Dis Colon Rectum. 1997;40(12):1443–7. Available from: https://journ als.lww.com/00003453-199740120-00008
- Ho KS, Tsang C, Seow-Choen F, Ho YH, Tang CL, Heah SM, et al. Prospective randomised trial comparing ayurvedic cutting seton and fistulotomy for low fistula-in-ano. Tech Coloproctol. 2001;5(3):137-41.

- Daodu OO, O'Keefe J, Heine JA. Draining setons as definitive management of fistula-in-ano. Dis Colon Rectum. 2018;61(4): 499-503.
- 91. Lentner A, Wienert V. Long-term, indwelling setons for low transsphincteric and intersphincteric anal fistulas: experience with 108 cases. Dis Colon Rectum. 1996;39(10):1097–101.
- Kelly ME, Heneghan HM, McDermott FD, Nason GJ, Freeman C, Martin ST, et al. The role of loose seton in the management of anal fistula: a multicenter study of 200 patients. Tech Coloproctol. 2014;18(10):915–9.
- Placer-Galán C, Enriquez-Navascués JM, Pastor-Bonel T, Aguirre-Allende I, Saralegui-Ansorena Y. The use of seton as a bridge to definitive ligation of the Intersphincteric fistula tract procedure for fistula-in-ano: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Coloproctol. 2021;41(3):308–15.
- 94. Giamundo P, de Angelis M. Treatment of anal fistula with FiLaC®: results of a 10-year experience with 175 patients. Tech Coloproctol. 2021;25(8):941–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10151-021-02461-4
- Ho KS, Ho YH. Controlled, randomized trial of Island flap anoplasty for treatment of trans-sphincteric fistula-in-ano: early results. Tech Coloproctol. 2005;9(2):166-8. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10151-005-0220-7
- 96. Stellingwerf ME, van Praag EM, Tozer PJ, Bemelman WA, Buskens CJ, Phillips R. Systematic review and meta-analysis of endorectal advancement flap and ligation of the intersphincteric fistula tract for cryptoglandular and Crohn's high perianal fistulas. BJS Open. 2019;3(3):231-41. [cited 2022 Mar 27]. Available from: www.bjsopen.com
- Balciscueta Z, Uribe N, Balciscueta I, Carlos Andreu-Ballester J, García-Granero E, Andreu-Ballester JC, et al. Rectal advancement flap for the treatment of complex cryptoglandular anal fistulas: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2017;32(5):599–609.
- Khafagy W, Omar W, el Nakeeb A, Fouda E, Yousef M, Farid M. Treatment of anal fistulas by partial rectal wall advancement flap or mucosal advancement flap: a prospective randomized study. Int J Surg. 2010;8(4):321–5.
- Emile SH, Khan SM, Adejumo A, Koroye O. Ligation of intersphincteric fistula tract (LIFT) in treatment of anal fistula: an updated systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression of the predictors of failure. Surgery. 2020;167(2):484–92. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.surg.2019.09.012
- Madbouly KM, ShazlyW EL, Abbas KS, Hussein AM. Ligation of intersphincteric fistula tract versus mucosaladvancement flap in patients with high transsphincteric fistula-in-ano: a prospective randomized trial. Dis Colon Rectum. 2014;57:1202–8.
- Mushaya C, Bartlett L, Schulze B, Ho YH. Ligation of intersphincteric fistula tract compared with advancement flap for complex anorectal fistulas requiring initial seton drainage. Am J Surg. 2012;204:283–9.
- Cheung XC, Fahey T, Rogers AC, Pemberton JH, Kavanagh DO. Surgical Management of Idiopathic Perianal Fistulas: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Dig Surg. 2021;38(2):104–19.
- Meinero P, Mori L. Video-assisted anal fistula treatment (VAAFT): a novel sphincter-saving procedure for treating complex anal fistulas. Tech Coloproctol. 2011;15(4):417–22.
- Garg P, Singh P. Video-assisted anal fistula treatment (VAAFT) in cryptoglandular fistula-in-ano: a systematic review and proportional meta-analysis. Int J Surg. 2017;46:85–91.
- Emile SH, Elfeki H, Shalaby M, Sakr A. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the efficacy and safety of video-assisted anal fistula treatment (VAAFT). Surg Endosc. 2018;32:2084–93.
- Wilhelm A. A new technique for sphincter-preserving anal fistula repair using a novel radial emitting laser probe. Tech Coloproctol. 2011;15(4):445–9.

- Chand M, Tozer P, Richard CC, Cohen RC. Is FiLaC the answer for more complex perianal fistula? Tech Coloproctol. 2017;21:253–5.
- Elfeki H, Shalaby M, Emile SH, Sakr A, Mikael M, Lundby L. A systematic review and meta-analysis of the safety and efficacy of fistula laser closure. Tech Coloproctol. 2020;24:265–74.
- 109. Frountzas M, Stergios K, Nikolaou C, Bellos I, Schizas D, Linardoutsos D, et al. Could FiLaC<sup>™</sup> be effective in the treatment of anal fistulas? A systematic review of observational studies and proportional meta-analysis. Colorectal Dis. 2020;22(12):1874–84.
- 110. Marref I, Spindler L, Aubert M, Lemarchand N, Fathallah N, Pommaret E, et al. The optimal indication for FiLaC® is high trans-sphincteric fistula-in-ano: a prospective cohort of 69 consecutive patients. Tech Coloproctol. 2019;23(9):893–7.
- Giamundo P, Esercizio L, Geraci M, Tibaldi L, Valente M. Fistulatract laser closure (FiLaC™): long-term results and new operative strategies. Tech Coloproctol. 2015;19(8):449–53.
- 112. Ozturk E, Gulcu B. Laser ablation of fistula tract: a sphincter-preserving method for treating fistula-in-ano. Dis Colon Rectum. 2014;57(3):360-4.
- 113. Donmez T, Hatipoglu E. Closure of fistula tract with FiLaC[TM] laser as a sphincter-preserving method in anal fistula treatment/anal Fistul Tedavisinde Sfinkter Koruyucu Yontem Olarak FiLaC[TM] Lazer Yontemiyle Fistul Traktinin Kapatilmasi. Turk J Colorectal Dis. 2017;27:142.
- 114. Wolicki A, Jäger P, Deska T, Senkal M. Sphincter-saving therapy for fistula-in-ano: long-term follow-up after FiLaC®. Tech Coloproctol. 2021;25(2):177–84.
- Isik O, Gulcu B, Ozturk E. Long-term outcomes of laser ablation of fistula tract for fistula-in-Ano: a considerable option in sphincter preservation. Dis Colon Rectum. 2020;63(6):831–6.
- 116. Lauretta A, Falco N, Stocco E, Bellomo R, Infantino A. Anal fistula laser closure: the length of fistula is the Achilles' heel. Tech Coloproctol. 2018;22(12):933–9.
- 117. Lin H, Jin Z, Zhu Y, Diao M, Hu W. Anal fistula plug vs rectal advancement flap for the treatment of complex cryptoglandular anal fistulas: a systematic review and meta-analysis of studies with long-term follow-up. Colorectal Dis. 2019;21(5):502–15.
- 118. Ortiz H, Marzo J, Ciga MA, Oteiza F, Armendáriz P, de Miguel M. Randomized clinical trial of anal fistula plug versus endorectal advancement flap for the treatment of high cryptoglandular fistula in ano. Br J Surg. 2009;96(6):608–12. [cited 2022 Mar 28]. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/bjs/article/96/6/ 608/6148432
- 119. van Koperen PJ, Bemelman WA, Gerhards MF, Janssen LWM, van Tets WF, van Dalsen AD, et al. The anal fistula plug treatment compared with the mucosal advancement flap for cryptoglandular high transsphincteric perianal fistula: a double-blinded multicenter randomized trial. Dis Colon Rectum. 2011;54(4):387–93.
- 120. A ba-bai-ke-re MMTJ, Wen H, Huang HG, Chu H, Lu M, Chang ZS, et al. Randomized controlled trial of minimally invasive surgery using acellular dermal matrix for complex anorectal fistula. World J Gastroenterol. 2010;16(26):3279–86.
- 121. Bondi J, Avdagic J, Karlbom U, Hallböök O, Kalman D, Šaltyt E, et al. Randomized clinical trial comparing collagen plug and advancement flap for trans-sphincteric anal fistula. Br J Surg. 2017;104(9):1160-6.
- 122. Prosst RL, Herold A, Joos AK, Bussen D, Wehrmann M, Gottwald T, et al. The anal fistula claw: the OTSC clip for anal fistula closure. Colorectal Dis. 2012;14(9):1112-7.
- 123. Dango S, Antonakis F, Schrader D, Radzikhovskiy A, Ghadimi MB, Hesterberg R. Long-term efficacy and safety of a nitinol closure clip system for anal fistula treatment. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol. 2017;26:227–31.
- Nordholm-Carstensen A, Krarup PM, Hagen K. Treatment of complex fistula-in-ano with a nitinol proctology clip. Dis Colon Rectum. 2017;60(7):723–8.



- 125. Marinello F, Kraft M, Ridaura N, Vallribera F, Espín E. Treatment of fistula-in-ano with OTSC® proctology clip device: short-term results. Cirugía Española. 2018;96(6):369-74.
- 126. Grossberg SJ, Harran N, Bebington B, Lutrin DL. Use of the OVESCO OTSC® proctology clip for closure of fistula-in-ano at Wits Donald Gordon medical Centre - a single Centre experience. S Afr J Surg. 2020;58(2):74-7.
- 127. Mennigen R, Laukötter M, Senninger N, Rijcken E. The OTSC® proctology clip system for the closure of refractory anal fistulas. Tech Coloproctol. 2015;19(4):241-6.
- 128. Gautier M, Godeberge P, Ganansia R, Bozio G, Godart B, Bigard MA, et al. Easy clip to treat anal fistula tracts: a word of caution. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2015;30(5):621–4.
- 129. Prosst R. Minimally invasive surgical clip closure of anorectal fistulas: current status of OTSC proctology. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol. 2019;28(5):261–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645706. 2018.1521837
- Prosst RL, Joos AK, Ehni W, Bussen D, Herold A. Prospective pilot study of anorectal fistula closure with the OTSC proctology. Colorectal Dis. 2015;17(1):81–6.
- Altomare DF, Greco VJ, Tricomi N, Arcanà F, Mancini S, Rinaldi M, et al. Seton or glue for trans-sphincteric anal fistulae: a prospective randomized crossover clinical trial. Colorectal Dis. 2011;13(1):82–6.
- 132. van der Hagen SJ, Baeten CG, Soeters PB, van Gemert WG. Staged mucosal advancement flap versus staged fibrin sealant in the treatment of complex perianal fistulas. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2011;2011:186350.
- 133. Luo Q, Zhou P, Chang S. Meta-analysis of platelet-rich plasma therapy for anal fistula. J Cosmet Dermatol. 2022;21:4559–66.
- 134. Helmy A, Mortagy M, Helmy El-Shewy A, Farag AG, Sallam AM. Platelet rich plasma InjectionVersus ligating inter-sphincteric fistulous tract for Management of High Trans-sphincteric Peri-anal Fistula. Eur J Mol Clin Med. 2021;8(3):2021.
- 135. de la Portilla F, Jiménez-Salido A, Araujo-Miguez A, Maestre-Sanchez MV, Reyes-Diaz ML, Ramallo-Solís I, et al. Autologous platelet-rich plasma in the treatment of perianal fistula in Crohn's disease. J Gastrointest Surg. 2020;24(12):2814–21. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11605-019-04480-x
- Milito G, Cadeddu F. Conservative treatment for anal fistula: collagen matrix injection. J Am Coll Surg. 2009;209:542–3.
- 137. Himpson RC, Cohen CRG, Sibbons P, Phillips RKS. An experimentally successful new sphincter-conserving treatment for anal fistula. Dis Colon Rectum. 2009;52(4):602–8.
- 138. Schiano di Visconte M, Braini A, Moras L, Brusciano L, Docimo L, Bellio G. Permacol collagen paste injection for treatment of complex cryptoglandular anal fistulas: an observational cohort study with a 2-year follow-up. Surg Innov. 2019;26(2):168–79.
- Bayrak M, Altıntas Y. Permacol<sup>™</sup> collagen paste injection in anal fistula treatment: a retrospective study with one-year follow-up. Adv Ther. 2018;35(8):1232-8.
- 140. Hammond TM, Porrett TR, Scott SM, Williams NS, Lunniss PJ. Management of idiopathic anal fistula using cross-linked collagen: a prospective phase 1 study. Colorectal Dis. 2011;13(1):94–104. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1318.2009.02087.x
- 141. Vollebregt PF, van der Mijnsbrugge GJ, Molenaar CBH, Felt-Bersma RJF. Efficacy of Permacol injection for perianal fistulas in a tertiary referral population: poor outcome in patients with complex fistulas. Colorectal Dis. 2021;23(8):2119–26. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/codi.15696
- 142. Zbar AP, Ramesh J, Beer-Gabel M, Salazar R, Pescatori M. Conventional cutting vs. internal anal sphincter-preserving seton for high trans-sphincteric fistula: a prospective randomized manometric and clinical trial. Tech Coloproctol. 2003;7(2):89–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10151-003-0016-6

- 143. Omar W, Alqasaby A, Abdelnaby M, Youssef M, Shalaby M, Anwar Abdel-Razik M, et al. Drainage seton versus external anal sphincter-sparing seton after rerouting of the fistula tract in the treatment of complex anal fistula: a randomized controlled trial. Dis Colon Rectum. 2019;62(8):980–7.
- 144. Abdelnaby M, Emile S, El-Said M, Abdallah E, AbdelMawla A. Drained mucosal advancement flap versus rerouting seton around the internal anal sphincter in treatment of high trans-sphincteric anal fistula: a randomized trial. Int J Surg. 2019;72:198-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2019.11.008
- 145. Logullo P, Florez ID, Antoniou GA, Markar S, López-Cano M, Silecchia G, et al. AGREE-S: AGREE II extension for surgical interventions – United European Gastroenterology and European Association for Endoscopic Surgery methodological guide. United European Gastroenterol J. 2022;10(4):425–34.
- 146. Machielsen AJHM, Iqbal N, Kimman ML, Sahnan K, Adegbola SO, Kleijnen J, et al. The development of a cryptoglandular Anal Fistula Core Outcome Set (AFCOS): an international Delphi study protocol. United European Gastroenterol J. 2020;8(2):220–6.
- 147. Williamson PR, Altman DG, Bagley H, Barnes KL, Blazeby JM, Brookes ST, et al. The COMET handbook: version 1.0. Trials. 2017;18:1–50.
- Jacob TJ, Perakath B, Keighley MRB, Saad SS. Surgical intervention for anorectal fistula. Sao Paulo Med J. 2011;129(2):120–1.

#### SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Reza L, Gottgens K, Kleijnen J, Breukink S, Ambe PC, Aigner F, et al. European Society of Coloproctology: Guidelines for diagnosis and treatment of cryptoglandular anal fistula. Colorectal Dis. 2024;26:145– 196. https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.16741

#### APPENDIX A

#### Methodology

The European Society of Colproctology (ESCP) guideline development process was first described in the ESCP guideline for haemorrhoidal disease. The protocol for ESCP guideline development has been published (https://www.escp.eu.com/images/guidelines/documents/ Development-ESCP-Guideline-Haemorrhoidal-Disease.pdf). We outline the steps taken to recreate the guideline development process with the aim of developing an ESCP guideeline for anal fisutla.

#### A.1. | Why is there a need for a new guideline in anal fistula?

The primary aim was to develop recommendations according to a transparent and robust process. The existing guidelines for cryptoglandular anal fistula were not developed using the AGREE-S toolkit [145]. Moreover, the existing guidelines are limited by geographical representation and do not consider differences in regional practice

4631318, 2024. 1, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/codi.16741 by CAPES, Wiley Online Library on [30/04/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/term

conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA article:

are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

and availability of resources. This guideline has been primarily developed with the ESCP membership in mind.

#### A.2. | What challenges were anticipated in the development of anal fistula guidelines?

At the outset it was clear to the oversight committee that there would be challenges in the guideline development process for anal fistula.

There are a vast range of possible surgical interventions for the management of complex anal fistula in secondary care. Ideally, recommendations should be made using high-level, good-quality evidence. As there are limited numbers of good-quality randomized trials in the surgical management of anal fistula because of the heterogenous presentation of anal fistula with varying levels of anatomical complexity, many recommendations may need to be developed using expert consensus and low-level evidence. As recommendations would be reliant on the clinical experience of managing anal fistula in secondary care using a vast range of interventions, the oversight committee ensured that the GDG comprised members with an academic interest and clinical experience of managing complex anal fistula in secondary care.

#### A.3. | Setting the scope

#### A.3.1. | Target population

The guideline addresses the clinical management of perianal abscess and cryptoglandular anal fistula in adult patients presenting to secondary care. The guideline does not include recommendations for ileoanal pouch fistula, rectovaginal fistula or Crohn's perianal fistula.

#### A.3.2. | Target audience

The guideline was developed for use by secondary care practitioners involved in the management of anal fistula, including general surgeons, coloproctologists and radiologists. Patients interested in the clinical evidence for the diagnosis and management of anal fistula in secondary care may find this guideline useful.

#### A.3.3. | Compilation of the GDG

Applications to the GDG were encouraged from the current ESCP membership. The GDG was selected to ensure a broad geographical representation of its members. Surgeons were required to demonstrate extensive surgical experience of managing anal fistula and involvement in clinical research of anal fistula. The radiologist selected for inclusion in the GDG demonstrated extensive clinical experience in anal fistula radiology and has an academic interest in anal fistula.

The final GDG group represented 10 countries (The Netherlands, United Kingdom, Italy, Egypt, Turkey, Belgium, Denmark, Austria, Spain, and Germany), eight of which were in Europe. There were 21 colorectal surgeons with concurrent practice in general surgery, three colorectal clinical research fellows (PhD candidates in perianal

fistula), one radiologist with a subspecialist interest in anal fistula radiology and one methodologist (Table A1). A team of methodologists (Kleijnen Systematic Reviews Ltd) advised and guided the development process.

The oversight committee (D.Z., P.T., K.G., S.B., L.R. and J.K.) was responsible for managing the study design, scope of the guideline and conducting GRADE (Grading of Recommendations Assessments, Development and Evaluation) and ROBIS (Risk Of Bias In Sytematic reviews) assessments of the evidence selected by the GDG members (G.L., H.E., E.A., J.S., A.N.C., F.A., M.S., M.M., G.B., F.L., S.L., R.J.R., U.G., G.G., P.C.A., E.O., B.G., P.L., C.S. and N.I.). Lillian Reza is a PhD candidate with no affiliations to industry and has no conflict of interest; she led the final literature search, data extraction and grading of the evidence. Jos Kleijnen performed the ROBIS assessment and reviewed the grading of the evidence.

#### A.4. | Formulating review questions

The GDG submitted 250 questions with themes for review. The questions were categorized as being of high, moderate or low value based on their frequency of submission by the oversight committee. High- and intermediate-value questions were those that were submitted by a large proportion of the GDG. Low-value questions usually addressed themes that were beyond the scope set for this guideline.

The preliminary list of questions submitted by the GDG enabled the group to understand the pertinent clinical themes that require recommendations or a statement. The oversight committee categorized the questions under broad themes.

- Diagnosis, classification and preoperative investigations
  - Perianal abscess and anal fistula
  - Diagnosis of anal fistula
  - Perioperative care
- Partial sphincter-preserving procedures
  - Fistulotomy
  - Fistulectomy and immediate sphincter repair
  - Cutting seton
- Sphincter-preserving procedures
  - Bridging/draining seton
  - Advancement flap
  - Ligation of intersphincteric tract
  - Video-assisted anal fistula treatment
  - Laser ablation of fistula tract
  - Fistula plug
  - Over-the-scope clip
  - Platelet rich plasma
  - Collagen matrix
  - Suture repair of internal opening
  - Rerouting
- Special considerations
  - · Palliative seton
  - Defunctioning colo- or enterostomy



Name

David Zimmerman Phil Tozer Kevin Gottgens Lillian Reza Jos Kleijnen Stephanie Breukink Giorgio Lisi Hossam Elfeki Erman Aytac Jasper Stijns

Andreas Nordholm-Carst

Rosa Jimenez-Rodriguez

Felix Aigner Mostafa Shalaby Monica Millan Gabriele Bislenghi Francesco Litta Sezai Leventoglu

Ugo Grossi

Gaetano Gallo

Peter C. Ambe

Ersin Ozturk

Baris Gulcu

Philip Lung

Nusrat Iqbal

Charlene Sackitey

#### TABLE A1 Guideline development group

Coloproctol	2011 A		
evelop	ment group.		
	Profession	Country	Function
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	The Netherlands	Oversight committee
	Colorectal surgeon	United Kingdom	Oversight committee
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	The Netherlands	Oversight committee
	Clinical research fellow	United Kingdom	Oversight committee
	Methodologist	UK/The Netherlands	Oversight committee
	Colorectal surgeon	The Netherlands	Oversight committee
	Colorectal surgeon	Italy	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon	Egypt	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	Turkey	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	Belgium	GDG member
ensen	Colorectal surgeon	Denmark	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	Austria	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon	Egypt	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	Spain	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	Belgium	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon	Italy	GDG member
	Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)	Turkey	GDG member

Spain

Italy

Italv

Germany

Turkey

Turkey

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

United Kingdom

The population, intervention, comparator and outcome (PICO) framework was then used to formulate the review questions for use in literature search and possible subgroups for each PICO were explored.

Colorectal surgeon

Colorectal surgeon

Colorectal surgeon

Clinical research fellow

Clinical research fellow

Radiologist

Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)

Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)

Colorectal surgeon (EBSQ-certified)

(EBSQ-certified)

The draft PICO questions were reviewed by all members of the GDG, who had the opportunity to suggest changes by email. A GDG virtual meeting was used to discuss the final questions for inclusion. The PICO questions within the components and the complete search strategy have been included in the Appendix. An example of a PICO question and its components are as follows:

Population	Adult patients with a perianal abscess and cryptoglandular anal fistula
Intervention	Immediate fistulotomy/fistulectomy/repair of anal fistula and drainage of perianal abscess
Comparator	Drainage of perianal abscess
Outcome	Recurrence/persistence of fistula/repeat surgery, incontinence

#### A.5. | Establishing outcomes for extraction

The core set of outcomes produced by the Anal Fistula Core Outcome Set (AFCOS) study [146] were used in selecting outcomes for inclusion in guideline development. The AFCOS study, led by Nusrat Iqbal (a PhD candidate), generated a core set of outcomes that should be reported in all interventional studies pertaining to cryptoglandular anal fistula. These outcomes were generated using a systematic review, qualitative patient interviews and a Delphi process according to COMET (Core Outome measures in Effectivenes Trials) guidance [147]. This list of outcomes was presented to the GDG at a virtual meeting to stimulate discussion. The GDG also had the opportunity to add to the list of outcomes that should be extracted from each PICO. The GDG discussed outcomes that were frequently reported in clinical studies and used in clinical decision making. Critical outcomes were those that were necessary to assess the efficacy of an intervention and were also relevant to patients. The AFCOS study helped to ensure that the GDG prioritized outcomes that were relevant to patients. The long list of outcomes was ratified and prioritized on a Likert scale.

GDG member

The GDG selected fistula healing and incontinence as critical outcomes and pain as an important outcome based on a balance of patient priority (from AFCOS, which was patient driven and centred) and utility. Existing interventional fistula studies use these outcomes frequently and they are therefore useful for comparing efficacy of treatment (overall fistula healing, recurrence/persistence, fistula development) and risk of harm (change in continence, minor incontinence, major incontinence) across studies. Variations in definitions of outcome reporting were discussed for each critical outcome and these are listed below. Studies that did not report predefined outcomes were not included for review. Figure A1 demonstrates the list of outcomes discussed at the GDG virtual meeting and how these were rated on a Likert scale for decision making. Where available, quality-of-life measures were described in each section as these are relevant to patients.

#### A.6. | Definitions for outcomes

#### 1. Fistula healing

Fistula healing, closure, recurrence, persistence, overall healing, fistula development, need for repeat surgery for fistula, time to wound healing.

#### 2. Incontinence

Change in continence, minor or major incontinence, Wexner scale, Vaizey incontinence score.

#### 3. Pain

#### Discomfort, pain scores (Table A2).

#### A.7. | Conducting a search for the evidence and statistical analysis

The GDG anticipated challenges in meta-analysis of outcomes as they were aware of the significant heterogeneity in reporting outcomes in anal fistula management. Heterogeneity also arises from



FIGURE A1 Likert scale used to prioritize outcomes.

#### TABLE A2 Long list of outcomes described by GDG members.

Overall fistula healing Clinical healing Radiological healing
Failure Failure of fistula healing Fistula persistence Recurrence
Incontinence (minor/major/change)
Symptoms of anal fistula Pain Discharge
Quality of life
Follow up Consider length of follow-up where \1-year follow-up data would be ideal
Ability to perform activities of daily living
Patient satisfaction
Complications/adverse effects
Reoperations
Cost analysis
Duration of hospital stay
Duration of operation time
Use of a stoma

variations in anal fistula anatomy, fistula complexity and the association of fistula with the sphincters. Published data in anal fistula are mainly retrospective observational studies that are prone to selection bias and reporting bias. Therefore, meta-analysis of observational studies may not always be possible or appropriate, and when conducted should be viewed with caution. The GDG set out to report recommendations for simple and complex anal fistula separately where evidence allowed.

The GDG members formed eight teams and were allocated specific PICO questions to review. Literature searches were developed with the methodologist and evidence was extracted, according to inclusion criteria, by each team (PICO and search strategy in Appendix). A literature search was performed of MEDLINE (Ovid), Embase (Ovid), the KSR evidence database and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. The first searches were performed between January 1980-August 2021 and January 1980-October 2021. The most recent search was conducted in October 2022 for studies published since the first search between October 2021-October 2022.

The highest level of evidence available was included to answer each PICO question. The highest levels of evidence were systematic reviews and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials (RCTs). The most recent systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs were included and updated where necessary. In the presence of a new RCT, published since the publication of a systematic review, or if an RCT was not included in the original review but met the criteria for inclusion, a new meta-analysis of RCT evidence was conducted using Review Manager 5.4.1.

193



Data were analysed in Review Manager 5.4.1 using risk ratio with fixed effects and a 95% Cl. Interstudy heterogeneity was also presented using  $l^2$  statistic. Forest plots were used to present the data.

In the presence of RCT evidence, no lower-level evidence was included. In the absence of randomized controlled studies, the most recent meta-analysis of observational studies was included. The GDG did not consider any benefit to updating the meta-analysis of systematic reviews of observational studies as GRADE assessment would classify this type of evidence as low grade. An updated metaanalysis would not increase the certainty in the evidence or the strength of the recommendation. Single observational studies were utilized with caution as these are prone to considerable bias.

Characteristics of studies included for review:

- 1. Systematic review and meta-analysis of RCTs
- 2. RCTs
- 3. Systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies
- 4. Observational studies
- 5. Case series with more than five participants
- 6. Existing guidelines

Broad inclusion and exclusion criteria for the evidence are listed below:

Inclusion criteria

- Idiopathic/cryptoglandular anal fistula
- Adult patients
- Critical or important outcomes

#### Exclusion criteria

- Predominantly Crohn's disease-related fistula
- Pouch, anovaginal or rectovaginal fistula

#### A.8. | Developing recommendations

GRADE assessments of quality were conducted of the highest level of available evidence for each outcome in a PICO question by two members (L.R. and K.G.), using the principal categories for GRADE (study design, risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision and publication bias). These assessments were further reviewed by the methodologist to ensure consistency. GRADE assessments were conducted using the GRADEpro web application. GRADE was performed on each study (randomized or observational) included in data extraction for an outcome.

The main considerations were confidence in estimates of effect and the level of certainty. The GDG assessed the size of the effect and level of certainty in the evidence of the risk of harm (incontinence) against the size of effect and level of certainty in the evidence of benefit (fistula healing). The strength of recommendation was determined by the lowest level of certainty for an outcome in the PICO question.

ROBIS assessments were performed by the methodologist (J.K.). The ROBIS tool was used to assess the risk of bias in systematic

REZA ET AL.

GRADE	Strength of recommendation
High ++++	'Must' or 'must not'
Moderate +++	'Should' or 'should not'
Low ++	'Could'
Very low +	'Can be considered'

**TABLE A3** Grade of evidence and strength of recommendation.

reviews. ROBIS assessments highlighted areas of concern within the systematic reviews. During the systematic search of the evidence, these meta-analyses were updated if randomized studies were found that had not been included in the original systematic review, either because they had been published since the review or had been missed from the original review. The randomized studies included in the systematic review were reviewed to assess whether they met the inclusion criteria and data were extracted for analysis and production of forest plots using Review Manager 5.4.1.

The GDG developed the recommendations using the highest level of available evidence, GRADE assessments and expert opinion. The wording used in the recommendations has been established in a previous guideline [4]. Table A3 outlines the GRADE of evidence and strength of recommendations. For each PICO question, the strength of the recommendation is based on the lowest GRADE achieved by a critical or important outcome. The GDG was able to upgrade or downgrade the available evidence, which has an impact on the strength of the final recommendation. Where the GDG has chosen to use expert opinion and clinical practice to affect the strength of the recommendation, this is explicitly stated.

The strength of the recommendations is limited by the availability of randomized trials in the management of anal fistula. Heterogeneity in fistula anatomy and complexity, as well as the challenges of recruiting large numbers of patients with similar features, have been barriers to conducting large-scale randomized trials in anal fistula [148]. Meta-analysis of RCTs is considered as high-level evidence, and previous guidance has striven to include these where possible [4]. This guideline has been developed with a similar intention, but the GDG were aware at the outset that evidence would largely consist of small series of observational studies and meta-analysis of cohort studies, as found in previous attempts to develop recommendations for anal fistula [58].

In the absence of high-level evidence and where it was unclear whether there is significant benefit of an intervention, the GDG opted to make no recommendation. For interventions with evidence demonstrating low confidence in estimates of effect and unclear harm in terms of risk of incontinence or pain to patient, the GDG chose to not recommend the intervention.

#### A.9. | Patient involvement in the guideline

The final draft recommendations have been reviewed by five patient representatives. These patients attended two virtual meetings to discuss the evidence and suggest amendments. Patient feedback has been incorporated into the guideline. A parallel chapter will be produced, with input from patient representatives, in which each procedure will be described with illustrations and lay language. Patients have also suggested a number of PICO questions that were not within the scope of this guideline but will be addressed in a separate chapter.

#### A.10. | Finalizing recommendations

The draft recommendations and evidence tables were emailed to all GDG members. Members reviewed these recommendations and made suggestions to the draft. These recommendations were discussed in four consecutive virtual meetings. Each recommendation was verbally discussed, and the final wording was confirmed once there was whole-group consensus at the virtual GDG meeting. The final draft recommendations were subsequently reviewed by all members of the GDG.

#### A.11. | Wording of recommendations

In previous ESCP guidelines, the wording used in Table A3 has been useful for creating a hierarchy, based on available evidence, for the management of conditions. It is very difficult to compare evidence for the management of anal fistula for use in developing a stepwise algorithm which includes a hierarchy for treatment modalities. The main limitations are the lack of high-quality randomized studies and the heterogenous nature of anal fistula. This reduces the generalizability of the data and does not lend to the production of recommendations for every clinical scenario. Surgical modalities need to be offered by assessing individual patients' expectations, sphincter function and willingness to accept the risks of impairment to their continence. For any one clinical scenario, there may be more than one surgical technique that 'should' or 'could' be used and these should be discussed with the patient by a clinician who has performed a detailed assessment of patients' expectations and sphincter function.

#### APPENDIX B

#### AGREE-S Reporting Checklist. Copyright: The GAP Consortium.

Title of guideline: ESCP cryptoglandular anal fistula guideline

Name of first author: \_Lillian Reza

Sponsoring organization (if applicable): \_\_\_\_European Society of Coloproctology\_\_\_\_

Section	Checklist item	1	Reported in: (page # or manuscript section)
Protocol	The guideline has been developed according to a protocol and the link to the protocol is provided.	Yes	Methodology document Lines 5-7. We have developed the guideline based on previously published protocol for ESCP guidelines. https://www.escp.eu.com/images/guidelines/documents/ Development-ESCP-Guideline-Haemorrhoidal-Disease.pdf
Objective	The overall objective(s) of the guideline is (are) specifically described.	Yes	Methodology document Line 12
Health question(s)	The health question(s) covered by the guideline (patient, interventions/procedures, outcomes) are specifically described.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 18 Patient/population, intervention, comparison and outcomes (PICO) and Search strategy: Includes all the PICO questions and search terms
Methodological support	The guideline reports on whether it was supported by a guideline development committee, including a guideline methodologist.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 47, Line 59
Stakeholder involvement	Representation of professional groups and patients included in the guideline development group is reported.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 281
Target users	The target users of the guideline are specifically described.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 41
Systematic review	The methods that were used to search for evidence are clearly described.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 180
Selection criteria	The criteria for selecting the evidence are clearly described.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 207 and Line 216
Strengths/limitations of evidence	The strengths and limitations of the body of evidence are clearly described.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 264
Patient/public input	The views and preferences of the target population (patients, public, etc.) are reported.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 122, Line 279



\_



Section	Checklist item	1	Reported in: (page # or manuscript section)
Formulation of recommendations	The methods for formulating the recommendations are clearly described.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 251
Link between evidence and recommendations	The health benefits, side effects and risks have been considered in formulating the recommendations.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 235
Link between evidence and recommendations	The link between the recommendations and the supporting evidence is explicitly reported.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 253
Clarity of recommendations	The recommendations are specific and unambiguous.	Yes	Methodology document: Line 260
Alternative options	The different options for management of the condition or health issue are clearly presented.	Yes	Figure 2: Proposed algorithm for treating a fistula with sphincter-preserving procedures
Identification of recommendations	Key recommendations are easily identifiable.	Yes	Section 1: Summary of recommendations
Resource considerations	The potential resource implications of applying the recommendations have been considered.	Yes	Section 13: Implementation
Practice variability	The guideline discusses potential variability in surgical expertise of those performing the interventions/procedures.	Yes	Section 13: Implementation
Role of funder	The role of the funding body is described.	Yes	Section 16: Role of funder
Conflicts of interest	Competing interests of guideline development group members are reported in detail.	Yes	Section 15: Conflict of interest
Facilitators and barriers	The guideline describes facilitators and barriers to its application.	Yes	Section 13: Implementation
Update	A procedure for updating the guideline is provided.	Yes	Section 14: Updating
Implementation	The guideline provides advice and/or tools on how the recommendations can be put into practice.	Yes	Section 13: Implementation
Monitoring	The guideline presents monitoring and/or auditing criteria.	Yes	Section 13: Implementation